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Report of the Directors

EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 30 June 2025 (the “Current Year”), together
with comparative figures for the period from 1 January 2023 to
30 June 2024 (the "Period 2024").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of other members of the Group
are set out in note 45 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Current Year (Period 2024: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business, particulars of important
events affecting the Group during the Current Year, and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business,
are set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section
of this report. A description of principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group is also set out in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis”section of this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group’s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected in its continuous efforts to promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and raises awareness
among its employees. The Group has also implemented green
office practices such as promoting the use of recycled papers
and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting
and electrical appliances.

The Group regularly reviews its environmental practices and
considers implementing further eco-friendly measures to
enhance the sustainability of its operation.

A detailed discussion of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance is contained in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” section of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Current Year, as far as the Group is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on
the business and operations of the Group.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 272
of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Group against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. Such provisions were in force during the course of
the Current Year and remained in force as of the date of this
directors’ report. There is appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the
Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” below and the section headed
“Convertible Bonds” of “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company,
or existed during the Current Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the Current Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Current Year, the largest customer accounted for
approximately 33.7% (Period 2024: approximately 30.0%) of
the Group’s total revenues. The five largest customers accounted
for approximately 96.1% (Period 2024: approximately 89.9%) of
the Group's total revenues for the Current Year.

For the Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering Business,
the customer base is relatively concentrated to certain
departments of the Government, public utilities companies and
private organisations in Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors) own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

The Group’s five largest suppliers together accounted for
approximately 64.7% (Period 2024: approximately 59.5%) of
the Group’s total cost of sales charged to the Group for the
Current Year. The largest supplier accounted for approximately
45.3% (Period 2024: approximately 22.1%) of the total cost of
sales charged to the Group for the Current Year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Director) own more than 5% of the Group’s total number
of issued shares) had any interests in the Group’s five largest
suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Current Year are set out in note 15 in
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Particulars of loans and borrowings of the Group at the balance
sheet date are set out in note 27 in Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND PROMISSORY NOTES

Details of movements in the Company’s convertible bonds and
the promissory notes during the Current Year are set out in
note 28 and note 29 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the Company’s share capital during the
Current Year are set out in note 31 in Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Current Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for distribution to
Shareholders as at 30 June 2025 (Period 2024: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations did not made by the Group during the
Current Year (Period 2024: Nil).
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares to existing
Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

TAX RELIEF

The Group is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Current Year and as at
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhong Guoxing (Co-Chairman)
(redesignated on 4 June 2025)

Mr. Di Ling (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lu Xiangyong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yonglan (Co-Chairman)
(appointed on 4 June 2025)

Mr. Geng Zhiyuan (Honourable Chairman)
(appointed on 25 November 2024)
(Mr. Wang Guangzu as his alternate)
(appointed on 23 January 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Anyuan (resigned on 23 January 2025)
Mr. Wang Jiasi

Ms. Lan Haiqing (resigned on 27 December 2024)
Ms. Qiao Yanlin (appointed on 27 December 2024)
Mr. Cao Ming (appointed on 23 January 2025)
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles, Mr. Di Ling will
retire from the office of Director by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Chen
Yonglan, Mr. Geng Zhiyuan, Ms. Qiao Yanlin and Mr. Cao Ming,
shall only hold office until the Annual General Meeting and,
being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the Annual
General Meeting.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considered all the Independent Non-executive Directors to be
independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP

Latest biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out in “Director and Senior
Management Biographies” section of this report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Board has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the Directors’ securities
transactions. The Group had made specific enquiry of all
Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code
for the Period under review, and they all have confirmed their
respective full compliance with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the Current Year.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERBETRAEZRG - HERHOK
BREIEZEERAR

RZZE-RFRNA=TH BERBRBEFEENE
SN EFZ MHE GG ([#ERAEMRE) 5352 %
ATREFZERMALE  SRBEETAVANE
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BRARRHEEAEBERE (E&RES L EK
BISEXVER) Z Bt ~ HERER L) RIRHEE 2 sk R R
s

Long position iy
Percentage
Number of Number of of interest in
ordinary underlying the Company
Name of directors Note Nature of interest Shares held Shares held Total (Note a)
HARAF
iigcd=g] Fri%1ERE ERBEO
BEENR sk HERMUE BEE BRHER e (FtzEa)
Mr. Geng Zhiyuan Beneficial owner 22,000,000 - 22,000,000 3.42%
B ERSTAE E=lA A
Note: B3 -
(a) Calculation of percentage of interest in the Company is based on the issued  (a) EARAAERADEDBRBERATR_Z_RFA=TH
share capital of 642,960,000 Shares as at 30 June 2025. H) B 31T I% 48 642,960,000 f 5T & ©
Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, none of the KBEXFIEEZEEIN RZZE-_HAFA=+H E=F

Directors or the chief executives of the Company had registered
an interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

HARBEBTRABBRBEELN AR SLELM
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” and the share options granted under
the share option scheme disclosed in note 32 in Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, at no time during the Current
Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisitions
of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Director to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director (including any person who at any time during the
Current Year was a Director) nor a connected entity of a director
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Current Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Current Year, neither the Company or any of its
subsidiaries had entered into any contract of significance with
the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor had
any contract of significance been entered into for the services
provided by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Current Year, no Director was interested in any
business apart from the Group’s business, which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
business which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules.
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Report of the Directors
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2025, the following persons, other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company, had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which are required to be recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

FERRARDREBERMD T HER

RZZBZRFRA=+H TIAL(EFHERF
TTBRABBRINRARB Z B M REBRDPHEER
TRARBRIEZH R EPIEIB6HEMFEZE

S R AR

Long Position #a
Percentage of
Number of Number of interest in the
Name of Nature of ordinary underlying Company
shareholders Notes interest shares held shares held Total (Note e)
ERADT
LR Fri51EE8 EZE2H
EEnA M REEME REE RAEE By (MizEe)
Quick Tycoon Limited (a) Beneficial owner 89,470,000 44,500,000 133,970,000 19.43%
BKERAE EnEEA
China Eco Fund (a) Beneficial owner 40,000,000 - 40,000,000 5.80%
Investment Limited BB A
FEEREERERES
BRAF
Mr. Sha Tao (@) Interest in a controlled 129,470,000 44,500,000 173,970,000 25.23%
DEBRE corporation
REEEEER
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna  (b) Interest of spouse 129,470,000 44,500,000 173,970,000 25.23%
R L+ fliB s
Legit Aiming Limited () Beneficial owner 70,000,000 - 70,000,000 10.15%
EnEAA
Youth Force Asia Ltd. (d) Beneficial owner 51,700,000 - 51,700,000 7.50%
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Notes:

(a) 89,470,000 Shares and 44,500,000 underlying Shares relating to
Convertible Bonds are held by Quick Tycoon Limited, which is wholly owned
by China Eco Investment Limited, a company which is wholly owned by
Mr. Sha Tao (“Mr. Sha”). 40,000,000 Shares are held by China Eco Fund
Investment Limited, which is also wholly owned by China Eco Investment
Limited.

(b) Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna is the spouse of Mr. Sha.

(e} Legit Aiming Limited is owned by Mr. Hai Shixun and Mr. Gao Rihui as to
respective 51% and 49%.

(d) Youth Force Asia Ltd. is wholly owned by Mr. Jiang Jianhui.

(e) Calculation of percentage of interest in the Company is based on the issued
share capital of 642,960,000 Shares as at 30 June 2025, and, if including
the underlying Shares relating to Convertible Bonds, 689,460,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above and in the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, as at 30 June 2025,
no other person had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which were required to
be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Group held on 24
March 2016, the Shareholders approved the adoption of the
share option scheme of the Group (the “Scheme”). The relevant
listing approval was granted by the Stock Exchange on 29 March
2016. A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme are as
follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

Participants

The eligible participant(s) of the Scheme is/are full time or part
time employees of the Group (including any directors, whether
executive or non-executive and whether independent or not,
of the Group); and any business or joint venture partners,
contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including
any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including
any sub-tenants) of the Group or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the total number of
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at the date when the
Scheme was approved by the shareholders of the Company in a
general meeting, which is a total of 20,000,000 ordinary shares
available for issue under the Scheme. The total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 20,000,000 Shares,
representing approximately 3.11% of the issued Shares at the
date of this report.

There was no options available for grant under the scheme
mandate as at 1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025.

There is no service provider sublimit under the Scheme as at as
at 1July 2024 and as at 30 June 2025.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Option period

The option period of the Scheme, in respect of any particular
option, is the Period to be determined and notified by the
Directors to the grantee thereof at the time of making an offer
provided that such period shall not exceed the Period of ten (10)
years from the date of the grant of the particular option but
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof contained
herein.

There is no specified minimum period under the Scheme for
which an option must be held or the performance target which
must be achieved before an option can be exercised under the
terms of the Scheme.

Acceptance of offer

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of the offer of the share options.
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Exercise price

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but should not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet on the date
of grant of share options; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the shares of the Company as stated on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the
date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 29 March 2016 to offer the grant of an option
to any eligible participant. The Scheme will expire on 28 March
2026.

New Requirement

In view of the new requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023, any option shall
only be granted in accordance with such new requirements.

Movements of Share Options

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company and
details of movements in the share options are set out in note 32
in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

TRANSACTIONS WITH CONNECTED AND/OR
RELATED PARTIES

Save for the related party transaction as disclosed in note 39(b)
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the
related party transactions during the Year as disclosed in note
39 to or elsewhere in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” nor “continuing connected transactions” (as the
case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors
confirm that the Company has, where applicable, complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS AND COMPOSITION
BOARD COMMITTEES

The appointment of Mr. Geng Zhiyuan as an Non-executive
Director (“NED"), Honourable Chairman and the member
of nomination committee on 25 November 2024 and the
retirement of Mr. Zhong Guoxing as the Chairman of nomination
committee on 25 November 2024.

The resignation of Ms. Lan Haiging as an Independent Non-
executive Director (“INED"), the member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
on 27 December 2024. The appointment of Ms. Qiao Yanlin
as an INED, the member of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee on 27
December 2024.

The resignation of Mr. Wang Anyuan as an INED, the chairman
of the audit committee and the member of each of the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee on 23
January 2025. The appointment of Mr. Cao Ming as an INED,
the chairman of the audit committee and the member of each
of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
on 23 January 2025. Mr. Wang Guangzu as an alternate of Mr.
Geng Zhiyuan on 23 January 2025.

The appointment of Mr. Chen Yonglan as an NED and Co-
Chairman on 4 June 2025. The re-designation of Mr. Zhong
Guoxing as a Co-Chairman on 4 June 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the
Current Year.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
minimum public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2021, 31 December 2022, 30 June 2025 and the
Period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024 have been audited
by Prism Hong Kong Limited (“Prism”).

Prism shall retire in the Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Prism as auditor of the Group will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at 30 June 2025, the Group did not have any significant
investment or capital assets.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2025, the Group did not have any pledge of assets
(as at 30 June 2024: Nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any future plans for other material
investments or capital assets.

APPRECIATION

The Board, would like to take this opportunity to express our
sincere gratitude and appreciation to our management team
and staff for their dedication commitment, as well as all of
our customers, suppliers, shareholders business partners and
associates for their support and encouragement to the Group.

On behalf of the Board
China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited

Mr. Zhong Guoxing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmR DT

The Group is principally engaged in (i) global carbon neutral
business, focusing on trading of carbon-credit assets, carbon
credit and carbon asset development, management and
investment in carbon neutral related fields and carbon consulting
and carbon planning; and the carbon negative business
including industrial carbon negative with core of development
of carbon capture, CCUS and natural carbon negative focusing
on forest and crop optimisation; (ii) ecological governance and
civil engineering business — civil engineering works, ecological
governance and maintenance works; (iii) green credit digital
technology business — providing ESG analysis reports and
assisting in obtaining green financing; and (iv) battery cascading
utilisation business acquisition of waste materials from power
batteries, while developing the cascade utilisation of retired
batteries from new energy public buses.

In the future, the Group decides to form an integrated business
of photovoltaic, charging, storage, operation and management
to innovate and develop a distributed photovoltaic business
model in terms of new energy and actively engaging in the
graded utilization and related business of waste batteries
through Henan Zailiang New Energy Renewable Company
Limited, which has been selected into the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology’s white list for comprehensive
utilization of waste batteries, and developing an online and
offline integrated platform for new energy battery utilization
empowered by blockchain and artificial intelligence technology
through Xunli.com data technology, embracing the digital era
and advanced digital technology.

For the Current Year, the Group recorded a consolidated revenue
of approximately HK$579.4 million (Period 2024: approximately
HK$959.1 million), representing a decrease of approximately
39.6%, or HK$379.7 million, mainly due to the decrease in
revenue of approximately HK$291.8 million from green credit
digital technology business and approximately HK$100.6 million
of ecological governance and civil engineering business being
less than pro rata 50% increase in length terms during the
Current Year. As a result of the decrease in the revenue during
the Current Year, the gross profit of the Group for the Current
Year amounted to approximately HK$39.5 million (Period 2024:
approximately HK$49.9 million), representing a decrease of
approximately HK$10.4 million or 20.9% as compared to Period
2024, being less than pro rata 50% increase in length terms.

The administrative and selling expenses of the Group for the
Current Year was approximately HK$75.1 million (Period 2024:
approximately HK$102.3 million), representing a decrease of
approximately HK$27.1 million or 26.5% as compared to Period
2024, being less than pro rata 50% increase in length terms
mainly as a result of the Group exercised a tight control on
operation costs.

AREBEZERFODHBPMEL - ZENREARE
EXS WEAMREEME  BEMEENIRF M
AL - LWRIRARFEEI IR B ¥R - 815N
CCUSER AZLDMIEEAN  REITRAMMEY
BB AEH  (VERAEBEREARTIESIH - K
TREBRFEEAENEFEERMRELRE (&
BEEFRBRELD B IREESGAITHRE LB EE
SERME RivVVEBBAFBES S - WES
TEER - FIRFE R AEREE M A -

R REBREENERT BRI - 7 - &
2 BE-BLEBAFHRIMACREERA KL
MAAEEHEREERRARNARIEMNEE
BUREMNBRRERGHREREESMBRANBAM
HEAES  MAMARRBEMA TS SRMAZESE
MEURRIEEEMER BN AR LR T BT A
BRBFRRERBFR

HEAFE  AEBHSEABRALNS74EET (=
TP EARD - 499.591 18 L) 0 T #)39.6% X
3797188 TEHRGEBRTRMES ZK/AT
BT 42918 BB R EREREN T ARTIREK 2 I
ATHET #1.006(887T » DRIREEL B H150% o
ARAFEARABAR D  REBRAFERNHEFL
A3,9508 8 T (T — M HIR : 494,990&8 % 7T) -
BT HIRM N4 1,0408 8 7T8209% - DR
LHALL 5112 AN 50% o

AEBRAFEMNTHRREEERLAE75108 %
T (ZZ —HHEIR - 491.02318%87L) R-_ZF — U
RN 42,7108 78 7080 26.5% @ D5 1% B Eb 1 15 A0
50% * F E 2 AN ANE B EASIE H] & B A ARFTEL -

FEBFNEREEERAT / Fk 2025 17



Management Discussion and Analysis
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The finance costs of the Group for the Current Year was
approximately HK$29.2 million (Period 2024: approximately
HK$72.6 million), representing a decrease of approximately
HK$43.4 million or 59.8% as compared to Period 2024 mainly
due to the decrease in interest on promissory notes and imputed
interest on convertible bonds during the Current Year.

The Group recorded a loss for the Current Year of approximately
HK$10.3 million (Period 2024: approximately HK$137.3
million), representing a decrease by approximately HK$127.1
million, or 92.5% as compared to Period 2024. This was mainly
attributable to: (i) the increase in fair value change on carbon-
credit assets of approximately HK$49.3 million for the Current
Year; (ii) the decrease in research and development costs of
approximately HK$12.0 million for the Current Year; and (iii)
decrease in administrative and selling expenses and finance costs
of approximately HK$27.1 million and approximately HK$43.4
million respectively as above-mentioned.

During the Current Year, the Group was mainly engaged in the
following activities:

(i) Global Carbon Neutral Business Segment

The Group launched the Global Carbon Neutral Business
Segment at the beginning of 2021. It established a unique
market position for the carbon neutral related operations,
primarily focusing on carbon-credit asset development,
operation and management, investment, carbon
consulting and carbon neutral planning. Through actively
deploying negative carbon emissions as basic industry,
the Group achieved a unique carbon-neutral collaborative
development approach that combines new asset
development and management with industry, creating a
sustainable and high-return business model.

During the Reporting Period, the Group successfully
developed: (1) the first manure intensive treatment project
in China registered on the Verified Carbon Standard
(VCS) platform in Huoqiu County, reducing 76,000
tCO,e annually, with a total reduction of 760,000 tCO,e
over a ten-year period; (2) the waste incineration power
generation project in Yingkou registered successfully
on the VCS platform, achieving an annual reduction of
245,000 tCO,e; (3) the Jiyuan Weiheng Cow Breeding
Farm Biogas Recovery and Utilization Project in Henan
registered successfully on the VCS platform, reducing
37,500 tCO,e annually, with a reduction of 265,000 tCO,e
over the first seven-year period.
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(i)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Negative
Business

As for carbon negative business, the Group’s industry
carbon negative business segment focuses on the
development and application of negative carbon
technology, including CCUS technology. The natural
carbon negative business segment redefines forestry and
agriculture, conducting carbon sink consulting and trading
through investment in afforestation and cooperative
development of forest carbon sinks to achieve long-term
sustainable green investment. The Group’s mission is to
reduce China’s 2% carbon dioxide emissions, aiming
to achieve negative carbon emissions of 100 million
tonnes through nature-based solutions and technology-
based solutions. The forest generated by afforestation
investment will absorb 100 million tonnes of carbon
dioxide. Meanwhile, the development of the CCUS project
will reduce 100 million tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions.
Through these efforts, the Group can sustainably fulfil its
corporate social responsibility.

Development of Carbon Neutral Digital
Technology

The Group had acquired 73% equity interest in China
Carbon Green Credit Technology (Shenzhen) Company
Limited. To empower various industries to achieve carbon-
neutral development efficiently and economically, the
Group upgraded the infrastructure already built by the
company into an one-stop green finance trusted data
service network (“Green Credit Chain”), and based on
the Green Credit Chain, created a credible, accurate,
and secure carbon peak and carbon neutrality (“Dual
Carbon”) digital and control platform (“Dual Carbon
Digital Management and Control Platform”).
The Group provided dual carbon digital solutions to
eliminate information barriers between industries, and
between industries and the financial system, in order to
promote cross-industry cooperation. It will support inter-
organisational collaboration among enterprises, starting
from value consensus to promote value maximisation
and efficiency improvement. Additionally, the Group
will continuously upgrade Climatestore.cn, Green Gold
Enterprise Benefits, and the Dual Carbon Management
Platform to embrace the digital era.

(i)
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(iii)

20

East Easy Electricity New Energy Group, a subsidiary of
the conglomerate, actively responds to the national green
development strategy by innovatively launching the “Urban
Smart Energy Storage and Swap Microgrid” service model.
It has established a closed-loop system spanning lithium
battery supply, swapping, and recycling for reuse. Oriental
E-Power pioneered the integration of the DeepSeek
large language model (LLM) with microgrid and virtual
power plant platforms, enhancing energy management,
forecasting, and optimization capabilities. This initiative
not only addresses safety hazards associated with electric
bicycles, charging security, and the recycling of retired
lithium batteries, but also enhances the convenience and
safety of urban mobility and charging. It sets a benchmark
for green urban transportation, strengthens the resilience
of city energy systems, drives urban energy transformation,
and contributes to achieving carbon neutrality goals.
Currently, Dongfang Yidian operates over 20,000 battery
swap cabinets across 90 cities nationwide, managing more
than 650,000 batteries and facilitating over 50 million
battery swaps.

Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering
Business

During the Current Year, the Ecological Governance and
Civil Engineering Business managed to record a stable
performance despite the grave challenges from the
COVID-19 outbreak and the economic downslope in Hong
Kong since early 2020.

In the course of project contracting, the Group also
attached great importance to the protection of famous
and ancient trees and biodiversity, and was committed to
protecting the environment and promoting sustainable
development while building social development. Besides,
we focused on the principle of sustainable construction
and had good record in the implementation of green
building projects. Our environmental management system
had been certified under I1SO 14001. Under its strict
framework, we took a systematic approach to manage
our resource utilization efficiency and emission control to
advance continuous upgrading. Particularly, we attached
great importance to the assessment of our environmental
data (such as energy and material utilisation, carbon
emissions, water consumption and waste generation), and
took various effective measures to reduce carbon emissions
continuously.

(iii)
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As a main contractor of the contracts awarded to the
Group, the Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering
Business offers high value-added services that encompass
works from the procurement of materials and equipment,
selection of sub-contractors to on-site supervision, work
progress monitoring and overall coordination of the day-
to-day work of projects. All of the Civil Engineering and
Construction Business’ contracts undertaken for both civil
and building construction business were for customers
which are independent third parties including certain
departments of the Government of the Hong Kong and
public utilities companies and private organizations in
Hong Kong.

For the Current Year, revenue generated from the
Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering Business
amounted to approximately HK$556.8 million (Period
2024: approximately HK$657.4 million). For the Current
Year, included in the turnover was: (i) revenue from civil
engineering works of approximately HK$248.8 million
(Period 2024: approximately HK$421.6 million); and (ii)
revenue from building construction and maintenance
works of approximately HK$308.0 million (Period 2024:
approximately HK$235.8 million). For the Current Year,
the gross profit of the Ecological Governance and Civil
Engineering Business amounted to approximately HK$34.2
million (Period 2024: approximately HK$45.0 million),
representing a gross profit margin of approximately 6.1%
(Period 2024: approximately 6.8%).

As of 30 June 2025, the Group had 11 significant projects
in progress, of which 2 were building construction and
maintenance projects while the remaining were civil
engineering construction projects.

As of 30 June 2025, the total contract sum and the total
outstanding values of the Group’s substantial projects in
progress amounted to approximately HK$300.0 million
and approximately HK$115.0 million respectively (30 June
2024 approximately HK$371.0 million and approximately
HK$49.0 million respectively).

Despite the tough operating environment in Hong Kong,
the Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering Business
maintained its competitive advantages, which are to
provide high- quality services of a wide scope and to
maintain a cordial client relationship, and the progress
in obtaining new contracts managed to record a stable
performance for the Current Year.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group has been awarded 3 new substantial contracts
for the Current Year, namely:

- Advance Civil Engineering Works for Public Housing
Development Projects Batch 13 (2023-2025)

- Civil Engineering Improvement Works at Wu King
Estate and Shui Pin Wai Estate

- Window Replacement at Wongnaichong Gap Station

In the future, the Group will devote more resources for the
below two business segments:

(i)

22

New Energy Business Segment

The Group has signed a strategic cooperation agreement
with Beijing Zhonghong Blue Ocean to jointly develop
carbon neutrality and new energy industry projects. This
includes establishing a “Dual Carbon Digital Management
and Control Platform” to provide digital management
services for carbon emissions and energy consumption;
advancing new energy vehicle charging infrastructure
and integrated photovoltaic-storage-charging projects,
constructing charging facilities and intelligent network
platforms; promoting the development of green new
energy transportation systems, accelerating the adoption
of new energy vehicles through replacement programs;
and advancing new energy battery recycling and secondary
utilization projects, establishing an intelligent power battery
recycling system to facilitate the green transformation of
the industrial chain.

The agreement signed between our Group and
Zhongnong Haidao stipulates that both parties will engage
in comprehensive strategic cooperation encompassing
ecological remediation of saline-alkali land, cultivation of
salt-tolerant crops, development of carbon sink assets,
and industrial demonstration and promotion. A phased
implementation plan has been drafted, with the initial
launch of a 1 million mu (a Chinese unit of area, 1 mu
equivalent to approximately 0.067 hectares) (approximately
67,000 hectares) planting project in China’s core saline-
alkali land improvement zones scheduled for 2025. The
medium-to-long-term plan envisions advancing integrated
utilization and carbon sink restoration projects on saline-
alkali land domestically and internationally, targeting a
total scale of 200 million mu (approximately 13.4 million
hectares). Regarding carbon neutrality talent development,
both parties will jointly advance the cultivation of
specialized carbon management professionals in the
agricultural sector. The Group will collaborate with
Zhongnong Haidao to support governments at all levels
and relevant enterprises in establishing scientific and
standardized carbon neutrality management teams,
empowering local green development and industrial
transformation.
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(ii) Renewable Energy Business (i) BERRRRER

The Group has completed the acquisition of a 60%
equity interest in Henan Zailiang New Energy Renewable
Company Limited (“Zailiang New Energy”). Zailiang
New Energy is an approved lithium battery recycling
white-listed enterprise by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of China, with one of the only
52 graded utilization licences nationwide. It possesses
core technologies in battery sorting assessment, cell
assembly balancing, operation maintenance and economic
evaluation. Its main business includes the graded
utilization, dismantling, recycling of lithium batteries for
new energy vehicles, as well as the disposal and recycling
of waste electrical and electronic products, and the sale of
used goods. Application scenarios include communication
base stations, highway charging stations, mobile charging
vehicle energy storage systems, mobile backup systems,
and home energy regulation systems. During the Reporting
Period: (1) the Group developed an integrated online and
offline platform called Xunli.com, which empowers the
recycling and reuse of new energy batteries with digital
technologies such as blockchain and artificial intelligence,
building a dual-engine lithium battery industry ecosystem
platform driven by technology and finance; (2) the
Group leverages Henan Zailiang'’s license and production
advantages to establish an upstream partnership with
China Tower and China Energy Conservation for recycling
and processing retired lithium batteries. Downstream, it
collaborates with leading listed companies in the battery
industry to supply raw materials for lithium battery
production, meeting their requirements for European
market access and forming an industrial B-ring.
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PROSPECTS

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has four reportable segments as
follows:

(1) Global Carbon Neutral Business

24

The Group's dual-carbon management platform integrates
carbon emission monitoring, reduction planning, and
resource allocation through an intelligent analytics
engine. By consolidating government, industrial park,
and enterprise resources across three tiers, it establishes
a data-driven carbon asset management system. This
empowers clients to achieve low-carbon transformation,
enhance operational efficiency, and advance sustainable
development goals. The Dual Carbon Digital Management
and Control Platform of Jiyuan City and the Carbon Peak
Development Implementation Plan Compilation Project
of Jiyuan City were tendered by the relevant departments
of Jiyuan City in last year, and the Group won the bid.
The above two businesses are very replicable. The first
step can be replicated in other cities in Henan and then
promoted nationwide. These two businesses mainly
involve professional technology and labour costs, which
can bring considerable returns to the Group. The Group
will strengthen its marketing efforts to achieve leapfrog
development in its business operations.

(i)  The Group possesses the strongest carbon asset
development and management team in the country.
In the future, the Group will continue to develop
customer resources based on past successful
experiences in registering manure, waste power
generation, and biogas recovery on the VCS
platform, such as increasing carbon asset sources
through cooperation with China Everbright Group,
Sinochem Group and relevant local governments.

(i) In view of the current inactive trading of carbon
assets, the Group plans to cooperate with relevant
institutions to try to securitize carbon assets to
achieve transactions and solve the sales of inventory
carbon assets.
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(2)

(3)

(4)

Digital Technology Business Segment

(i)  The Group and BRICS Capital Management Co., Ltd.
jointly established Global Carbon Asset Management
Co., Ltd. This fund is a global, impact-driven private
equity and venture capital fund focused on carbon
asset monetization and deep decarbonization, while
collaborating to achieve carbon asset tokenization.

(i) The Group has leveraged the upgraded Green Trust
Chain and Climate Store to establish an exchange in
Singapore, providing technological support for the
digital trading of carbon assets.

Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering
Business

For the Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering
Business, although the operating environment in Hong
Kong is expected to remain tough in the coming years
such as continuously rising wages and cost of construction
materials and shortage of skilled labors, the Company is
confident that the Group would be capable of securing
promising business opportunities given its vast experience
in handling a wide variety of construction works.

Battery Cascading Utilization Business

East Easy Electricity has innovatively launched the “Urban
Smart Energy Storage Battery Swapping Microgrid” service
model. This establishes a close B-ring system spanning
lithium battery supply, battery swapping, and recycling/
reuse. Currently, East Easy Electricity and its operators
manage over 20,000 battery swap cabinets across 90 cities
nationwide, handling more than 650,000 batteries with
over 50 million swap transactions.

Additionally, the company accelerates the adoption of
new energy transportation through vehicle replacement
programs. It also advances new energy battery recycling
and secondary utilization projects, establishing a smart
power battery recycling system to promote green
transformation across the industrial chain.

(2)

(3)

(4)
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The Board believes that the above businesses will bring
sustainable business growth and financial returns to the Group.

In the future, the Group will devote more resources to the two
segments below.

(1) New Energy Business Segment

26

The Group will fully leverage the established cooperative
relationship with Henan to deeply cultivate and thoroughly
develop the new energy business segment in Henan in the
future

(i)  Fully utilise the East Easy Electricity platform to
increase investment and operation management of
battery swapping cabinets, After implementation in
Zhengzhou, Jiyuan, and Luoyang, the initiative will
be scaled up through replication and expansion,
targeting food delivery riders, residents’ two-wheeled
electric vehicles and shared two-wheeled electric
vehicles.

(i) Various preferential policies have been introduced
by the country to promote consumption. Henan is
preparing to launch a business for exchanging old
electric two-wheelers for new ones. The Group has
participated in declarations in many regions and is
expected to obtain a larger market share.

By 2025, China’s retired power battery volume is projected
to reach 306 GWh (approximately 240,000 tons),
surging to 148 GWh (about 1,050,000 tons) by 2030.
This indicates a more than 20-fold increase in retired
battery volume over the next five years. Henan Zailiang
New Energy has established a business model addressing
recycling technology bottlenecks, building recovery
networks, and creating a closed-loop circular economy for
battery regeneration, positioning itself for extensive future
growth potential.
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(2) Digital Technology Business Segment

0}

(i)

Green Trust Chain Service Upgrade

Building upon a blockchain technology foundation,
we establish a one-stop trusted data service network
for green finance. Evolving beyond merely refining
industrial data into digital assets to achieve a closed-
loop digital finance connection, we now focus on
providing industries with trusted infrastructure
for real-asset and data-asset rights confirmation,
on-chain evidence storage, and cross-border
circulation. By constructing an end-to-end service
system encompassing “Data Assetization — Rights
Confirmation Standardization — Global Circulation,”
we empower dual-carbon enterprises to efficiently
connect with financial institutions. This enables
secure rights confirmation, cross-border flow of
green assets, and the achievement of sustainable
development goals.

Climate Store Service Upgrade

As a comprehensive platform for carbon asset
development, management, and trading, is
committed to helping clients reduce carbon
emissions, achieve energy conservation and
environmental protection goals, and actively drive
the global transition toward a zero-carbon future.
We provide carbon asset services — including
purchasing, transferring, and offsetting — for
corporate and individual users, facilitating global
carbon asset circulation. The upgraded platform
now offers carbon consulting services such as dual-
carbon planning, carbon emissions accounting,
carbon verification, carbon footprint assessment, and
EU carbon border adjustment mechanism (CBAM)
compliance. These services empower businesses to
effectively manage and optimize their carbon assets,
contributing to the realization of green economic
and sustainable development goals.

(2)

BFRREBRR

0]

(ii)

FERFANEEREEERAT / F3R 2025

BRIEHEREAR
ERERERNEEERE - UAKED
BAEBBEREES KBEXBER
RBEFEEERBFEROBEHAR
HRREINREFRHEREERY
BEEMAERE LRTFERBEER
BERRE BEBEIBBREE/{—E
EREEL—-RBR 2RI RS
Zo-BHEREESREEXSREE B
RReBEENL2EE BRAPEA
FEERBER -

RIREERBAR
REFERREERE BTHREXZE
BIRBFE  BAREBEPRE DB -
ERMERRERER R BREHE
BRATHAKNE - RALSEEME
ARPREMREERE - & HHFm
BERE (REMEENZRE - FE
FHRIRGIRTS BIRERAR S - BERE
WAZE - R - B AR B SR R
% HPEERREREMEIREE -
REAZKEKLBENAIHREEREZER
NE -

27



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENwmE D

28

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Dual Carbon Digital Management Platform
Project

The Dual Carbon Digital Management Platform
addresses core challenges faced by local
governments, industrial parks, and enterprises
in achieving dual carbon goals - including
policy coordination difficulties, fragmented data
management, and weak resource collaboration.
Comprehensively compatible with the 24
methodologies of China’s National Development
and Reform Commission, our proprietary platform
integrates government-park-enterprise ecosystem
resources through an intelligent analytics engine.
This enables seamless monitoring of carbon
emissions, planning of reduction strategies, and
allocation of resources across the entire value chain,
establishing a data-driven carbon asset management
system. We empower clients to achieve low-carbon
transformation, enhance operational efficiency, and
advance sustainable development goals.

Carbon Coins (CC) Launching Soon

CC is a token protocol based on real carbon credit
assets, an ERC-20 token on the Polygon public
chain. It aims to tokenize carbon credits, enabling
transparent trading and cancellation of carbon
offsets on the blockchain. Each CC represents 1 kg
of carbon credits and is linked to verified carbon
offset projects. It builds a transparent, trustworthy
carbon credit market, aspiring to become a global
leader in carbon asset trading. By integrating global
carbon exchanges, it creates an efficient, transparent
trading platform to promote the global circulation of
carbon assets.

Green Real-World Assets (“RWA") Exchange
Launches, Releases RWA Projects

Green Exchange is the world’s leading digital
trading platform for RWA. Built on the blockchain-
based “Green Trust Chain,” it generates on-chain
certificates for green assets — such as clean energy,
carbon credits, and environmental facilities — from
physical industries, converting them into tradable
digital tokens. Through three core capabilities —
value stability assurance, legal title verification, and
off-chain data verifiability — it achieves full lifecycle
management from “real assets on-chain — RWA
issuance — tradable financing commodities,”
unleashing new momentum for green finance.

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Current Year (Period 2024: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
LIQUIDITY AND GEARING

As at 30 June 2025, the net current assets and net assets of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$18.9 million and
HK$18.6 million respectively (as at 30 June 2024: net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$34.6 million and
HK$1.4 million respectively), representing a turn to assets and an
increase by approximately HK$53.4 million and HK$20.0 million
respectively as compared to the net current liabilities and net
liabilities as at 30 June 2024.

Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (interest-bearing
borrowings, liability component of convertible bonds and
promissory notes) less cash and bank balances divided by total
equity. As at 30 June 2025, the gearing ratio was approximately
619.0%. As at 30 June 2024, the gearing ratio was not
applicable as the Group’s net equity was both in a deficit
position.

CHANGE OF SHARE CAPITAL DURING THE
PERIOD

Subscription of new shares

On 4 December 2024, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with six placees (the “Subscriber”), in respect
of the Subscription of 107,160,000 Subscription Shares at
the Subscription Price of HK$0.22 per Share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the subscription agreement (the
“Subscription”).

On 2 April 2025, all conditions precedent to the Subscription
as set forth in the subscription agreements had been fulfilled.
Accordingly, the completion of the Subscription took place on
2 April 2025. The Company issued and allotted 107,160,000
Shares under the Subscription. The aggregate nominal value of
the subscription Shares was HK$23,575,200. The closing price
per Share was HK$0.305 as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
the date of the Subscription.

The gross proceeds of the Subscription was HK$23,575,200. The
net proceeds from the Subscription (after deducting all applicable
costs and expenses of the Subscriptions) was approximately
HK$23.6 million (the “Net Proceeds”) and the net price per
Share was HK$0.22.

As at 30 June 2025, the Company had fully utilised the net
proceeds for the repayment of the debts of the Group and
general working capital of the Company.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 30 June 2025, the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds was approximately HK$93.0 million. The
maximum number of Shares that will be issued upon conversion
of all the outstanding Convertible Bonds was 46,500,000 Shares.

Details of the movement of convertible bonds are set out in note
28 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROMISSORY NOTES

Up to 30 June 2025, the Company had fully repaid the
Second Note and partially redeemed the First Note, resulting
in the carrying amount of approximately HK$16.10 million
(as at 30 June 2024: approximately HK$16.10 million) which
was recognised as a non-current liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Details of the movements of promissory notes are set out in note
29 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s operations, financials and prospects are affected
by risks and uncertainties. The risk factors listed below may
directly or indirectly lead to significant differences in the Group’s
operating performances, financial positions and development
prospects from its expected or past performances. These factors
are not comprehensive, and there may be other risks and
uncertainties that are not known by the Group or may not be
noticeable at present, but may become significant in the future.

Business Risk

Performance of all business segments of the Group may be
affected by fluctuations in market prices and market demands
of the Group’s final products and services. On the other hand,
raw materials or outsourced services which are provided by the
Group’s suppliers are subject to price fluctuations. The Group
does not enter into any material contracts to hedge against such
price fluctuations. Therefore, any increases in these raw materials
or outsourced services will exert pressures on the Group’s
production costs, gross profits and final prices that the Group
in turn charges the customers. If the Group fails to adapt and
respond successfully to the changing demands and supplies, it
may adversely affect the business performance and development
prospects.
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Industry Risk

The Global Carbon Neutral Business is subject to certain industry
risks. The market for carbon credits can be volatile due to
changing supply and demand, as well as the regulatory changes
around carbon emissions and climate change. In addition, the
verification process for carbon credits can be complex due to
technical requirements for the certification under different
standards, which poses challenges to developing and procuring
supply of carbon credits. Meanwhile, the Group mitigates the
risks through investing in its professional team and leveraging its
experience in developing its Global Carbon Neutral Business.

In the blockchain-enabled dual-carbon economy as to the
digital technology business of Green Credit must cope with the
challenges of technological update and market competition.
China Carbon Green Credit Technology will strengthen
technology iteration and continuously improve product structure;
expand market sales capabilities, optimize market strategies,
improve compliance and risk control systems, strengthen
credit management, and actively expand markets to enhance
competitiveness. In the meantime, efforts will be made to
improve the implementation of carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality and the construction of expert teams to enhance
professional capabilities. Through these measures, China Carbon
Green Credit Technology will effectively respond to risks, achieve
the stable and sustainable development of dual-carbon business,
and promote the wide application of blockchain technology in
the dual-carbon economy.

Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering Business is operated
in industry which is highly competitive. Competition may
intensify as the Group’s competitors expand their product or
service, lower their prices, or increase their qualities. There may
be new competitors entering the Group’s existing markets as
well. If the Group does not compete successfully against existing
and new competitors, the Group may not be able to maintain its
existing business scale and operation performance.

Policy Risk

Some business segments of the Group must abide by various
policies and regulations. For example, the ecological governance
and civil engineering business is subject to compliance
requirements imposed by the Hong Kong government. The
regulators may require the Group to apply for new licenses,
and impose new rules, regulations or requirements. Changes
in policies and regulations will affect the development of the
Group’s business, such as increasing compliance costs and
reducing business opportunities.
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Credit Risk

All business segments of the Group allow a credit for their
customers’ payment. All trade and other receivables are
accounted by their carrying amounts less expected credit loss.
In the past, the Group has experienced significant delay in the
payment of the trade and other receivables, and therefore some
credit loss has been recognized in the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with the accounting standards. However,
the impaired amounts of the trade and other receivables do
not represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
Recoverability of such receivables depends on a lot of factors,
including the general economy, government policies, investor
confidences, and most importantly, the business performances
and financial positions of each debtor.

Liquidity Risks

As discussed before, the Group recorded net assets as at 30
June 2025, indicating that the Group improved its liquidity risk.
Despite that the Group has some measures to raise additional
working capital to finance its operation, there is always a risk
that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations as they fall
due.

ESG Risks

The Group places particular emphasis on several ESG risks. In
terms of the environment, the Group focuses on issues such
as climate change, energy efficiency, and waste management.
In terms of social factors, the Group is committed to social
investments, tenant engagement, and responsible supply chain
management. In terms of governance, the Group emphasizes
ethics and integrity, information privacy, risk and crisis
management, etc. This integrated strategy and operational
advantage can provide the group with additional support
in the current uncertain environment, seeking success and
development.

Other Risks

Some risks are not noticeable from the daily operations of the
Group, but they can have a material adverse impact on the Group.
For example, the harshening business environment from the U.S.-
China trade conflicts, the sharp decrease in Hong Kong economy
after the local political movements, and the COVID-19 outbreak.
These kinds of events may interrupt the Group's operations,
increase prices of raw material and outsourced services, and
deteriorate other risks and uncertainty that the Group are facing.
All such events are outside control of the Group and there is no
guarantee that the Group’s responsive measures are sufficient
to protect the Group’s interests. Given the complexity and
materiality of these events, the Group is of the view that their
impacts may take a longer time to fully emerge.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group had no material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended
30 June 2025.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Detail of the Group’s contingent liabilities are set out in note 38
in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in
HKD and RMB, which are the functional currencies of the Group.
Any fluctuation in the exchange rate of HKD against RMB may
have an impact on the Group’s results. The Group has not
entered into any instruments to reduce the impact of the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange
rate movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce the
exchange risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had 249 employees (as at 30
June 2024: 309) in Hong Kong and Mainland China. During
the Current Year, the total employee benefit of the Group were
approximately HK$84.5 million (Period 2024: approximately
HK$108.4 million). The Group's remuneration policy is reviewed
periodically and determined by reference to market terms,
company performance, and individual qualifications and
performance. Other staff benefits include bonuses awarded
on a discretionary basis, mandatory provident fund scheme for
Hong Kong employees, state-sponsored retirement plans for the
employees in Mainland China. Share options would be granted
to respective employees with outstanding performance and
contributions to the Group.

The Group provides or subsidies various training programs
and courses to its employees according to business needs, to
ensure that its employees are kept abreast of relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Listing Rules, accounting standards, risk
management knowledge, labour regulations and the employee’s
code of conduct.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any significant event after the Current
Year and up to the date of this report.
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Summary of Significant Contracts On Hand

EXFREEHIME

The following table summarises our significant contracts on hand

TREAFFPR -_ZE-_AFAA=THABLERR

for the Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering Business as ER Tt ARTREBHERNFEEL
at 30 June 2025:
Particulars of the contract Contract sum
EBRFEE Y kR
HK$ million
BEBT
Roads and drainage works ERRRBIRE
Provision of external cable construction works RHPHNEBERRIERBMUAEE -
and outside telecommunications plant RERS (Note)
maintenance services (HF5E)
Advance Civil Engineering Works for Public Housing S 13t A% FEZRBEEATHLARTE 48
Development Projects Batch 13 (2023-2025) (2023 % 2025F)
Civil Engineering Improvement Works at I AIKIZ BT ARekE TR 80
Wu King Estate and Shui Pin Wai Estate
Upgrading/Improvement Works to Lands JbE M B AR BRI A4 B E TR 158
Department Slopes in the Northern Regions
Utilities civil engineering works ARARBEIARIRE
Term contract for provision of civil engineering RMEAML RABRE . TRIE -
works for the telecommunication networks FHEH (Note)
and associated facilities (fF5E)
Provision of integrated field works for field LA KLA ~ KLB & NTC [& 547 & 45 B R AR 15 -
services in KLA, KLB & NTC region (Note)
(HF5E)
Construction and Maintenance of Trenching/ BB BN BYSREAHESH -
Cable Laying and Contractual Works in the By, BEHRNBEERRER (Note)
Areas of Hong Kong, Ap Lei Chau, Lamma GHTE (fF5E)
Island and any Outlying Island
Provision of Works for Integrated RUGEEFEAMNRERZTIRRS -
Blockwiring Infrastructure (Note)
(BF5E)
Civil and Building Works for North Point 132-kV A2 FRAEREAB LT RAR 30
GIS Improvement (Phase 3 — Stage 2) ERBUETIR (B3H—F 2B R)
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Particulars of the contract (continued)

Contract sum

RS (E#) EHEE
HK$ million
BEBT

Building construction and maintenance works #EFEEMNREIRE
District Term Contract for Maintenance, hEEAREKAERE -
Improvement and Vacant Flat Refurbishment RE HEREE S (Note)
for Kowloon West, Sai Kung (1) 2023/2025 IRMSETEHEL0) (B=E)

TR/ CRFE

District Term Contract for Maintenance, A EEERAPHE (Note)
Improvement and Vacant Flat Refurbishment RE HERZEESLEH (B 5E)

Works for Tai Po, North and Shatin (2) 2024/2026 L2 » & FEEE4(2)
RN T RFE

Note: No contract sum provided in the contracts due to the Mzt : ERAERREONE  EHNENUERREESHNEHE -

nature of the relevant contracts.
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Executive directors

Mr. Zhong Guoxing (“Mr. Zhong"), aged 59, has been
appointed as an executive Director since 6 October 2023. He
was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from 6 October
2023 to 12 April 2024, and has been appointed as the Chairman
since 12 April 2024. Mr. Zhong holds a master’s degree. He has
extensive experience in banking, finance and asset management.
He was an executive director and co-president of China Orient
Asset Management (International) Holdings Limited from July
2012 to May 2017. During that period, he was also an executive
director of Shanghai Zendai Real Estate Company Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 755) and the chairman of China Orient Summit Capital
Company Limited, and led the team to work with the world’s
three major rating agencies (Moody’s, S&P and Fitch) to conduct
credit ratings on China Orient Asset Capital Company Limited
and Orient International Company Limited, which is the first of
the four major asset management companies to conduct such
ratings in the PRC. During the period from May 2017 to March
2018. Mr. Zhong was an executive director and the chairman of
the board of directors of New Provenance Everlasting Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 2326), which is principally engaged in
new energy.

Mr. Di Ling ("Mr. Di"), aged 62,has been appointed as an
executive Director since 18 March 2021. He also has been
appointed as Chief Executive Officer since 12 April 2024. Mr. Di
is responsible for developing and executing corporate strategies
of the Carbon Neutral Business and directly leads the strategic
investments in Carbon Neutral Business. Mr. Di is experienced in
the risk investment and corporate finance sectors. He obtained a
bachelor's degree from the Department of Thermal Engineering
of Tsinghua University. Mr. Di served as the standing vice
president of SBCVC* between 2011 and 2019 and president
of SB Green Investment Fund Limited* since 2019. He has
extensive experience in risk management, project management,
corporate restructuring and debt restructuring. Mr. Di is
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely
China Carbon Neutral Group Limited, China Carbon Green
Development (Shenzhen) Co., Limited*, China Carbon Green
(Nanjing) Technology Development Co., Limited*, Singapore
Carbon Neutral Development (Group) Pte. Ltd. and Singapore
International Carbon Asset Management Pte. Ltd. Mr. Di is
currently an executive director of a Hong Kong listed Company,
China Ecotourism Group Limited (Stock Code: 1371).

36

HITES

EEELEE ([EEE]) 9% BT -_=%1+A4
NARERTARNTES - HR T -_=F+AXH
E-Z_MFNA+-_HAETARQRRTRAR - ¥ A
—E-NEMNAT_HREZTAEIE ELERE
M- HRIRTT eRMEEEEE S AHALESE
EER - FHR T —FLtAZ-_ZFT—tFRAELS
ERAEESE (BB IERBRAGBZHNITESRFR
BEEAL - B BT LS TIARHERR AT
(—ERBRZATER EMHAE - BEBNRSE:755) 2
HITEERE T HILEESEERATIZVESR &
AEGEE R = KRS (B 2T BE)A1E -
HHhERAEEEEERARNMEAEBEAERA R
EITERTL ATFBRNAEEEE QAP ERET
HEFR BN _E—+tFRAE T \F=
A2 aiREEIERARAR (—EREBZFTER L
TERTF  BRHREE - 2326) PHITEEHREES T
& ZABEERETER -

BMEBEXE ([BBEE]) 625 E-ZEZ=-—F=A
TNEREZERNTES - KB _ZT_HFMA
TZHREZERITHAE - BAEBFRPNIEH
EBEMEEREAERZE  TEERSRPME
BRI E - BARERREBIRE REERE R
MERAT - BRIBERNEZREREFSEL BN &P
FHER _E——FE_ZT-NFHIEHRPEER
WEBREE AT -NFREAEEFERE
E2ERATAINEH - HRERIRE BEEE
¥EAREREEERHAALEERR - BEERAR
AIETHBAR BIRERFPMERBRAF - P
HEBER(RINBERAT - RsgE (AR BHx#
BB PBR Al - Singapore Carbon Neutral Development
(Group) Pte. Ltd. K Singapore International Carbon
Asset Management Pte. Ltd) 2 &5 - B A BRI E SR
7 LA E) B A R TR AR B A BR A A) (AR AR5 -
1371 BHRITEE -

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EShEREEERE

Mr. Lu Xiangyong ("Mr. Lu”), aged 43, has been appointed as
executive Director since 26 September 2023. Mr. Lu graduated
from Faculty of Art and Design, Capital Normal University. He
has been the art director of Pegasus Media. Mr. Lu served as the
visual image designer for The Spring Festival Gala of Filmmaker,
Student Film Festival, China Huabiao Film Awards from 2006 to
2008. Afterwards, Mr. Lu served as the general manager and
art director of Love Culture Media and was responsible for the
image design of Travel Channel, Huayi Music, Beijing Guohua
Electric Power Co., Ltd. and Boao Forum from 2008 to 2023. Mr.
Lu joined Chinese Eco Development Association (A B #R 3 4 B
ZER{E#EE) in 2013 as the head of the Publicity Department,
head of the International Department and the deputy secretary-
general. Under the guidance of State Forestry Administration of
China, Mr. Lu established the China’s forest food certification
system and forest medicinal materials certification system.
Mr. Lu has established and is operating the China Forest Food
Network, and has established and is operating a forest food sales
hypermarket on Tmall.

Non-executive director

Mr. Chen Yonglan (“Mr. Chen"”), aged 65, had been appointed
as a non-executive Director since 4 June 2025 currently acts
as Senior Advisor of United Nations Conference on Trade and
Development and he possesses over 30 years of international
experience spanning the United Nations, Europe, the United
States, and China. He has extensive expertise in finance and
investment, international diplomacy, and high-tech sectors,
along with a unique background as a senior diplomat serving at
the United Nations and the Swedish government. From 1985 to
2001, he held senior positions at the United Nations, including
Officer of the Information Technology Center at the United
Nations Development Programme (UNDP). He led the design,
development, and deployment of a new generation global
information management system for the UN, making significant
contributions to global institutional reform. He also promoted
the globalization of information technology and assisted several
developing countries in formulating their information industry
strategies. In 1997, he was honored with the UN Global Chief
Information Officer Award. From 2002 to 2013, he served as the
Vice President and China Chief Rep of Invest Sweden Agency —
a Swedish government agency. As the first Chinese to hold a
senior position and diplomatic role in the Swedish government,
he made pioneering contributions to new cooperation between
China and Sweden in investment promotion and capital markets.
During this period, he facilitated a record -breaking cross- border
investment of over 200 Chinese-Swedish enterprises, including
notable projects such as Geely's acquisition of Volvo in Sweden,
State Grid Corporation, and Hong Kong MTR Corporation. From
2013 to 2022, he was a Senior Partner and Head for China at
Eurazeo Group, a leading French PE investment company listed
in Euronext with over €33 billion AUM. He pioneered cross-
border investments between China and Europe, successfully
closing over 20 cross-border M&A deals in China and the Asia-
Pacific region. He developed a comprehensive methodology
for cross-border investment, value creation in China, and fund
management, incorporating European ESG practices in to Asia-
Pacific projects.
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In 2020, he initiated the China-France Bilateral Fund - the
France-China Cooperation Fund (with a scale of €1 billion).
This fund was jointly established in 2019 by China Investment
Corporation, BNP Paribas, and Eurazeo Group, under the
auspices of President Xi Jinping and President Emmanuel
Macron. It aims to invest in high-potential European companies
with strong growth prospects in the Chinese market. In 2022,
he was a Managing Director at Fullerton Fund Management
in Singapore, responsible for private equity investments. He
also serves as a Partner in the Fullerton Asia Carbon Action
Fund, a growth capital fund that has pioneered investments
in decarbonization and ESG sectors, with a focus on emerging
Asian markets such as Southeast Asia, India, and China. Fullerton
Fund, a member of Temasek Holdings, manages assets of over
US$40 billion AUM and is a leading fund and asset manager in
Asia. He owns Master Degree of Management from New York
University, Bachelor Degree of Computer Science from Eastern
Michigan University, and Bachelor Degree of Computer Science
from Shanghai Fudan University. He also held various social and
professional positions including Member of the United Nations
Office for Project Services (UNOPS) Sustainable Investment
Advisory Committee, Senior Advisor on Impact Investing at the
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), International
Board Member of the U.S. International Economic Development
Council (IEDC), and Senior Advisor at the Global Investment
Promotion Council (GIPC).

Mr. Geng Zhiyuan (“"Mr. Geng"), aged 78, had been
appointed as an non-executive Director since 25 November 2024
graduated from Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree
in the Department of Engineering Physics in 1970. He has
extensive experience involving many fields. He has been engaged
in business investment and consulting, working with Beijing
Institute of Optoelectronic Technology, China International Trust
and Investment Corporation, and serving as the vice president of
China Enterprise Investment Association. In the later period, he
mainly devoted himself to public welfare and charity, and served
as the Vice Chairman of the China Social Assistance Foundation,
the Vice President of the Chinese Heroes and Martyrs Praise
Association, the Vice President of the China Heroes and Martyrs
Promotion Association, and the establishment of the Beijing
Zhiyuan Heroes Care Foundation and served as the Chairman of
the Foundation.
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Mr. Wang Guangzu (“Mr. GZ Wang"), aged 39, had been
appointed as an alternative Director to Mr. Geng Since 23
January 2025 graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Computer
Science and Technology from Northwest Normal University in
2007. Since 2008, he has successively served as the Product
Manager of Shenzhen Oriental Legend Network Technology
Co., Ltd., the Marketing Director of Shenzhen Nanfang United
Technology Co., Ltd., the Operation Director of Shenzhen
Norman Legend Watch Co., Ltd., the Deputy General Manager
of Shenzhen Toutiao Network Technology Co., Ltd., the General
Manager of the new Channel Business Department and the
Director of Operation Centre of Shenzhen Aigiao Network Co.,
Ltd., the Deputy General Manager of Zhonglin Forest Food Co.,
Ltd. During his tenure at Shenzhen Aigiao Network Co., Ltd.,
Mr. GZ Wang established a new channel business unit to expand
the leading e-commerce channel, and achieved a sales leap to
RMB20 million in the first year. During his tenure at Shenzhen
Norman Legend Watch Co., Ltd. and Shenzhen Southern United
Technology Co., Ltd., the annual sales of each of them reached
RMB20 million.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wang Jaisi ("Mr. JS Wang"), aged 67, has been appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director since 26 September
2023. Mr. JS Wang possesses a postgraduate degree. Mr. JS
Wang is currently the Executive Vice Chairman of the China
Newspaper Association and the chief expert of the Major
Projects of the National Social Science Fund. He is a recipient of
the State Council Special Allowance, the highest award in the
Chinese news industry — the Taofen Award, and is recognized as
state- level leading talent of Shenzhen. He is also an outstanding
news and publishing entrepreneur in China. Mr. JS Wang has
concurrently served as the Dean of the School of Journalism
and Communication at Anhui Normal University, as well as
the Professor at China Yan’an Cadre College, China Executive
Leadership Academy Pudong, Communication University of
China, Anhui University, Xiangtan University, and Anhui Normal
University. He has also held positions as the Deputy Minister of
the Propaganda Department of the Anhui Provincial Committee,
Secretary of the Party Committee and President of the Anhui
Daily Newspaper Group.
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Ms. Qiao Yanlin (“Ms. Qiao"), aged 60, had been appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director since 27 December
2024 graduated from the Department of Chinese of Beijing
Normal University with a bachelor of arts in July 1986. In the
same year, she went to Tibet to work and served as the editor
of the news department of Tibet Television Station. In 1993, she
returned to Beijing and joined CCTV as the editor and director of
the sub-column “Oriental Son” of “Oriental Time and Space”.
She has interviewed more than 100 influential figures, including
Wang Guangying, vice chairman of the National People’s
Congress, Lu Ping, director of the Hong Kong and Macao Affairs
Office, Wu Yi, vice premier of the State Council, Zhang Ruimin,
president of Haier Group, Zhang Xianliang, writer, and Chen
Kaige, director. In 1996, she participated in the establishment of
“Tell the Truth” as the chief director, creating a precedent for
Chinese TV talk shows. The open and equal way of discussing
social issues advocated by “Tell the Truth” still has some
practical significance today, more than 30 years later. Programs
such as “Who Will Protect Consumers”, “Birds and Us”, “Should
I Ask for Anything in Return for Collecting Gold”, and “Why Hit
Children” have always been the focus of audience comments. In
2000, she participated in the establishment of the “Live China”
column as an associate producer. The program “Live China”
uses live TV means to let the audience enter the customs of a
foreign land at zero distance, understand the history and culture,
and the program has brought fire to one big city and town after
another, such as Pingyao, Longjing, Tongli, Wuzhen, Longnan,
Turpan, Jingdezhen, etc. In 2007, she served as the producer of
“Half the Sky”. In 2010, she founded the “Nightline” column
and served as a producer. The “Nightline” program is CCTV’s
only live interactive emotional program, which uses hotlines,
Weibo and WeChat messages to interact with the audience
in real time on the grounds of the next hot event, popularizes
psychological knowledge and legal knowledge, and alleviates
people’s anxiety and confusion in the period of social transition.
The programs she participated in the creation have won the first
prize of the China Television Awards many times. In 2009, she
was awarded the title of National 38 Red Flag Bearer by the All-
China Women's Federation.

Mr. Cao Ming (“Mr. Cao”), aged 70, had been appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director since 23 January 2025
graduated from the School of Radar with a bachelor’s degree in
radar engineering in 1991. From May 2012 to November 2017,
he served as General Manager and Chief Executive Officer of SIIC
Financial Leasing Company. Since December 2017, he has been
the President of Green Finance Holding Group Co., Ltd. He has
a deep understanding of the practice of green financial services
in the theory of “lucid waters and lush mountains are invaluable
assets”, and has practical experience in the value discovery, value
service and realization of innovative green finance.
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EShEREEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Jiang Dongmei (“Dr. Jiang”), aged 54, Chief Scientific
Officer of the Group and Chairman of the Strategic Development
Committee of the Group, is responsible for the Carbon Neutral
Business and the development and execution of corporate
strategies on the Carbon Neutral Business. Dr. Jiang holds a
post-doctoral degree in the School of Environment of Tsinghua
University and the Institute of Nuclear and New Energy Research
of Tsinghua University. Dr. Jiang is also a world-renowned
expert on climate change. Dr. Jiang has been invited to deliver
a speech on “Combat Climate Change” at the United Nations
Headquarters in Manhattan and participated in the compilation
of the second and third communication to UNFCCC on China’s
inventory of GHG emissions from industrial process. (Dr. Jiang
resigned from her positions as Chief Scientific Officer of the
Group and Chairman on 20 September 2024.)

Mr. Wong Kin Yan ("Mr. Wong"”), aged 56, is the
Environmental and Quality Manager of the Group, responsible
for the implementation and maintenance of our Group’s
environmental and quality management systems. Mr. Wong
obtained a Bachelor Degree in Applied Science in December
1994 from Hong Kong Baptist University and after that he also
obtained a Master degree in environmental management from
The University of Derby, United Kingdom. He is a Chartered
Environmentalist and a corporate member of the Society of
Operations Engineers. He has over 20 years of experience in
the environmental and quality management in the construction
field. He is the Management Representative of Excel’s ISO 9001
Quality Management System and ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System.

Mr. Zhang Xiaodong (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 62, worked at
the Jiangsu Provincial Branch of the Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China from October 1986 to December 1993. From
January 1994 to December 2010, he engaged in international
trade, international finance, and investment work at a Hong
Kong-listed company. From 2011 to present, he has been
engaged in investment and new energy industry development
at a Hong Kong-listed company. Since 2022, he has served as
General Manager of the New Energy Division at China Carbon
Neutrality Development Group. Mr. Zhang possesses a thorough
understanding of national policies regarding the “dual carbon
goals strategy” and the new energy industry. He has extensive
experience in the development direction and industry dynamics
of the new energy sector, with numerous successful cases in
communication and collaboration with relevant government
departments and enterprises.
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The Board is responsible for, amongst other things, the
development and review of the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group and monitoring the
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, and
reviewing the corporate governance compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and disclosure in the annual
report.

The Company conforms to the trend of worldwide to address
climate change through carbon neutral and China’s proposed
“carbon amount to 2030 peak and 2060 carbon neutral”
country strategy, centered on carbon neutral, focusing on
the negative carbon emissions as the core basic industry and
carbon asset development and management as the core in the
field of financial information. Building on the group’s existing
business in ecological governance and civil engineering, building
construction and maintenance, the group aims to become a
leading player in the “carbon neutral” sector of Hong Kong’s
capital markets.

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company
has adopted the CG Code since 11 December 2013, the date
on which dealings in its shares first commenced on the Stock
Exchange.

The Company regularly reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure they comply with the CG Code and align
with the latest developments.

For the Current Year, the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code with the following exceptions:

Pursuant to Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the Independent
Non-executive directors without the presence of other directors.
During the Current Year, the Chairman, did not hold any
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors. However, the Chairman held
meetings with the Independent Non-executive Directors with
the presence of other Directors periodically during the Current
Year to understand their concerns, to discuss pertinent issues
and to ensure that there was access to adequate and complete
information. The Independent Non-executive Directors could
have direct contacts with the Chairman after meetings if
necessary.
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EXTRACT FROM INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REPORT PREPARED BY THE AUDITOR OF THE
COMPANY

Disclaimer of opinion

The Auditor has issued a disclaimer of opinion in their
independent auditor’s report. The Company provides an extract
of “Disclaimer of opinion” and “Basis for disclaimer of opinion”
from the independent auditor’s report prepared by Messrs.
Prism Hong Kong Limited on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2025 as set out below:

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Group’s auditor do not express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. Because of the
significance of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of Auditor’s Report, Auditor have not been able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
In all other respects, in Auditor’s opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred net loss of HK$10,282,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2025. As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s current
liabilities (including those that had become default or contain
early demand clauses) amounted to HK$378,708,000.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group did not repay certain interest-
bearing liabilities (including interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, convertible bonds and related accrual interests) of
about HK$162,031,000 according to their scheduled repayment
dates. As a result, as at 30 June 2025, the above interest-bearing
liabilities had become default. Subsequent to 30 September
2025, the Group had not yet obtained extension letters for
certain interest-bearing other borrowings of HK$65,070,000.
These events and conditions, together with other matters
disclosed in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which
are set out in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.
The validity of the going concern assumptions on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared depends
on the outcome of these measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties.
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Should the Group be unable to achieve the abovementioned
plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

In view of the above circumstances, the Directors have given
careful consideration to the Group’s future liquidity requirements,
operating performance and available sources of financing in
assessing the Group’s ability to continue operating as a going
concern. The following management action plans and strategic
measures are formulated and taken and the implementation
status of such plans and measures to manage the working
capital and improve the financial position of the Group:
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Management action plans and strategic measures

ERETHITEARKKER

Implementation status
Bk

(@ The Group is actively discussing with an
independent financial advisory firm for potential

capital transactions.

(@) AKBEIEEGE—FBMEERDQRRE

(b)  The Group will continue to improve the sales and

collection of outstanding trade receivables.

(b) AEERAEENEHE REUIRKA YD
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The management of the Group will actively discuss with the
holders of to obtain further extensions which will enable the
Company to postpone its cash outflow and allow the Group
to have more financial flexibility in the deployment of its
working capital for its business operations and development,
and thus will allow the Company to retain its financial
resources for a longer period of time and represents an
opportunity to enhance the Company’s working capital.
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The Group will implement more systematic sales system and
frequent communications with customers to better monitor
and manage the credit risks of collection of outstanding
trade receivables.
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Management action plans and strategic measures

ERETHIERKKER

Implementation status
Bk

()

The Group will continue to take active measures
to control its administrative costs and manage its
capital expenditure.

AEEE G BB R G R E S ETBRR AR E
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The management of the Group will review the Group’s
structure and financial performance from time to time to
consider disposal of its loss-making businesses. In addition,
the Group will continue to take active cost-saving measures
to control administrative costs from daily business operations
and containment of capital expenditures from time to time.
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The Board (including the Audit Committee) has reviewed
the Group’s cash flow forecast, covering a period of at least
twelve (12) months from the reporting date, prepared by the
management of the Group. The Board (including the Audit
Committee) is of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned action plans and strategic measures and the
implementation status of such plans and measures, the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within
twelve (12) months from 30 June 2025 and continue till 30 June
2026. Accordingly, the Board (including the Audit Committee)
is satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Board (including the Audit Committee) has reviewed and
agreed with the management’s position that the Company
remains a going concern and it is appropriate to use a going
concern assumption to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2025.
The Board (including the Audit Committee) agrees with the
management’s position and basis.

We encourage you to review our annual financial figures for the
year ended 30 June 2025 accompanying the Auditor’s disclaimer
of opinion and the abovementioned strategic measures to be
implemented by the Group to optimise the Group’s liquidity and
financial position together.

B (BREEZZES) DEMNARREEERE
WAEERSRER  BAREARSBHLETD
RTZ(2)EANPE B9 (BEEZEES)R
B REEE AT A B R AR ZETE R
BN EEMRR ARRIBERNEEESAHEE
REHEES  WeeMEITHEH2025F6 A30 A BT K
K+—(12)E AR I HFEE2026F6 A308H
WIEET - Bt - E52 (RREEZZES)EMNIE
SECERERUBAUBREBEE -

EFEe (BEEZZEe) CEMIRAEEEENIE
BARRRNARBEREELE  BERBELSERRY
BAREBEHZE2025F6 A30H IEFENLGA BB R
XERE E25g (REEZZEQ)REEEEN
I REE -

HMsE ETE—HEHRMEE20259F6A30
ALFENTFEMEERT  HEMZEMNTERE
BMAEBEKERN LM EEIEHELNZENREAE
B RE)E S KRR -

FEBFNEREEERAT / Fk 2025 45



Corporate Governance Report
TEERKRE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
the required standard set out in the model code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors regarding
any non-compliance with the Model Code for the Period, all
Directors confirmed their respective full compliance with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code during the
Current Year.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the
Group, oversees the strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance of the Group. The Board has delegated
the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management,
operation and execution of plans and policies of the Group
to the senior management of the Group. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management. To oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three Board
committees including the audit committee of the Board (" Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee of the Board
("Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
of the Board ("Nomination Committee”) (together, the
“Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith,
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

All Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. All Directors have separate
and independent access to the advices and services of the senior
management and the company secretary with a view to ensuring
that board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations,
are followed.
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Board Composition
Executive Directors

Mr. Zhong Guoxing (Co-Chairman)
(redesignated on 4 June 2025)
Mr. Di Ling (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lu Xiangyong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yonglan (Co-Chairman)
(appointed on 4 June 2025)

Mr. Geng Zhiyuan (Honourable Chairman)
(appointed on 25 November 2024)
(Mr. Wang Guangzu as his alternate)
(appointed on 23 January 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Anyuan

(resigned on 23 January 2025)
Mr. Wang Jiasi
Ms. Lan Haiging

(resigned on 27 December 2024)
Ms. Qiao Yanlin

(appointed on 27 December 2024)
Mr. Cao Ming

(appointed on 23 January 2025)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 36 to 40 of this annual report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the board
of directors of a listed issuer must include at least three
Independent Non-executive Directors (“INED"”). Pursuant to
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, an issuer must appoint INED
representing at least one-third of the board. Pursuant to Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules, the audit committee must comprise a
minimum of three members.
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The Group is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders of the Company and to enhance corporate value
and account ability. The Company has adopted the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules:

In wake of the appointment of Mr. Geng Zhiyuan as an Non-
executive Director (“NED"), Honourable Chairman and the
member of nomination committee on 25 November 2024
and the retirement of Mr. Zhong Guoxing as the Chairman of
nomination committee on 25 November 2024.

In wake of the resignation of Ms. Lan Haiging as an Independent
Non-executive Director (“INED"), the member of each of the
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee on 27 December 2024, the Company had fully
complied with the requirements as set out in Rules 3.10(1); 3.10A
and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The appointment of Ms. Qiao
Yanlin as an INED, the member of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee on 27
December 2024, the Company had fully complied with the
requirements as set out in Rules 3.10(1); 3.10A and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

In wake of the resignation of Mr. Wang Anyuan as an INED,
the chairman of the audit committee and the member of each
of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
on 23 January 2025, the Company had fully complied with the
requirements as set out in Rules 3.10(1); 3.10A and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. The appointment of Mr. Cao Ming as an INED,
the chairman of the audit committee and the member of each
of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
on 23 January 2025, the Company had fully complied with the
requirements as set out in Rules 3.10(1); 3.10A and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. Mr. Guangzu Wang as an alternate of Mr. Geng
Zhiyuan on 23 January 2025.

In wake of the appointment of Mr. Chen Yonglan as an NED and
Co-Chairman on 4 June 2025. The re-designation of Mr. Zhong
Guoxing as a Co-Chairman on 4 June 2025.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the INEDs.
Having considered the guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, the Board considers all of them to be independent
having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on independence
as required under the Listing Rules; (ii) the absence of
involvement in the daily management of the Company; (iii) the
absence of any relationships or circumstances which would
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment; and (iv)
the absence of remuneration from the Company other than the
directors’ fee.

AEBBOERFSKTOEEER  UREARQRRK
RfEm WRACEXEELEREN - ARAREHM L
mARRK S AAEAEREATA - FEWT

RIZB-_MF+-—A-_+THEREERLERZER
FATES ((FUE)) REXIRFMRERZEEKE
RERBEELERRBRFRAZESIRE B -

R-E-_NME+ A -_+tHESERTHIET
PTES((BE])  UREZZES FTHEZES
MRBZEENKE B ARFEXTE2ETLMR
BI3.10(1) ~ 3.10A KR 321{EZE - B ML + 7
EARAEZTEABE UREZZEER FMEZEEER
RBEZEEHKE  ARFIETE2ET L ERA
%£3.10(1) * 3.10A M 321 ZHE »

R-E-_RAF—A-+=-HILZTELEIBEE &
REEBEERE URFMEESNEREZESHRE -
RAFIEEEEST EMBEAE3.10(1) ~ 3.10A K% 3.21
BZRE -EHEENABEZTABE  TERZEE
TEF ULFTHZESNREZZEGNRE A2
RIEREET Lt EWARBIZE3.10(1) » 3.10A K& 3.21
BZHRE- W RZZE_AF—A=-+=HE XA
EEREZARPEREENETES -

RIB-_RFRANBRKEEEEZERIENE
KBt E R BRI AN R RS T SRR T

ExecMEmABEZ BT - KEBLTRAE
3BRFTEAVIE S| - BN () IRIE LT AR B E SRR
ROBIMNFEERE  (WAUE2ERXRFAE
B ¢ (iii) BT B R SIE N B L AT 8 S H B A
T R(vBEFERI ARRLETHMBEHE -
EXeRRARAMBBEY BB -
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TRERRSE
Relationship among members of the Board EEgRERHZER

Saved as disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors and ~MAME[EERSNERERE|IMBRENRNTIN
Senior Management” of this report, there are no relationships EF&K 8 2B T FETABER (BIEHE - 275 -
(including financial, business, family or other material or relevant 2R BEsk H fth 85 K tARARA(R) ©

relationships) among members of the Board.

Continuous Professional Development BHEEXRR

During the Current Year, the Company has provided reqular RAFE  ARFEREFLARTERZRERTE
updates to Directors on material changes to regulatory ZEAREEHARBUARENMERBERMAEER
requirements applicable to the Directors and the Company HEMEMER - EFHR - RECETRLEEART
and on the latest business development of the Company. The BIZSFAHEX ECIAIEBEAZESEIZHATE - R
Directors confirmed that they have complied with code provision F/E @ EEEEREFERE AN S HESEERZ
C.1.4 of the CG Code on directors’ training. During the Current ARSEFEFEER UERLEFFHEERE
Year, the Directors have participated in continuous professional  F2Z A - Bt B E 2 FE R WhEER -
development by attending webinars/reading materials to develop ~ &FHHEER R ARG EBEEER S - WEOER
and refresh their knowledge and skills in areas related to their AR HEEFE BIEIIFELE o

roles, functions and duties of Directors such as corporate

governance, regulatory updates and topics related to the

Company’s businesses, and provided their respective record of

training to the Company.

The table below summarises the participation of the Directors in ~ FTREHIIEFAARFELEEII 2 LM E
training during the Current Year:

Types of training

=318 Bl
Attending seminars/ Reading journals/updates/
Name of Director conferences/forums articles/materials
EEnR LEHNE &8 wiE BIEGIT, BHMERXEER
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhong Guoxing v v
SE S A
Mr. Di Ling v v
KR 28 % 4
Mr. Lu Xiangyong 4 v
BmEBERE
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yonglan v v
PR oK & S
Mr. Geng Zhiyuan 4 v
IERTE
(Mr. Wang Guangzu as his alternate)
(EHEFEERAEE)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYXHTES
Mr. Wang Jiasi v v
ERMEE
Ms. Qiao Yanlin v v
3 S S
Mr. Cao Ming v v
HIRSE A
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Meetings

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code requires that at least
four regular board meetings should be held in each year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
majority of Directors, either in person or through electronic
means of communication.

The Company convened and held 12 Board meetings during the
Current Year.

Additional Board meetings will be convened, as and when
required, to deal with ad hoc issues. Any Director who is not
able to present physically may participate at any Board meeting
through electronic means of communication, such as conference
telephone or other similar communication equipment, in
accordance with the Articles.

Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least 14
days in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other Board
meetings and committee meetings. The company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman
and the Executive Director(s) to prepare the meeting notice and
agenda. Each Director may include any item in the agenda. Save
for urgent matters which require the Board's or a committee’s
immediate attention and therefore lead to a short notice of a
meeting, the agenda, accompanied by meeting papers with
sufficient and reliable information, are sent to each Director at
least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to
enable the Directors to make informed decisions on the matters
to be discussed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes will normally be circulated to Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version
is open for Directors’ inspection.

aae
=23

MEXFECSIERTE  BFELAMNRENE
BEE ANEF-R BERZUEEARGLA
#Z(ERBGNBREFBATA) -

<

18 4t |} I

REERAHBCAREBET2ZRETSSH -

EFENARERERTERES UEERESFH -
REER TAEEIRGHFEIEFHEBETR
AR PInEREFRREMBLBARE - 28 E
MEFESH -

BREREFTEEHERIBEENRD14KRATH
hMpEpEFeER kT EeeR2ATRER
BERRAEL - AARZARWE ([ARBED %
PERRPTESTRTERBELER -BUESY
ARFEANMAECFEE -BREEEEEREEEY
Bl B b e A E BN ESFRI  #R
HERFEEATAANSEENZERXHBITILINES
SERALZECERBTRYA I RBE X EEBNES
EEFRERAT B FRELAMBIRE °

RANEREMAEFEERRREEERACH I
REBEMRLE BRERE - RNAERHARTE
EEMCHRERLBRER HERAHERREREH -
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During the Current Year, 12 Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee
meetings, 5 Remuneration Committee meetings, 5 Nomination
Committee meeting and 1 general meetings were held. Details

RAFE HBIT12REFEEH 2EXEE
TR SAFMEZEEER SARERZEE
RBERAE - BRENEELEZSERNFEHT

A

%

4

=SS

of individual Directors’ attendance at these meetings are set out R T -
in the following table:
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
Name of Director BESpg Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
B E) RE
Exeey ZESBE ZBES8E ZE88E  REAE
Executive Directors WTES
Mr. Zhong Guoxing BERLL 212 - - - 101
Mr. Di Ling BELE /12 - - - 1/1
Mr. Lu Xiangyong BRBEE - - - -
Non-executive Director FUTES
Mr. Chen Yonglan BokELE
(anpointed on 4 June 2025) (R=E-RENANREZH) - - - - -
Mr. Geng Zhiyuan UEeEE
(aopointed on 25 November 2024) (KBS — -1 HAEZF)
(Mr. Wang Guangzu as his alternate) (FAHAAEBEEL)
(aopointed on 23 January 2025) (R-E-fF—-H-+=HEZH) 9/12 112 35 35 -
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Wang Anyuan ITRTEE
(resigned on 23 January 2025) (R-F-FF—F-1=HFL) 912 12 4/5 4/5 7
Mr. Wang Jiasi TIR|EE 12112 2.2 5/5 5/5 n
Ms. Lan Haiging ERENL
(resigned on 27 December 2024) (REEZfEF=Z = FHAEE) 5/12 n 3/5 3/5 -
Ms. Qiao Yanlin B@ut
(aopointed on 27 December 2024) (R=BE—mEf = =1+ HEZF) 6/12 1n 25 25 -
Mr. Cao Ming B
(aopointed on 23 January 2025) (R-F-hp#—H-1+=FEZH) 5/12 1n 115 115 -
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to Code provision C.2.1, the roles of the Chairman
and the chief executive officer are segregated. During the
Current Year, Mr. Zhong Guoxing and Mr. Chen Yonglan
were the Co-Chairman successively. The Chairman are mainly
responsible for taking the lead in the Board to ensure its
effective operation, providing adequate, complete and reliable
information for all Directors in a timely manner, establishing
good corporate governance practices and procedures,
encouraging all Directors to contribute to the Board's affairs,
and ensuring that proper approaches are adopted to maintain
effective communication with shareholders. Mr. Di Ling were
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Chief Executive
Officer is mainly responsible for the day-to-day operations
and overall management of the Group, and implementing the
business policies and objectives determined and adopted by the
Board.

Terms of appointment of Independent Non-executive
Directors

Each of Mr. Wang Jiasi, Ms. Qiao Yanlin and Mr. Cao Ming,
has entered into a letter of appointment for a term of 3 years,
commencing from 26 September 2023, 27 December 2024 and
23 January 2025, respectively.

Directors’ Liability Insurance

The Company purchases annually the Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance for members of the Board. The insurance cover
is reviewed annually to ensure that the Directors and officers are
adequately protected against potential liabilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three Board Committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rules
3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The full
terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
systems of the Group. As the date of this report, members of
the Audit Committee comprised Mr. Cao Ming (chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Wang Jiasi and Ms. Qiao Yanlin, being
the INEDs.

EFERITHAR

STAMBXEC2IBER  TRERTHRAEME AL
DI MAFE - SIS A KoK E AR E
BEEIFE TRMEIEATEEEEEURRESS
BRMEE  MaBEERER"ED  TELAISE
MIER  BUYRFZEXERAERNMESF B2
EXREFSEBELER  TRARREEN TR
RIFERRZBRHE - BBELEELERNRRITHAE
B TBERTZREAEEZ AFEERBRER
REHEESEEMRMZEBBRERARE -

BYFHITESHNES

IXRMAE  BUMLLENERLLEESHERAA
RAIVEITE THHAIF 2B _T_=FN1A
Zt+AE-ZEOF+ A=+ EBERZZT-RF
—AZt=8#th-

EEHERR
ARRIBFRESEXERBEEETNAABMB AT
R - BEERARE  UERESFLSABERT
DRE - U AR EEEE -

ExZEeg
ExgcCY=—EZEE AEXRZBES HFMWEE
ERREEZRE  UEBARRBENENELR -

EREEE

ERZEERBELEMHAAEI21 RI22F A RBE
EIRSTAIRKY - BEIEZRZ B NBERE2XIR
B A2 AT A8 s R AN R B U B R o

ERZERZIEREREANRERAEB ZUK
HREFLABEZERSG RNAREAH  BEEE
EHMBEERLELE (BREESLIR) EXWEL
REBWML TEK
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The work performed by the Audit Committee during the Current
Year were:

° Reviewed the interim results and annual results;

o Reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the management letter from the external auditor
in relation to the audit of the Group for the Period;

o Recommended to the Board on the appointment of
external auditor;

o Reviewed and approved the internal audit plans; and

o Reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice annually and also
meets with the Company’s external auditor at least twice
annually to discuss the audit plan and to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts. During the Current Year, the Audit
Committee held 2 meetings and the attendance record of the
meetings are set out in the section headed “Meetings” on pages
48 to 49 of this annual report.

The Audit Committee also reviewed final results of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the Current Year as well as the audit
report prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting
issues and major findings in course of audit.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in compliance
with Rules 3.25 and 3.26 of the Listing Rules and CG Code.
The full terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration; determine with delegated responsibility the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of Non-executive Directors; and review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. At the date of this report, members of the Remuneration
Committee comprised Mr. Wang Jiasi (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Zhong Guoxing, Ms. Qiao Yanlin
and Mr. Cao Ming.

BERZEERAFERRNIIFRE

o  EHPHMEENFEEE:

o EHEZLVBHEBRER BREIIEBEBEIH
AEBEAREETZHOEE R

o FIMNERBEIMEZERNEZREREER:

o  EBEUMEABEFE R

o RIMBERESHE RREERABEZESE
BT M ANA I -

ERZEEEFRETRIMAGH  TEEARQFIN
BRESMEeFRTHRIMAGHE  UBNBERKR
EINBHUARRNERNER - RAFE  ERZEE
TRITT2REAERGAZBFCLHEHIINAFRS
ABZA9R[EH | —H -

EREZEENBHRARAREMNBARRERFE
RARHIRE AR mSNEZBEM et EE R REE
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EETE) SEELL BUML T RERLEENX
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It is the Company’s policy that the remuneration package of
each Director and senior management shall be determined
by reference to the duties, responsibilities, experience and
qualifications of each candidate.

During the Current Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the adjustment and proposals of director fee, salary and
discretionary bonus of Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to
review the remuneration of Directors and make recommendations
to the Board. During the Current Year, 5 meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held and the attendance record
of the meetings are set out in the section headed “Meetings” on
pages 48 to 49 of this annual report.

The details of the remuneration of the senior management

REARBBER BSREEMS
ASERBREAZEE AEE-

RERE 2 HMES
KERLERMETE -

EGKEJ* FHERECRIEENGREEENE
28 FMERBEANREENER -
FMZE S8R TRL —REE UBHESH

B iﬁé%Akﬂj@
BryTsreFEReE2HE
EABE[EZE]—H-

CHRAEE  FMEES
FCERE I M AF IR 48

BRERE (REEE NBEANE 2 FHEER

(including directors) by band for the Period is as follows: ERUNNE
Number of senior
management
EREEEAZ
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 & JT 10

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

1,000,001 /87T % 2,000,000 /& 7T -
2,000,001 7 7T = 3,000,000 & 7T -

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in compliance with
the CG Code. The full terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and
the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the nominees for
appointment as Directors of the Company. At the date of this
report, members of the Nomination Committee comprised Mr.
Geng Zhiyuan (Mr. Wang Guangzu as his alternate) (chairman
of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Wang Jiasi, Ms. Qiao Yanlin
and Mr. Cao Ming.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
Current Year were:

° Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o Assessed the independence of each independent non-
executive directors; and

. Reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-appointment of the Directors.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year. During
the Period, 5 meetings of the Nomination Committee was held
and the attendance record of the meeting is set out in the
section headed “"Meetings” on pages 48 to 49 of this annual
report.

REZEES
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1. Criteria

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets
out the selection criteria in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate as Director. Such criteria include, but

R

B RMEERR -REZEGRRE
FERNFERBEEEHREAR  BEREA

o (s EEEE - e

CRARREB R

are not limited to the character and integrity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy
of the proposed candidate, and the board diversity.

2. Nomination Procedures
Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out in section 1
to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall rank them by order of preference based
on the needs of the Company and reference check
of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of
the appointment of appropriate candidate for
directorship.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in section 1 to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall make recommendation to Shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of director at the
general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/her
attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
also review and determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the criteria as set out in
section 1.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of director at the
general meeting.
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In order to strengthen the business development of the
Company, enhancement of the effectiveness and performance
of the Board are the fundamental and vital elements. The
Company believes that diversity at the Board level can intensify
these fundamental elements. The Board diversity shall consider
from, including but not limited to, age, gender, educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the appointments of the Board members
shall be based on the positive contribution to be brought by the
proposed candidate to the Company, its subsidiaries and/or its
affiliated companies of the Group.

It is set out below a list of measurable objectives for selection
of candidates. The list is only an indication of factors relevant
to the selection of candidates to be considered by the
Nomination Committee and shall not be regarded as conclusive
nor exhaustive in nature. Where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee may take into account and/or further adopt and/
or weight against one another such factor(s) relevant to the
business to be transacted.

° Age: 18 or over.

o Gender: Welcome both genders with no preference for
any particular proportion.

o Professional qualification: At least one INED shall possess
appropriate professional qualifications in finance and
accounting and meets the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

o Composition: One third of the Board or minimum three
members shall be INEDs to meet the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

. Service period: INED's tenure (as at the date of re-
appointment) could be relevant to the determination of a
Non-executive Directors’ independence. Re-appointment
of INED serving more than 9 years should be in full
compliance with the Listing Rules requirements.

o Other experience: Knowledge and experience which may
contribute to the business of the Company.

o Any other relevant factors.
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The diversity mix of the Board’s current composition is
summarized as follows:

E=HAARNZTTCESERNAT

No. of Directors
in the category

Age Group FEEA ESEAIAY
Between 41-60 years old 41 £60 pR2H 4
Over 60 years old iR 60 5% 5
No. of Directors
in the category
Gender % 5l EEEAIAH
Female el 1
Male B 8
No. of Directors
in the category
Length of services B 7 58 EEHEIAH
Within 1 year —F R 3
1 to 3 years —E=fF 6

The Board believes that it has achieved a balanced compositions,
including but not limited to the following measurable objectives
in term of age and length of services.

The Board and the Nomination Committee had reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board with reference
to the Board Diversity Policy. The current Board composition
reflects diverse mix of various experience, capabilities, skills and
expertise. The Company considers that the current composition
of the Board, is characterised by diversity, whether considered
in terms of age, length of service, professional background and
skills. The current Directors have extensive experience and skills
in, including but not limited to, financial and asset management,
risk management, ecological field, risk audit etc.

The Board currently consists of only 1 female Director. Having
reviewed the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
recognises the importance of the gender diversity at the Board
level and had token initiatives to enhance the gender diversity
among the Board members when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board appointments.
The Company targets to appoint at least one female director had
been made.

Gender ratio in the workforce (including Management) is
61 (female) and 188 (male), women comprise 24.5% of all
workforce.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that Board independence is key
to good corporate governance. As part of the established
governance framework, the Group has in place effective
mechanisms that underpin a strong independent Board and that
independent views and input from Directors are conveyed to the
Board.

To facilitate attendance and participation at Board and other
Board committee meetings, the Company plans meeting
schedules with remote facilities for attendance. The Board
process, ranging from agenda setting, provision of information
and focus on constructive debates and discussions, facilitates
effective and active participation by all INEDs. The Company has
also established channels through formal and informal means
whereby INEDs can express their views in an open and candid
manner, and in a confidential manner, should circumstances
require; these include periodic interaction with management
and other Board Members including the Chairman outside the
boardroom and seeking independent professional advice.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the board
independence mechanism annually and considered such
mechanism is effective.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2025, which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a going
concern basis. The Board is provided with explanations and
information by the senior management of the Company, so that
the Directors have an informed assessment of the financial and
other information of the Group putting forward to the Board for
discussion and approval.

The external auditor of the Company acknowledges his reporting
responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s Report on the
consolidated financial statements for the Current Year as set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 134 to 139 of the
annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

In respect of the Current Year, the total remuneration of audit
service paid and payable to the Company’s external auditors
was approximately HK$1.2 million, and there was no non-audit
services provided by such external auditors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound risk
management and internal control systems to ensure that a
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group has been conducted at least
annually, covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and ensuring adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and budget of the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programs.

The Company conducted review of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2025, in order to ensure and enhance (i) proper process
used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks; (i) main
features of the risk management and internal control systems
were identified; (iii) the systems were designed to manage the
risks to achieve business objectives and provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss; (iv) appropriate
process to resolve material internal control defects; and (v)
effective procedures and internal controls for inside information
management. The Company has conducted a review of the
internal audit function of the Group.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group annually
and considered that the systems were appropriate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Current Year, Ms. Cheung Yin had complied with the
relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The various channels via which the Company communicates with
its shareholders include interim and annual reports, information
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
annual general meeting and other general meeting that may be
convened.

In addition, the Company has the information on the address,
fax and email for taking enquiries and for receiving information
requests from shareholders (see Shareholders’ Enquiries on page
62).

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy and considered that these channels allow
us to receive feedback from the Shareholders.

RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

o The right to attend the annual general meeting and
to receive information

The annual general meeting of the Company provides
opportunity for shareholders to communicate directly
with the Directors. The Chairman and the chairman of the
Board committees will attend the annual general meeting
to answer shareholders’ questions. In their absence, he
should invite another member of the committee or failing
this his duly appointed delegate, to attend. These persons
should be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting. The chairman of the independent board
committee (if any) should also be available to answer
questions at any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that requires
independent shareholders’ approval. The external auditor
of the Company will also attend the annual general
meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report,
the accounting policies and auditor independence.

Copies of the reporting documents, including consolidated
financial statements, the Directors’ report and the auditor’s
report must be sent to members at least 21 days before
the annual general meeting of the Company.
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The right to convene an extraordinary general

meeting

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionists by the
Company.

The voting powers at the shareholders’ meetings

Every shareholder has the right to vote at the shareholders
meetings subject to provisions on the Articles.

The power to elect and re-elect Directors and

auditors

The shareholders could hold individual Directors (or the
Board as a whole) to account for their actions by voting
against their re-election. The Articles provides at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of 3, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years.

For the Directors to retire by rotation, and if they wish,
they may submit themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting. The retiring Directors are eligible for
reappointment to the office.

The shareholders also have the right to approve (or reject)
the appointment of the auditors each year. The Company
may by an ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting
remove a person from the office of auditor despite any
agreement between the person and the Company or
anything in the Articles.

ARRRIFHIRE ZEF

AR - ER2REZRARFELIIRA
RAFREAR BAERARRRRERERE LREE)
ToZ —HBRRRERNRERAEEBRARNAF
EXAWERLEMER BREFSAM
PRERFFRIRE - AR B 25K 35 B e (]
B AZASRN2BEZEREMEARET -

HEER2VIAA - EFeREHRARRZA®
ZEF - RIZ2EERALABHARET A E
HItR MEZBRATREEG ZRAMA
BEANMBRIEHAARAMES ERKAL
TERELR -

RBEABRRZED
EEREXHRRT  FHRELHEAKE
N L%

RERERESRBBAZED

BERAZBRERAENES (KBEAEES)
BELNERERECHTRABE - ERRTE
REERRAFAGL ERAB =220
BEE(RWEFARYFF=Q)NEH  RIAS
REMERNPR=02—28B) BWERE
BUEEAS-FELBEBRRAFRE LS
FERE—IR °

HWwmERINESRE  MUERREAFAE
EBREE REEEEERBURET -

R INE S FHE (KRIER) RIERHED - &
ERBEN AR B L EM B ZE R EIRE EW
ME  ARBAEBAEBRRAEG LEBEBER
FEEBREMALTHZBENRT -

PERTNBREEMBERLQT / F3) 2025 61



Corporate Governance Report
TEERKRE

62

The right to receive information of the Company

The Company shall keep shareholders informed of certain
developments and to obtain shareholder approval for
certain transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules.
In these cases, the Company must communicate with its
shareholders and seek their support.

The right to communicate with the Company

The Chairman or the Executive Director should ensure
that the views of the shareholders are communicated to
the Board as a whole and the Chairman or the Executive
Director should discuss strategy and governance with the
major shareholders.

Non-executive Directors should be given the opportunity
to attend general meetings with major shareholders,
and should be expected to attend general meetings if
requested by major shareholders.

Effectiveness of general meetings

Shareholders should be given the opportunity to send in
written questions before the meeting. There should be a
circulation of a brief summary of points raised at the annual
general meeting to all shareholders after the event. The
Board should dispatch a circular accompanying the annual
general meeting notice, which contains comprehensive
information on the business to be transacted at the
meeting, together with summary procedure governing
voting at the annual general meeting and frequently asked
questions regarding voting procedures.

The Company should arrange for the notice of the annual
general meeting and the related papers to be sent to the
shareholders at least 21 days before the meeting. For
other general meetings this should be at least 14 days in
advance.

Giving shareholders an opportunity to ask questions

The Chairman should attend the annual general meeting.
He/she should also invite the chairmen of the audit,
nomination and remuneration committees and any other
committees (as appropriate) to be available to answer
questions at the annual general meeting. In addition,
INEDs and other non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders.
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Voting procedure

At any general meeting, the Company proposes a separate
resolution on each substantially separate issue and in
particular proposes a resolution at the annual general
meeting relating to the report and accounts. For each
resolution, proxy appointment forms should provide
shareholders with the option to direct their proxy to vote
either for or against the resolution or to withhold their
vote.

At any general meeting there should also be a separate
resolution to each substantially separate issue. The
Company should avoid “bundling” resolutions unless they
are interdependent and linked forming one significant
proposal. Where the resolutions are “bundled”, the
Company should explain the reasons and material
implications in the notice of meeting.

In the context of voting by proxy and poll results, the
Company should ensure that all valid proxy appointments
received are properly recorded and counted. For each
resolution, after a vote has been taken, except where
taken on a poll, the Company should ensure that the
following information is given at the meeting and made
available as soon as reasonably practicable on a website
which is maintained by or on behalf of the company.

The Company should announce the poll results as
soon as possible and at least 30 minutes before the
commencement of the Exchange’s morning session or
any pre-opening session on the business day following
the general meeting. The poll results announcement must
include: the number of shares entitling the holder to
attend and vote at the general meeting; shares entitling
the holder to attend and abstain from voting in favour;
shares of holders that are required under the Listing
Rules to abstain from voting; shares actually voted for a
resolution and shares actually voted against a resolution.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

Shareholders and the investment community may at any time
make a request for the Company’s publicly available information.
The designated contacts and addresses to enable them to make
query in respect of the Company are:

the Board of Directors

Unit 1201,12/F, Landmark South, 39 Yip Kan Street,
Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2136 6608

Email: ir@carbonneutral.com.hk

Contact:
Address:

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders
by way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. It is the policy of the Board, in recommending
dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits, and at the same time, to ensure the
Company to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The
Company’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group, as well as dividends received from the Company's
subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will depend on the
ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend. In
addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment
of dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the
Company’s article of association and any applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board's current views on
the financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will
continue to review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the
Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and/or modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it deems
fit and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be
declared or paid in any particular amount for any given period.
The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company that any dividend will be paid in
any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company
to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

During the Current Year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents. The latest version of the constitutional
documents of the Company is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Report Overview

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (the
“Group” or “China Carbon Neutral”) (Stock Code:
1372.HK) and its subsidiaries (the “Company” or “we")
are pleased to publish the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “ESG Report” or the “Report”).
The Report provides an overview of the Group’s policies,
sustainability strategies, management approaches and
initiatives in the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG") areas of its business and the Group’s performance
in this regard.

This report is recommended to be read in conjunction
with the “Corporate Governance Report” section in 2025
annual report of the Group.

Reporting Scope

The Report covers the period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June
2025 (the “Reporting Period”). By comprehensively
considering the Company’s sustainable development
background, the Report covers the Group’s main business
related to Global Carbon Neutral.

Basis of Preparation

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(the "ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix C2
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). The
report has also been prepared with reference to standards
and initiatives such as the Sustainability Reporting
Standards of Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 1 and 2, the Task
Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
recommendations, the Sustainability Accounting Standards
of the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB)
and United Nations Sustainable Development Goals
(UNSDGs).

The Report has complied with the mandatory disclosure
requirements and “Comply or Explain” provisions set out
in the ESG Reporting Guide of the SEHK. For details, please
refer to the end of the Report.
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Reporting Principles

During the preparation of the Report, the Group has define
its content and presentation of information in accordance
with the following principles, taking into account the
aspects of "accuracy”, “clarity”, “comparability”,
“completeness”, “timeliness”, “verifiability”, and the
background of sustainable development.

Materiality Principle: A materiality review and assessment
is used to review the material issues of the Group during
the Reporting Period and to focus on the material issues
identified for the preparation of the Report, for details
please refer to the sections on “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment”;

Quantitative Principle: The Report discloses the standards
and methods used in the calculation of relevant data in the
Report, and disclose the applicable assumptions;

Balance Principle: The Report reflects an unbiased
view of the Group’s performance in all aspects of ESG,
and avoids negative impacts on the Group arising from
inappropriate decisions or choices of judgement, omissions
of information or reporting formats;

Consistency Principle: The preparation method of the
Report is basically consistent with the previous year, and
the data with changes in the scope of disclosure and
calculation methods are explained.

Confirmation and Approval
The Report was reviewed, confirmed and approved by the
board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company on 30 September 2025.

Publication of the Report

The Report is published in traditional Chinese and English
versions. In case of any discrepancy between the two
versions, the traditional Chinese version shall prevail.
The electronic version of the Report can be accessed
and downloaded at the website of the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website
(www.carbonneutral.com.hk).

Report Access and Feedback

The Group welcomes your comments and suggestions
on the Report or the Group’s ESG work via the email:
ir@carbonneutral.com.hk.
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2.

ABOUT CHINA CARBON NEUTRAL
2.1. Statement from the Board

The Group aims to balance its environmental
and social impacts with its business objectives by
implementing effective strategies to promote its
sustainable development.

The Board of China Carbon Neutral firmly believes
that the continuous improvement of the ESG
management system is crucial to the sustainable
development of the Group. For example, the Group
should continue to accelerate the growth of its
business by mitigating ESG risks and seizing ESG
opportunities, while contributing to the creation of a
sustainable society through its operations. As such,
all members of the Group are dedicated to exploring
and improving its ESG system that enables China
Carbon Neutral to pursue more sustainable future
development.

In addition, the Group has integrated key ESG
risks into its overall risk management system, with
senior management and business owners involved
in assessing the key ESG risks associated with its
business. By identifying and assessing the likelihood,
impact and trends of key ESG risks, the Group has
formulated corresponding risk response measures.
The Board regularly monitors ESG-related initiatives,
reviews key risks and proposes response strategies.
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2.2. Message from the Chairman of the Board

As the chairman of the Board of China Carbon
Neutral Development Group Limited, | am honoured
to present to you the Group’ s efforts and
achievements in ESG for the 18-month period ended
30 June 2025 (“Reporting Period”). As the only
company listed on the Main Board in Asia focusing
on carbon neutral business, we are fully aware of
our responsibilities and mission, and have been
committed to integrating ESG concepts into our
strategic planning and day-to-day operations.

During the Reporting Period, our three strategic
business segments, namely green carbon reduction,
renewable energy and ecological governance,
have all made significant progress. This is not only
reflected in the expansion of our business scale and
market share, but also in our profound practice of
environmental protection and social responsibility.
We follow the United Nations' strategies to address
climate change and actively respond to China’s
national strategy of “Carbon Peaking in 2030 and
Carbon Neutrality in 2060”, and are committed to
transforming the development concept that “clear
water and lush mountains are invaluable assets” into
our practical actions.

In terms of ESG governance, we have continued
to improve our management system by integrating
key ESG risks into the Group’s comprehensive
risk management system to ensure that its senior
management and business leaders are fully aware of
the importance of ESG risks and actively participate
in its assessment and response initiatives. By
identifying and assessing the likelihood, impact
and development trend of key ESG risks, we have
formulated corresponding risk response measures to
ensure that the Group can effectively manage ESG
risks and achieve sustainable development while
pursuing business development.
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We understand that the carbon neutral business is
not only about environmental protection, but is also
closely related to the future well-being of humanity.
Therefore, in promoting the synergistic development
of basic industries and new asset development
and management, we always focus on the close
integration of global carbon neutral and people’s
livelihood, and endeavour to create a sustainable
and high-yield business model to create value for
our shareholders while contributing to the efforts of
mankind in addressing climate change.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to adhere
to its original mission and endeavour to become an
operator and integrator of the global carbon neutral
business as well as a practitioner and promoter of
the global business for addressing climate change.
We will seize this historic opportunity to achieve
exceptional returns for our shareholders and
contribute to society with the best possible results
performance, and remain unwavering in our efforts
to foster a harmonious balance between humanity
and nature.

Company’s Profile

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited
is @ company listed on the Main Board of the SEHK
(stock code: 01372). As the only company listed on
the Main Board in Asia focusing on carbon neutral
business, the Group has three strategic business
segments, namely green carbon reduction, civil
engineering and construction and renewable energy.
The Group adheres to the United Nations’ strategies
and development for addressing climate change and
implements China’s national strategy of “Carbon
Peaking in 2030 and Carbon Neutrality in 2060”. It
is also committed to transforming the development
concept that “clear water and lush mountains are
invaluable assets” into practical actions.

Facing tremendous amount of investment
opportunities in green industries and the market
opportunities brought about by new asset categories
with carbon assets as the core, the Company will
build a new type of company in the carbon neutral
field for creating a sustainable and high-yield
business model through a synergistic development
pipeline of basic industries and new asset
development and management, creating value for
shareholders and contributing to humanity’s efforts
to cope with climate change.
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The Group has always been concerned about the
balance between economic development and
environmental protection, and has consciously
assumed the social responsibilities of an enterprise.
It has endeavoured to closely integrate ecological
construction with people’s livelihood, promote the
transformation and upgrading of technological
innovation and facilitate the development of the
regional economy.

In the future, the Group will endeavour to become an
operator and integrator of the global carbon neutral
business as well as a practitioner and promoter of
the global business for addressing climate change.
We strive to seize this historic opportunity to deliver
the best performance to our shareholders and the
community.

STABLE OPERATION

The Group has demonstrated significant results in terms
of stable operation during Reporting Period. Through the
establishment of a scientific, efficient and transparent
governance structure, the Company has not only adhered
to the concepts of modern corporate governance, but
has also proactively advocated and practised sustainable
development strategies. The Company has strengthened
its governance standards in various aspects such as
governance structure, board composition and operation,
investor relations management and ESG governance
system.

In terms of ESG governance, the Group has continued
to strengthen its management system. As the highest
decision-making body, the Board is fully responsible for
formulating, updating, reviewing and reporting on the ESG
strategy to ensure that ESG issues are deeply integrated
into the Group’s overall development blueprint. Through a
comprehensive management structure and monitoring and
reporting mechanism, the Company has not only enhanced
the transparency and traceability of its ESG work, but also
contributed to the continuous improvement of its overall
performance.
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3.1. ESG Governance
3.1.1.ESG Management Framework

The Group continues to strengthen its
ESG management framework and believes
that the commitment and responsibility of
senior management is the key to driving the
implementation of its sustainability strategy.
As the highest decision-making body, the
Board of the Group is fully responsible for
formulating, updating, reviewing and reporting
on the ESG strategy to ensure that ESG issues
are deeply integrated into the Group’s overall
development blueprint and daily operations.
The Board members actively participate
in internal meetings to identify, audit and
evaluate the Group’s performance in corporate
responsibility, sustainable development and
climate change response, so as to provide
the direction for the Group’s long-term
development.

The Group has established a comprehensive
ESG monitoring and reporting mechanism to
ensure the transparency and traceability of
ESG work. The management team regularly
reports to the Board on the implementation
and progress of ESG work, including the
achievement of Key Performance Indicators
(KPIs), risk identification and countermeasures.
Meanwhile, the Group has prepared an annual
ESG disclosure report in accordance with
international and domestic ESG reporting
standards to provide detailed disclosure of the
Group’s environmental, social and governance
performance and accept monitoring and
evaluation by stakeholders.

The Group continues to uphold its commitment
to building and optimising its ESG governance
system to ensure the effective implementation
of its sustainability strategy. Consistent with
Year 2024, the Group has demonstrated
continued stability and maturity in ESG
management.
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Leadership and supervision of the Board: the
Board of the Group is ultimately responsible
for formulating, updating, reviewing and
reporting on the ESG strategy to ensure that
ESG issues are fully integrated into the overall
corporate development strategy. Through
regular internal meetings, the Board identifies,
audits and evaluates recommendations related
to corporate responsibility, sustainability
and climate change response, and conducts
an annual comprehensive review of the
implementation and progress of ESG efforts to
ensure the consistency and effectiveness of the
strategy.

Execution and reporting by management: the
senior management team is directly responsible
for the implementation of ESG-related
matters, and they regularly update the Board
on the progress of ESG work, including the
achievement of targets, risks and challenges
faced, and future action plans. This multi-level
interaction mechanism ensures the effective
implementation and continuous improvement
of the ESG strategy.

Integration of functional departments: at the
operational level, each functional department
is given clear responsibility for ensuring that
sustainability strategies and practices are
seamlessly integrated into the Group’s day-to-
day business operations. These departments
not only implement existing ESG initiatives, but
also actively explore and drive new action plans
or innovative measures to continuously improve
the Group’s sustainability performance.

Transparency and accountability: the
Group maintains its responsibility for the
truthfulness, objectivity and completeness of
ESG information disclosure and ensures that
all disclosed information has been subject to
stringent audits to demonstrate the Group's
transparency and accountability in ESG
management.

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025
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The Board is composed of Board members
which are responsible for:

- Formulating long-term sustainable
development guidelines and strategies

- Assessing and determining risks and
opportunities associated with ESG

- Ensuring appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal monitoring
system

- Reviewing and approving policies,
objectives and action plans or measures
related to ESG

- Approving the ESG Report

Management team is composed of
management which is responsible for:

- Formulating and reviewing policies,
objectives and action plans or measures
related to ESG

- Monitoring and reporting to the
Board on the progress and quality of
implementation of the action plans or
measures

- Identifying risks and opportunities
associated with ESG

- Reviewing the ESG Report

Functional departments are composed of
functional departments which are responsible
for:

- Identifying, assessing, determining
and reporting to the management on
significant ESG issues

- Performing ESG risk management and
internal monitoring

- Ensuring that ESG policies, objectives and
action plans or measures are integrated
into business operations
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- Reporting to the management on the - MEBREE®RITHENE
progress and quality of implementation MEEYBT ’Erﬁﬁig\%
of the action plans or measures

Board The Board members are responsible for:

- Formulating long-term sustainable development guidelines and
strategies

- Assessing and determining risks and opportunities associated with
ESG

- Ensuring appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
monitoring system

- Reviewing and approving policies, objectives and action plans or
measures related to ESG

- Approving the ESG Report
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Management Team The management team is responsible for:
- Formulating and reviewing policies, objectives and action plans or
measures related to ESG
- Monitoring and reporting to the Board on the progress and quality of
implementation of the action plans or measures
- Identifying risks and opportunities associated with ESG
Approving the ESG Report
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Functional Departments The functional departments are responsible for:

- Identifying, assessing, determining and reporting to the management
on significant ESG issues

- Performing ESG risk management and internal monitoring

- Ensuring that ESG policies, objectives and action plans or measures
are integrated into business operations

- Reporting to the management on the progress and quality of
implementation of the action plans or measures
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3.1.2.ESG Strategy and Objectives

The Group continues to follow and deepen its
ESG strategy during Reporting Period, aiming
to drive the overall improvement of the Group’s
environmental protection, social responsibility
and corporate governance through a series of
specific objectives and action plans.

The Group recognises the importance of
sustainable development to the long-term
success of the enterprise. Therefore, we
actively follow a series of internationally
recognised sustainable development objectives
and related principles, including but not limited
to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide issued by the SEHK, Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards and the
standards issued by International Sustainability
Standards Board (ISSB). These frameworks and
principles provide guidance and direction for
the development of the Group’s ESG strategy.

In formulating the sustainable development
strategy, the Group has developed a
comprehensive ESG development strategic
plan, which is not only closely integrated with
our core business, but also ensures that we
pursue economic efficiency while making
a positive impact on the environment and
society. Our strategic plan covers all aspects of
our business, from supply chain management
to product lifecycle management, and we
are committed to achieving sustainable
development throughout our value chain.

In order to achieve our sustainability objectives,
the Group has set a series of specific ESG
development targets covering a wide range
of areas such as reducing carbon emissions,
improving resource efficiency, promoting
employee well-being and enhancing
community involvement. We are committed to
achieving these objectives through innovative
technology and process improvement, and
ensuring that they are aligned with our
business strategy.
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3.2. Stakeholder Communication

The Group adheres to the principles of openness
and transparency, actively listens to and responds to
the expectations and concerns of our stakeholders,
and continuously updates ESG-related information
through the Group’s website throughout the
period to ensure the timeliness and accuracy of
the information . We recognise that effective
communication with our stakeholders is crucial to the
sustainable development of the Group. Therefore, we
have established a stable communication mechanism
and diversified communication channels to ensure
that the views and suggestions of all parties are fully
considered and incorporated in the decision-making
process.

We recognise that our stakeholders play an
integral role in the Group’s operations and market
value. As such, the Group has made stakeholder
communication an important part of its day-to-day
operations and has endeavoured to build a platform
for interaction with key stakeholders. We actively
listen to and analyse in-depth views or suggestions
of key stakeholders on ESG issues, thereby
facilitating a two-way flow of information to ensure
the adaptability and effectiveness of the Group’s
strategies and actions.

In order to manage relationships with stakeholders
in a systematic manner, the Group relies on
established control procedures over the needs and
expectations of stakeholders for effective control
and management of relevant matters that may affect
the Group’s operating and management systems.
We maintain close contact and interaction with a
wide range of stakeholders, including government/
regulatory authorities, shareholders/investors,
employees, customers, suppliers and the community,
through a diverse range of channels, including,
but not limited to, official conferences, seminars,
questionnaires and digital platforms.
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With these constructive exchanges, we endeavour
to strike a balance between the views of all parties,
gain an in-depth understanding of the unique needs
and aspirations of different stakeholders, ensure the
continuity and effectiveness of the communication
mechanism, and further consolidate the Group’s
commitments and practices in the area of sustainable
development, thereby setting the direction for the

Group’s sustainable development. Specifically, details FEEEIENT
of stakeholders’ expectations and requests, the
communication channels we utilised and the relevant
responses from the Group’s management are set out
below:
Expectation and Communication Management's
Stakeholders Requirement Channels Response
B0E HEREX BBRE EEEDE
Government/ o Compliance with laws e Regular reports or Upholding the principle
Regulatory and regulations and announcements of integrity and ensuring
Authorities active response to policy for transparency of compliance in our
B/ EEAS guidance operational information operations
ETARER B EHREARE  EH EEEPRFAERA
B & G R LEZE BRAEAML

G Fulfilment of tax liabilities e
and support for the
national treasury
BIIRBELE  XH
CIER N

o Green operation to
minimise environmental ~ ®
impacts
REEE  HOHRE
GOpZ

o Promoting local economic

development and
employment .
R EEERE

BE

Regular communication
with regulatory
authorities for timely
feedback
THEEEREER
REEE

Conducting official
business through
government websites or
applications

BBBT Ak IER
BERELE

Distributing
questionnaires to collect
regulatory opinions and
suggestions

EHES  BEEE
BRERR

Paying tax on time and
actively fulfilling social
responsibilities

RRGN  BREITHLE
B

Establishment of a sound
internal control and
environmental management

system
BURE2ONIBES R
RIFERER

Implementing a production
safety responsibility system
to protect the safety of
employees and the public
BIR2EEREHE -
REEIHNRZS

Increasing R&D investment
in green projects

MAZERBFHERA
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Expectation and Communication Management's
Stakeholders Requirement Channels Response
BH& HEREX BERE EEEDE
Shareholders/ Stable investment returns Disclosure of information e Management's extensive
Investors BENRE LR on the websites of the experience and expertise
BRE/BREE Company and the SEHK to ensure the sustainable
High transparency of ERRREBEZ development of the business
information wuBEEA EEERELELE
EimE AR MEXAE  BREHB
Use company website and RELR
Sound corporate official WeChat account
governance system to release updates . Enhancing transparency
BEHERERTE MARRBERE R through regular
MEREBEN dissemination of detailed

Direct communication
at general meetings
and other shareholders’
meetings
BEAgREMRE

8% HERXR

Investor meetings or
factory tours to enhance
trust
REEZERABELE -
s E

Distributing .
questionnaires to

understand investors'

needs and expectations
EHRES  BRREER
FoREHE
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Continuous improvement
of internal control system
and risk management

mechanism
THEENBEZZAR
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Maintaining close
communication with
investors through various
channels and respond to
their concerns in a timely
manner
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Expectation and Communication Management's
Stakeholders Requirement Channels Response
B0E HEREX BERE EEEDE
Suppliers o Stable demand forecasts e Business visits to enhance o Ensuring contractual
HEs BEMFEREA mutual understanding fulfilment and maintaining

Maintaining good co-
operation with the
company

BEERTN RIS
Bk

Enhancement of
corporate reputation and
brand value
PEEEAREEEN
’F

B BEME
B

. Daily contact by
email, telephone
and communication
applications
BIHM BERER
EREFNARHE

Product promotion
seminar to share market
opportunities
EmES  LETS
®E

o Distributing
questionnaires to collect
feedback from suppliers
RS WEHER
B

supply chain stability
BRARET - #E
fEERT

. Developing and
implementing best practices
and procedures for supply
chain management
HIE AT B E R
HETRERZN

o Establishing long-term co-
operation with quality
suppliers for mutual growth
HETHERRYRE
RIEBE  HEKK

. Strict supplier selection
process to ensure quality
and sustainability
BB EREGERRE -
REESEMRHENL

FEBFANEREEERAT / F# 2025 79



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiE #HE2RERRE

Expectation and Communication Management's
Stakeholders Requirement Channels Response
BH& MEREXR BERE EHEEDE
Communities . Environmental protection o Publishing information on Actively responding to
HE and ecological restoration Company website, official climate change and

REREELEMNE

° Reducing greenhouse gas
and waste emissions
AP RERBEERY
M

o Efficient use of resources
and recycling

BERNBUNAELE

. Community engagement
and co-construction
RS EEH

. Promoting local
economic development
and employment
opportunities
R EESRE
REEE

WeChat account and
government department
information disclosure
website

NER - B ER
EBAHFAENAT
PubsmEN

Active participation in
community activities to
deepen interaction
BER2ENEED -
MRE S

Distributing
questionnaires to
understand the needs
and aspirations of the

community
WAL BELE
FREAE

implementing more clean
production measures
BRESREEL B
BEEREERN

Increasing investment in
environmental protection
and promoting sustainable
development projects
MARGERERA - #F
AREERER

Innovative environmental
technology to enhance
resource utilisation efficiency
BIFTRREM - RABR
FAZE

Strengthening energy
conservation and emission
reduction management to
minimise environmental
impacts

B REER - Hd
RERE

Encouraging staff to
participate in community
services and public welfare
activities

BB T2 EMRREE
INEVE)

Maintaining solid financial
performance and business
growth to help the local
economy
ERBRONBRE R
EBER PO AEE
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33. EEMEEDIN

33.1.EHBBNEE

3.3. Substantive Issue Analysis
3.3.1.Definition of Objective and Scope

We conduct a review and analysis of substantive
issues every year. The main stakeholders of
this materiality assessment include investors,
the Board, senior management, partners,
employees and other key internal and external
role representatives and groups. In order to
enable the Group to better adapt to the rapid
changes in relevant issues and cope with new
issues and long-term sustainable development
needs at any time, we have established a
continuous review and analysis process as an
important part of our substantive issue review
and analysis mechanism to ensure continued
relevance and responsiveness. In addition, we
place particular emphasis on aligning our issue
analysis with international ESG standards and
best practices to enhance our comparability
and transparency on a global scale.

3.3.2.0rganising, identifying and prioritising

issues

We believe that using business strategies to
address ESG issues is a key way to achieve
sustainable growth. In order to gain a deeper
understanding of these issues, we have
further refined the list of important issues
through questionnaire surveys, on-site visits,
key meetings, telephone enquiries and online
platforms in a wide range of communications
with internal and external stakeholders. This
initiative allowed us to ensure a balanced
and comprehensive representation of China‘s
carbon neutrality and sustainable development
issues from a contemporary perspective.

During the Reporting Period, the Group used
a materiality review and assessment approach
to identify material topics, which included
reviewing the results of previous materiality
assessments, reviewing their applicability, and
reviewing and confirming the materiality of
the topics identified. In addition, on the basis
of the materiality issues for 2025, the Group
has also assessed and updated the materiality
issues for Reporting Period with reference
to the key indicators of the ESG database of
International Institute of Green Finance (IIGF) of
Central University of Finance and Economics,
combined with the international ESG standards
and best practices based on its own strategic
and business characteristics, and in light of
the focus on the national policies and capital
markets. The assessment and update have also
been reviewed and confirmed by the Directors.
This report focuses on detailed disclosure of
the important issues identified during the
Reporting Period.

BMSFET - REENZEED
Rt RREBEMFEERNE
ENHBETEEREAN EFY -
SRERE  AEBHE BIUR
Hip AN AR MELRE -
RTEAEERE T ERBEZRE
BREEI BRESFEENR
A SERRNFR  HMELT
—ERFENEERITEER  (ER
HMEEEREEE R DTSR
BHERIY - AERFEENIEH
PEME R o I RAVE R R
ERZEED T EABIRESGIREEM&
EEBRMALEE  AEARMERI
SEINH A L EABRAE -

3328 BMESERELHRF

KFIRE EREERERER
ESGHE 2ERAFEZLENHE
BB BT BIR AR S L
BoEER - NEFEEETNE
BB BRPIRE T BE AT
RGEG EZCx TEMB-
BT EBREEZREINE—FE
HREEMRBFE  BREEGME
AR ERE TR AR & B xR A
ABEEREEE -

RBMEHAR AEBHERAEENZ
BRBEETENFABEEE NS
A PRENERTEZMME
R RFEEAY BHITERE
EEMZBEEZEN - Lo - /£2025
FTEEMHEOER - AEEN
2EHRRFEKNSEE S 7B
2Bt (International Institute of Green
Finance — IIGF) ESG U5 & H) A4 45
2 EERBRESGIEEMKEER
HRBEGNEMRAMELEE &6
BRUEHEAEARTISZ@TER - 57
BWEH TREFNNEZHE -
WHEEEMMER AREES
BRSNS AINEREFERE
TR EE -
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Retrospective Review

Bl B8

Prioritisation

AMBERF

Verification
BRE

Reviewing of material issues of 2025 through multiple channels
of understanding and research and internal discussions; reviewing
and adopting ESG issues of concern from previous stakeholder
engagement events;
BBRZTEBTHRNAREANDT L2025 FNEE M RBET
Ol ; R RERABERO B2 BRI ESGERE

Referring to the key indicators of concern in the ESG Database of
the IIGF of Central University of Finance and Economics, as well as
international ESG standards and best practices;
SERAKREG SR BEIRIR ESG BURERT R FRIER -
AR B BRESG IR EM G EE E

Updating or adjusting issues based on its strategy and business
characteristics as well as national policies and capital market concerns.
ERBEHERNREBTRUALERBREE RIS RETH
REE T o

Analysing and assessing the views of all parties to identify and
prioritise potentially material issue;

BESAERETHOMRIE UHBEETEEMHERE WAL
HEHRBE LB

Preparing a matrix of materiality based on the importance of the
issues to the Group and key stakeholders to ensure that the issues
that have the greatest impact on the Group’s sustainability are
prioritised.
BEREHAEERTIEFNENEZRERHIEZHEME - #
REEEBHESENHEERYERANZESE

Verifying the materiality assessment results by the management team
to ensure that these issues are consistent with the direction the Group
is seeking to take in terms of sustainable development;
HEERBGRIBEEUNTEER HRELZBVELAEESKY
A EERA M

Reporting the results of the required materiality assessment to the
Directors and make detailed disclosures in the ESG report to enhance
transparency and credibility.
BIELFBENEEUFEERMEEER  WRESGREFEL
FAEEEE - NIERBEREMAEE -
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The materiality assessment helps the Group
to communicate to stakeholders its concerns
about their expectations and requirements
in order to continuously improve its own
operation system. The issues concerned by
the Group and stakeholders are listed in the
following materiality matrix:

Social Participation
$iﬁ 22 B

=5 Z 2%

High =

Air emission
& R B
Wastewater discharge

BER IR

Materiality
to the
stakeholders

Medium &

N b S ok S 3 BE

Measures to avoid child
and forced labour
BHETI R

58 15 &5 T RO 5 HE

Low 1&

Low

&

ERZUFEEDAKERARDESR

EHHYPEE
ERHEE

R RE R N

R AEEMENE

BT ERGINHNATHER
[EFEE

Anti-corruption

R&=

Operational compliance

BEAM

Protection of customer
privacy

RiEE PR

Anti-discrimination and
diversity

RERES T

Assurance of human rights

NEYN

Employee compensation
and benefits

B T B &R

Product responsibility and
service quality

ERBETERERE

Water resource use

KERBER

Discharge of non-hazardous
waste

EEBEEMIN

Medium

&

Materiality to the Group

HEAKENERM

FERFANEEREEERAT / F3R 2025

Greenhouse gas emission

BE R

Energy use

AL IR E A

Responding to climate
change

e RIRE L

Clean production and green
products

BREERZEER

Talent management
AT ER
Employee training and
promotion
BTHEIEET
Supplier management
i RS B e
Occupational health and
safety
BEREELZS
Raw material use

R #HE A

Discharge of hazardous
waste

BEBEMIENR

Ot
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3.4. Anti-corruption
3.4.1.Management System

84

The Group upholds the core values of honesty,
integrity, fairness, impartiality and compliance
with business ethics, and is committed to
implementing its compliance work on integrity
and anti-unfair competition. We actively
promote the culture of integrity within the
enterprise and regulate the ethical conduct
of our employees, so as to build a corporate
integrity atmosphere through good corporate
governance. The Group is committed to
the prevention, deterrence, detection and
investigation of all forms of corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. The
Group strictly complies with the laws and
regulations relating to anti-corruption, anti-
bribery and anti-unfair competition, such as the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Criminal Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Anti-money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Interim
Provisions for the Prohibition of Commercial
Bribery by the State Administration for Industry
and Commerce of the People’s Republic of
China.

To ensure full compliance with the
Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), we require our employees not
to disclose or exchange competitive sensitive
information with our competitors or engage
in price manipulation, and to avoid imposing
restrictions on customers, suppliers or sub-
contractors in all circumstances. In addition, we
also require all employees to collectively resist
the arrangement of market sharing. During the
Reporting Period, there were no reported cases
of anti-unfair competition behaviour by the
Group.
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In order to effectively promote and supervise
the integrity construction within the Group,
we have established an effective accountability
mechanism to enable relevant work to be
carried out efficiently. Meanwhile, the Group
has formulated and issued the Whistleblowing
Policy to enable employees to raise their
opinions in a responsible and effective
manner, which applies to senior management
concerns including financial malpractice,
misappropriation of company property, failure
to comply with legal obligations behaviour
that is detrimental to the environment and
personal health and safety, criminal activity,
improper conduct or unethical behaviour etc.
We encourage the whistleblowers to put their
name to any disclosures they make and ensure
that all such disclosures would be treated in a
confidential and sensitive manner.

3.4.2.Anti-corruption training

In our daily operations, we provide “Employee
Handbook” and “Employee Code of Conduct
and Ethics” for all employees as guidelines
for their behaviour, setting out the standards
of conduct that we expect every employee to
follow, including those related to acceptance,
provision of gifts or hospitality, conflict
of interest and employment with external
organisations during business solicitation. All
employees must complete professional ethics
training before joining the Group. During the
Reporting Period, the Group organised several
anti-corruption training activities for Directors
and employees to participate in and arranged
viewing of anti-corruption training videos, in
order to enhance their awareness of integrity
and anti-corruption capability.

In addition, in order to continue to strengthen
employees’ awareness of integrity and
self-discipline, the Group also regularly
communicates the importance of a culture
of integrity to employees through various
methods such as internal communications
and meetings, and encourages employees to
actively participate in different activities to build
integrity. Through these initiatives, we aim to
create a corporate environment of exceptional
integrity to ensure that our staff can always
adhere to the bottom line of professional ethics
and work together to promote the sustainable
development of the Group.
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT
4.1. Responding to Climate Change

The Group, in facing the severe challenges posed by
global climate change, has taken proactive actions
by offering a range of innovative services and
products through its two major business segments —
Green Carbon Reduction and Renewable Energy,
aiming to promote the development of all walks
of life in the society towards the direction of low-
carbon, environmentally-friendly, and sustainable
development.

In the Green Carbon Reduction Business Segment,
the Group developed and further enhanced
comprehensive services including the Dual Carbon
Accounting Platform, “Green Finance Open
Platform”, the one-stop digital platform for green
finance, and the Climate Shop. The Dual Carbon
Accounting Platform assists local governments,
parks, and enterprises in achieving the “dual
carbon” goals by providing a scientific basis for
decision-making; “Green Finance Open Platform”
lowers the threshold for various users to use green
financial tools, promoting the popularization and
development of green finance; the Climate Shop
focuses on providing safe and convenient carbon
asset trading solutions and services for individuals,
enterprises, and organizations.

In the Renewable Energy Business Segment, the
Group is involved in the graded utilization of lithium
batteries and new energy battery swapping business.
Through a series of services and products such as
graded utilization of lithium batteries and products,
new energy investment and construction, and
regional energy transformation and upgrading, the
Group actively promotes the green transition of the
energy industry and contributes to achieving carbon
neutrality.

In addition to the above two major business
segments, the Group has also actively launched
a series of activities to respond to climate
change. For example, the Zero Carbon School
initiative aims to promote the concept of low-
carbon and environmental protection, and
cultivate environmental awareness and a sense of
responsibility among the youth.
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The Group plays a core role in responding to climate REEEREREE(CTHE &R
change through its Green Carbon Reduction Business EBRIRBIBEZOIER - ZRIRED
Segment. The segment is committed to providing RIBHAMEERSE BELERIRS
full chain services from carbon asset development, 2GRS UREIFTEMIRZE T
operation and management to trading, as well as ek’ —ulZesmBEMLTAaNA
innovative carbon accounting platform services, one- 1REEJE - BB E - #5 BUS RAEA
stop digital platform for green finance and Climate BEEURSEEIR HEBSEL G RERER -

Shop, aiming to assist enterprises, local governments,
and individuals in achieving emission reduction
targets and promoting the transition of the economy
and society towards low carbon.

4.1.1.Green Carbon Reduction Business 4112 B RmER
The Green Carbon Reduction Business Segment HE R EBRIRERN EERIEE
plays a core role in the Group’s response to fbEE 7 E  BEEZOER %
climate change. The segment is committed to RO RERREEFRE - &
providing full chain services from carbon asset EERIRGNERERE AR
development, operation and management BRI E T 2 R - —uR
to trading, as well as innovative carbon gEesmEFEeaNaEEE 5
accounting platform services, one-stop digital BN A2 T BT RIEAER
platform for green finance and Climate Store, BEEE R BN e MR -

aiming to assist enterprises, local governments,
and individuals in achieving emission reduction
targets and promoting the transition of the
economy and society towards low carbon.

Carbon Asset Full Chain Services B E T ## 1K IR T

During the Reporting Period, the Group AEBRBEHANEVerraF & L
developed several carbon credit projects on FE&7ZERERER  BEKY
the Verra platform, including the successful A E AR ENHEIER
registration of the Xinxiang Yanmai Biogas LA K2 SERK & O T A B R IR e 3
Utilization Project as well as the issuance ERFE_HREAOEE LI
of carbon credits for the second phase of AEBMEEEWEYEFEEIEIR
the Yingkou MSW Incineration and Power BEREERBFTMRARERR
Generation Project. In addition, the Group’s R RIEFEER ©

Biaofa Juancheng Animal Manure Management
Project is currently in the final stage of applying
for registration as a carbon credit project.
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Carbon Accounting Platform Services

China Carbon Green Credit Technology
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Green Credit
Technology”), a subsidiary of the Group,
has developed a dual carbon accounting
management and control platform based on
the Green Credit Chain, which includes 24
carbon accounting methodologies released
by the National Development and Reform
Commission, providing comprehensive
solutions for the challenges and difficulties
faced by local governments, parks, and
enterprises in achieving the “dual carbon”
goals. In August 2024, the Group was awarded
the project to develop the Carbon Peak and
Carbon Neutrality Implementation Plan for the
Jiyuan Industrial-City Integration Demonstration
Zone Development Reform and Statistics
Bureau. The Group provided services to Jiyuan
City including a comprehensive assessment of
the current status of dual-carbon development,
implementation path research, and the
formulation of the carbon peak and carbon
neutrality implementation plan. In September
2024, the Group won another bid for the
Jiyuan Science and Technology Innovation
Group's dual-carbon digital platform project,
offering continuous and real-time data support
on corporate carbon emissions for Jiyuan's
dual-carbon development and providing
planning solutions for local enterprise carbon
neutrality.
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Official Product of China Eco
Development Association
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Dual-Carbon Digital monitoring and control Platform

EmBFLEEFE

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Climate Store

Climate Store is a specialized comprehensive
platform for carbon asset development,
management, and trading, dedicated to
helping clients reduce carbon emissions and
achieve energy-saving and environmental
protection goals. The Group is actively
promoting the global transition toward a net-
zero carbon future. It provides carbon asset
services for both corporate and individual
users, including carbon asset purchasing,
transfer, and offsetting, facilitating the global
circulation of carbon assets.

Additionally, the Group offers consulting
services such as dual-carbon planning, carbon
emissions accounting, carbon verification,
carbon footprint assessment, and EU carbon
border adjustment mechanisms. These services
assist enterprises in effectively managing and
optimizing their carbon assets, contributing
to the realization of a green economy and
sustainable development goals.
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Carbon Coin Technology Testing Project:

The Group's subsidiary Future Marvel Limited
has successfully completed the technical testing
of the "Carbon Coin" stablecoin, which is
pegged 1:1 to one kilogram of carbon credits.
Leveraging blockchain and smart contract
technologies, this innovation enables efficient,
transparent, and automated carbon credit
trading covering the full lifecycle management
of carbon accounts, carbon reduction projects,
and carbon credits. This solution addresses
challenges in the global carbon market such
as fragmentation, lack of standardization, and
transparency issues, enhancing the credibility
and efficiency of carbon credit data and
trading, while promoting tokenization and
financial innovation in carbon assets. The
deployment of Carbon Coin improves the
quality tracking and transparency of carbon
offset projects, accelerates carbon asset trading
and green asset financing, fosters the green
financial ecosystem, and supports sustainable
business growth and shareholder value for the
Group.

Carbon Credit Data Integration and Blockchain
On-Chain Project:

Additionally, during the Reporting Period, the
Group has completed data integration for the
Carbon Coin protocol, successfully registering
200,000 tons of biomass cogeneration
and renewable energy-related carbon
credits on the blockchain. Utilizing a dual-
chain architecture combining alliance chain
and public chain, the project ensures data
immutability, full traceability, and security,
while smart contracts facilitate registration,
certification, and circulation management of
carbon credits. On-chain carbon credits enable
transparent lifecycle management and efficient
transfer, enhancing data synchronization
and verification, supporting credible trading,
compliance, and regulatory coordination.
This digital innovation helps propel global
carbon asset trading, strengthens the Group’s
technology leadership in ESG, boosts market
competitiveness, and enhances its green brand
image.

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025

w1E AT BB A E S

7K £2 B j& T Future Marvel Limited 5%
Ih 52 A Bk 15 A 48 78 ¥ (Carbon Coin)
RS 2B T EAEERKE
BRI 1 ATRERHEE 1R - &
AEREREESHNEMERSK
BEPANMERARS  BERIEN
RRFEEE RiRERE2ETREAT
2 o WWRITBIF AR T 2ERIRT 5
HENMSEAL  EELERIK
FRETREEME ReTHRER
HENUEEMRSHE  TRHE
TIREAEENRE(LFSEAIE
A E B M E NME A B R R
BEEEERMNMERMFIBEE &
IR EER NGB EEMERN
R RESCORERZFESR
FEAEB A HFEEKIE RN
WA o

IRIEHIEE IR 4 K L #E TR
=)

BESN - R B AN SR B ST AR A
RRER €W BUREZ - R K
THEBMAEYEREMERE M
BEERERRERERRRBE -
9o ZEHERE (RERBEE D
) RREBIE T AT AN 2RIZE
HMzen TEBERAHNER
RIEAMERL ERRAEEE -
FRENRERERTEANEE
MERERNSBRE =BT TH
ERSMREREEN  XETHIRER
MAEEAE KXHBEREEHR
MmETHHEEERAREE - E—
BFERZBPREDHE2RMEE
R B BARRBIFEESG A A
ERMRLEE  BRIEEMEHRF
NMEREmER o



Cooperation on green fintech with Coinstreet
Holdings Limited

The Group has also signed a strategic
cooperation framework agreement with
Coinstreet Holdings Limited (”Coinstreet”),
focusing on equity and business collaborations
to drive innovation in green asset finance.
As part of this partnership, the Group
is considering a strategic investment in
Coinstreet’s securities token issuance platform,
CSpro, which operates under Hong Kong’s
legal and regulatory framework. CSpro
specializes in asset tokenization and the
issuance and distribution of security tokens
(STOs) for professional investors, enabling
the tokenization of green assets including
carbon assets. This cooperation aims to
promote the development and adoption of
innovative financial tools in the green asset
sector, facilitating carbon asset trading and
green asset financing. The collaboration
supports the construction of a green financial
ecosystem, enhances market transparency
and regulatory compliance, and strengthens
the Group’s leadership in sustainable finance
technology. The Group believes this strategic
partnership will bring sustainable business
growth, financial returns, and serve as a solid
foundation for further expansion, enhancing
overall shareholder value and commitment to
ESG principles.
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4.1.2.Renewable Energy Business

Years ago, the Group made significant progress
in the renewable energy business segment
under the climate change initiative. Through
the completion of the acquisition of 60%
equity in *Henan Zailiang New Renewable
Energy Company Limited (“Zailiang New
Energy”) (NEBRMERBEARAD
A]) and the launch of the “Neutralization
New Energy” brand, the Group has officially
entered the renewable energy sector, which
primarily focuses on the graded utilization
and dismantling recycling of batteries, aiming
to reuse or resource waste batteries and
materials, thereby extracting their intrinsic
value. This initiative seeks to reduce new
battery production, lower pollution during
battery processing, and significantly decrease
carbon emissions in the application of new
energy.

In relation to this China Carbon Renewable
Energy (Shenzhen) Limited (“China Carbon
Renewable Energy”) (7 fix B 4 828 CRII)
BRAF]), as an important part of the Group,
focuses on providing new energy battery
cascade utilization energy storage products,
distributed photovoltaic power generation,
and new energy infrastructure financing and
construction business. Its subsidiary, Zailiang
New Energy, was included in the fourth batch
of “white-list enterprises” for meeting the
“Industry Standards and Conditions for the
Comprehensive Utilization of Waste Power
Batteries for New Energy Vehicles” issued
by the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of China, highlighting the Group’s
professional capabilities and market position in
the renewable energy sector.
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Relying on the business capabilities and
qualifications of Zailiang New Energy, the
Group further developed the full lifecycle value
chain business for power batteries, establishing
a new energy full lifecycle value chain from
the safe recycling of waste batteries, battery
pack remanufacturing, graded utilization
to recycling of raw material. Through
collaboration with downstream enterprises, the
Group has provided manufacturers with high-
quality battery products for graded utilization
of electric two-wheeled vehicles, electric
tricycles, golf carts, and tour buses, promoting
the circular development of the new energy
industry chain.

In addition, the Group has developed the
Xunli.com, an integrated online and offline
platform focused on leveraging cutting-edge
technologies such as blockchain and artificial
intelligence, we have developed an integrated
digital platform for the new energy battery
industry that unites information, trading, data,
and finance across the lithium battery recycling
sector.

The platform centers on the innovative
integration of “industry+technology+finance”,
providing comprehensive industry chain
services including intelligent bidding and
matchmaking, whitelist qualification sharing,
carefully selected supplier-demand linkages,
and lithium battery recycling. It also offers
financial-industry integrated products such as
battery banks and lithium battery financing.
Through a blockchain-based traceability
system, the platform ensures trusted data
certification throughout the industry chain.

Looking ahead, with the robust growth of
China’s new energy sector, and leveraging
our group’s resource advantages, the platform
is dedicated to building a professional,
transparent, and secure comprehensive
lithium battery trading service platform valued
at hundreds of billions. This effort aims to
contribute to the high-quality and sustainable
development of the lithium battery industry,
achieving a multi-win outcome in economic,
social, and environmental benefits.
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Secondly, in the field of new energy investment
and construction within the renewable energy
business, the Group provides investment
services for new energy construction projects
for factories and enterprises, along with a
full set of energy storage and photovoltaic
power generation technology equipment.
These projects not only serve as demonstration
projects for the graded utilization of batteries,
but also help enterprises secure government
policy and funding support. The Group also
provides regional energy transformation
and upgrading investment services to
parks and local governments, assisting
governments, parks, and enterprises to realize
a comprehensive and accurate grasp of their
own carbon emission data.

On this basis, the Group invested in
participating in the formulation and
implementation of specific requirements for
comprehensive energy management services
and energy transformation upgrade plans in
local municipalities, assisting in achieving the
dual-carbon goals. These projects cover various
aspects including energy planning and energy-
saving retrofit services, energy management
and operation and maintenance services,
energy efficiency diagnosis and improvement
services, demand management and demand
response services, investment and operation
services, engineering and construction services,
and energy trading services.
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In addition, the Group actively responds to
the national green development strategy by
innovatively launching the “Urban Smart
Energy Storage and Battery Swap Microgrid”
service model. This model is developed by
Zailiang New Energy, a subsidiary of the
Group, in collaboration with Huizhou EVE
Energy Company Limited (“EVE Energy”),
jointly creating a closed-loop system for lithium
battery supply, battery swapping, and recycling
for regenerative use.

Moreover, East Easy Electricity Limited (“East
Easy Electricity”), a subsidiary of the Group,
is the first to adopt this model and deeply
integrates it with microgrid and virtual power
plant platforms, further enhancing energy
management, forecasting, and optimization
capabilities. This initiative not only addresses
safety hazards related to electric bicycles,
charging safety, and retired lithium battery
recycling but also improves the convenience
and safety of urban travel and charging for
residents. It sets a benchmark for green urban
mobility, strengthens the resilience of the city’s
energy systems, and drives the transformation
of urban energy infrastructure to support the
achievement of carbon neutrality goals.
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New Energy Strategic Cooperation and Dual-
Carbon Digitalization Platform

The Group has entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with *Beijing
Zhonghong Lanhai Animal Husbandry
Technology Development Company Limited
("Beijing Zhonghong Lanhai”) to jointly
promote carbon peak and carbon neutrality
goals by establishing a "dual-carbon digital
control command platform" that enables
full-process digital management of carbon
emissions and energy consumption, enhancing
monitoring accuracy and data transparency
to facilitate scientific carbon resource
development and trading. The project also
includes the construction of new energy vehicle
charging piles and integrated photovoltaic-
storage-charging public infrastructure,
promoting the development of smart charging
networks and advancing the green new energy
transportation system by accelerating the
replacement of traditional vehicles with new
energy vehicles.

Furthermore, the establishment of an intelligent
power battery recycling system improves lithium
battery recycling and reuse efficiency, fostering
a green circular economy within the industry
chain, thereby strengthening environmental
sustainability and reflecting comprehensive
environmental responsibility and effective
corporate governance.
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Photo of the Group and Beijing Zhonghong Lanhai at the signing ceremony
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4.1.3.0rganising Activities

4.13.1. “Zero Carbon School”

In 2023, the Group took an active role
in responding to climate change by
organizing the “Zero Carbon School”
activity with Pui Ching Middle School
Macau. The activity upheld an innovative
concept that if everyone in the school
can purchase 7 tons of certified voluntary
emission reductions to offset an average
of 7 tons of CO, emissions per person
per year, the entire school can achieve
“net zero emissions” during the year and
be awarded the title of “Zero Carbon
School”. Pui Ching Middle School Macau,
as the first “National Zero Carbon School
Pilot Unit” designated by the China Eco
Development Association, has, under
the promotion of this activity, already
had hundreds of students recognized as
“Zero Carbon Citizens”. These students
not only actively promote a low-carbon
lifestyle in their daily lives but also
effectively offset their annual carbon
emissions by purchasing carbon credits
at the end of the year, truly fulfilling the
responsibility and commitment of being
“Zero Carbon Citizens”.

Pui Ching Middle School Macau as the pilot unit of

"“Zero Carbon School”
[ R DRPIEIER S5 5
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In order to further promote the concepts
of “Zero Carbon School” and “Zero
Carbon Citizen”, the Group has jointly
developed relevant standards together
with China Eco Development Association.
With Pui Ching Middle School Macau as
a pilot unit, we accumulated experience
and aimed to promote this model
nationwide.

The approach stresses not only individual
carbon responsibility by cultivating
“Zero Carbon Citizens” but also the
importance of collective action combined
with educational outreach, encouraging
energy conservation, carbon reduction,
and sustainable lifestyles among
students and staff. By establishing
unified standards and fostering a
carbon-neutral education system,
the “Zero Carbon Schools” project is
progressively expanding to more schools,
contributing to global climate change
mitigation and the development of
a green and low-carbon society. The
Group will continue to collaborate with
relevant organizations to deepen the
promotion of “Zero Carbon Schools”
and “Zero Carbon Citizens”, supporting
the cultivation of environmentally
conscious and responsible young
generations, and achieving the
integration of environmental protection,
social participation, and educational
responsibilities.
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4.2 Ecological Governance

4.2.1. Saline-Alkali Land Ecological Restoration
and Carbon Sink Resource Development
Project

The Group collaborates extensively with
Zhongnong Haida on ecological restoration
of saline-alkali land and cultivation of salt-
tolerant crops. The phased implementation
plan initiates a 1 million mu core saline-
alkali land improvement planting project in
China in 2025, with a medium to long-term
plan to extend comprehensive utilization
and carbon sink restoration projects to 200
million mu domestically and internationally.
This project emphasizes the cultivation of
carbon management professionals, supporting
local governments and enterprises in building
scientific and standardized carbon neutrality
management teams, effectively empowering
green industrial development and regional
economic transformation, enhancing social
responsibility, and promoting environmental
sustainability through ecological agriculture
practices. This demonstrates the Group’s deep
commitment to social and environmental
responsibilities under ESG principles.

4.3. Green Construction

The Group continues to uphold the concept of
sustainable development, committed to innovation
and practice in the field of green construction. Based
on the nature of our business, we continuously
optimize green construction processes and
strengthen the environmental management system
to ensure all projects comply with 1SO14001:2015
certification standards, promoting the industry’s
green transformation.

Regarding hazardous and non-hazardous solid
waste, we strictly implement the 3R policy, namely
Reduce, Reuse, and Recycle. By formulating detailed
work plans and site management measures, we have
effectively prevented over-ordering of materials and
cross-contamination, minimizing waste generation to
the greatest extent. Meanwhile, we actively promote
the recycling of construction materials, such as
wood, metal parts, plastics, and paper packaging, to
ensure the maximization of resource utilization.

We work closely with our subcontractors to jointly
comply with environmental regulations, implement
classified collection and disposal of waste, and ensure
harmless treatment. During the reporting period,
we did not experience any environmental pollution
incidents due to improper waste management.
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4.4.
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To continuously enhance green construction
standards, we are increasing investment in
technological innovation and actively introducing
and applying new technologies and new materials.
For example, we use Building Information Modelling
(BIM) technology for project design and management
to enhance design accuracy and construction
efficiency; at the same time, we explore the
application of smart construction technologies, such
as prefabricated buildings and robotic construction,
to further reduce energy consumption and emissions
during the construction process.

Environmental Management

As a leading enterprise engaged in carbon neutral-
related business globally, the Group is acutely aware
of its significant responsibility in environmental
protection. We are not only committed to
conducting our business in an environmentally
responsible manner, but also actively promoting
practices of environmental protection and sustainable
development. We firmly believe that successful
environmental management strategies are crucial
for meeting the growing environmental demands of
our customers, ensuring long-term sound business
growth, and achieving the Company’s sustainable
development goals. Thus, we continuously set and
review environmental objectives to minimize our
environmental footprint and constantly explore
and implement new environmental improvement
measures.

In terms of environmental protection, we deeply
integrate environmental responsibility with the
Group’s business operations to ensure that
environmental factors are fully considered in
all business activities. We strictly comply with
relevant environmental laws and regulations in
the locations of our operations to ensure that our
business activities are conducted in a proper and
responsible manner, thereby effectively managing
and minimizing our impact on the environment. The
main environmental laws and regulations we follow
include:

. Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311)

° Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354)

. Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358)
o Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400)

o Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Cap. 466)

° Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance
(Cap. 499)
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In addition, during Reporting Period, we further
strengthened our commitment to environmental
management by not only complying with all relevant
environmental laws and regulations but also actively
taking additional measures to reduce negative
environmental impacts. We thoroughly implement
the concept of green operation, guiding the Group’s
daily operations and site management through
resource conservation, carbon emission reduction,
and the implementation of environmental protection
measures. We also actively share these innovative
environmental concepts with our customers,
suppliers, and subcontractors, jointly committed to
protecting natural resources.

We also implemented a range of environmental
management policies and procedures based on
the environmental regulations and standards of
the locations where we operate, including but not
limited to environmental management policies and
waste management guidelines. We are pleased
to report that during the Reporting Period, the
Group did not experience any violations of relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

Green Operation

Our environmental management system continues to
maintain 1SO14001:2015 certification, reflecting our
excellent commitment and practices in environmental
management. Under the strict framework of the
system, we have not only maintained systematic
management of resource utilization efficiency
and emission control but also further advanced
the continuous upgrading and optimization of
environmental management. We have particularly
strengthened comprehensive monitoring and in-
depth analysis of environmental data, including
key indicators such as energy and material usage,
carbon emissions, water consumption, and waste
generation, to ensure that all our operational
activities strictly comply with and exceed the
environmental protection regulations and emission
standards of the locations where we operate.
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4.5.1.Emission Management
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Exhaust Gas and Wastewater Emission
Management

The air pollutants generated by the Group
mainly stem from vehicle operations, primarily
including nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides
(SOx), and particulate matter (PM). During
Reporting Period, the emission amounts of
these air pollutants are similar to last year. In
2024, nitrogen oxides emissions were 0.30
tons, sulfur oxides emissions were 0.004
tons, and particulate matter emissions were
0.03 tons; in 2025, nitrogen oxides emissions
were 0.26 tons, sulfur oxides emissions were
0.003 tons, and particulate matter emissions
were 0.03 tons. In response to climate
change, the Group has strengthened its
commitment to reducing exhaust emissions. It
not only encourages employees to use public
transportation whenever possible but also
implements more refined travel management
measures, such as optimizing route planning
with intelligent scheduling systems, to further
reduce energy consumption and pollution
during travel.

To deepen employees’ awareness of energy
conservation and emission reduction, we have
not only formulated a business travel savings
policy but also introduced a green travel
incentive mechanism to encourage employees
to adopt low-carbon travel methods. For
official vehicles, we have updated the vehicle
management measures, introduced a more
stringent approval process, and require all
vehicle use departments to provide energy
conservation and emission reduction plans
when applying. Further, we have intensified
training for drivers to enhance their energy-
efficient driving skills, ensuring optimal energy-
saving performance on every journey.
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In terms of wastewater treatment, the Group
continues to implement the wastewater
recycling policy, achieving reuse not only in
construction wastewater but also extending
this policy to other wastewater treatment
processes in production, further enhancing the
efficiency of water resource utilization.

Management of Hazardous and Non-
Hazardous Solid Waste

The Group places great emphasis on the
hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste
generated during operations, aiming to reduce
the production of such waste. In the production
process of battery cascade utilization, we
strictly comply with the environmental laws
and regulations of the operation location,
taking a series of measures to prevent pollution
caused by project operations and mitigate
potential environmental impacts. For the waste
generated during the production process, we
follow the 3R policy, adopting various methods
including waste management strategies,
prioritizing avoidance and minimization of
waste generation, reuse of materials, recovery
and recycling, to mitigate the negative impact
on the environment.

The waste disposal measures adopted by the
Group specifically include:

o Fully comply with statutory requirements,
minimize, transport and dispose of all
waste that cannot be reused or recycled;

o Monitoring the performance of our
subcontractors to ensure their compliance
with our environmental requirements;

o Inspecting the materials discarded in
trash receptacles and other containers
during routine safety and environmental
inspections to ensure compliant disposal.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any serious violations of laws
and regulations relating to gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and the
generation of hazardous or non-hazardous
waste, nor did it have any significant impact
on the Group. Meanwhile, the production
processes of each subsidiary strictly comply
with local environmental protection
requirements, continuously promoting green
and sustainable development.
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4.5.2.Resources Management

Energy Management

The Group is committed to conducting its
business in an environmentally responsible
manner, aiming to reduce energy usage and
mitigate adverse environmental impacts. In
order to reduce our environmental footprint
in the workplace, we continuously seek
opportunities to reduce unnecessary energy
consumption, including but not limited to
implementing a series of energy-saving and
consumption-reducing policies or reducing
energy use in office and engineering
operations.

The Group has established a green office policy
to encourage employees to cultivate electricity-
saving awareness in their daily office activities,
aiming to achieve green and low-carbon office
practices. This policy includes:

. Switch off air conditioning system when
not in use;

° Strictly control the starting temperature
of the air conditioner, and under general
conditions, keep the air conditioner
temperature at the standard 25.5
degrees,

° Procuring energy-efficient appliances;

. Replacing old tubes with energy-efficient
LED lamps;

o Arrange lighting zoning to ensure that
only required lighting is switched on; and

o Electric appliances must be turned off
when unattended to reduce the standby
energy consumption of office equipment
such as computers.

In addition, the Group also has an electricity
management program, which strictly requires
all departments to use and conserve energy
efficiently. The Group’s Administration and
Human Resources Department is responsible
for providing training on the use of electricity
and arranging induction training for new
employees, which includes environmental
protection facilities and equipment operation
procedures, to ensure that each new employee
has adequate knowledge and methods to
eliminate incorrect use of equipment, thereby
reducing unnecessary energy consumption.
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For energy used in the engineering business,
during the Reporting Period, the Group
continued to use B5 biodiesel in its engineering
operations to reduce pollutant emissions,
demonstrating its ongoing commitment to
environmental protection.

Water Resources Management

The Group mainly uses water supplied by the
government. During the Reporting Period,
no issues were encountered in using water
resources. The Group aims to reduce water
usage, consistently emphasizing the use of
water resources and implementing various
measures. The Human Resources Department
is tasked with executing water conservation
measures, encouraging every employee to fully
utilize water resources and minimize waste.

Management of other resources

The Group is well aware that the earth’s
natural resources are limited. Thus, apart
from implementing various measures to
manage resource consumption, we have also
implemented different policies to manage
the impact of our business operations on the
environment and natural resources.

Paper is an important resource consumed
in the Group’s daily business operations. To
mitigate environmental impact and minimize
paper consumption, the Group focuses on
developing recycling measures and requires
all employees to minimize the use of office
resources such as paper and printers. We
also encourage employees to set printers to
double-sided printing mode, check the file
format before copying or printing, use both
sides of the paper or reuse single-sided printed
paper as much as possible, and place waste
paper used on both sides into recycling bins
for handling by qualified recyclers. In addition,
the Group continues to actively promote the
"Paperless Office”, encouraging employees
to transmit information and documents in
electronic format, reduce photocopying
and printing, or store drawings and product
information electronically to facilitate data
search, management, and sharing, further
reducing dependence on and consumption of

paper.
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5. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
5.1. Employment

106

5.1.1.Protection of Employees’ Rights

The Group continuously recognizes that talent
is the core driver of corporate sustainable
development. Therefore, we are constantly
deepening our commitment to talent
management and the protection of employees’
rights. During Reporting Period, we not
only maintained the high standards of the
previous year in employment and protection of
employees’ rights but also further promoted
the optimization and innovation of related
policies and measures to better safeguard
employee welfare and promote a harmonious
and inclusive working environment.

51.1.1. Employment Management

The Group continues to be committed
to creating a non-discriminatory,
diversified, fair and harmonious working
environment, strictly complying with
relevant laws and regulations such as the
Labour Law of the People’'s Republic of
China and the Employment Ordinance
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, while proactively exceeding
statutory requirements by implementing
more detailed and humane management
measures. We have enhanced the
transparency and fairness of the
recruitment process by introducing a
digital recruitment platform, ensuring
that every step of the recruitment process
adheres to the principles of fairness,
openness and impartiality, effectively
avoiding any form of discrimination and
bias.

In terms of employment, we not only
comply with the legal requirements of
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, the
Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
and the Race Discrimination Ordinance,
but also actively promote a culture of
diversity and inclusion, fostering equality
in terms of gender, age, race, religion
and physical ability. Furthermore, we
have introduced an anonymous feedback
channel to encourage employees to
report any potential discriminatory
behavior, ensuring that every employee
can speak up in a fearless environment.
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To promote personal growth and career
development of employees, a clear
career development path and diverse
learning opportunities are provided for
employees. We conduct a comprehensive
evaluation based on employees’
educational background, professional
skills, job performance and potential to
ensure the fairness and reasonableness
of promotion opportunities. Meanwhile,
through regular discussions on career
development planning, we help
employees identify their career goals
and achieve mutual growth with the
company.

5.1.1.2 Avoid Child and Forced Labour

Management

In preventing child labour and forced
labour, the Group continues to
implement strict policies and procedures,
not only strictly complying with relevant
laws and regulations but also enhancing
internal supervision and external
cooperation to ensure that every aspect
of the supply chain adheres to ethical
and legal standards. We have signed
strict ethical procurement agreements
with suppliers and partners, requiring
them to comply with anti-child and
forced labour regulations, and conduct
regular audits and training.

To further enhance preventive
mechanisms, we continue to advance the
following measures:

o Signing labour contracts or
internship agreements with all
employees on an equal and
voluntary basis;

o Never detaining the employee’s
resident identity card, temporary
residence permits and other
personal identification documents;

o Strictly prohibiting any department
or anyone to physically punish,
beat, frisk and insult employees,
and to lock up the workplace
and dormitory to restrict personal
freedom of employees;
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o Prohibiting any department or
anyone to force employees to
work by means of violence, threat
or illegal restriction of personal
freedom.

During Reporting Period, the Group
made progress in protecting employees’
rights, not only consolidating existing
achievements but also creating a safer,
healthier and fairer working environment
through continuous innovation and
practice, promoting the implementation
of corporate sustainable development
and social responsibilities. We believe
that only by respecting and protecting
the rights of every employee can we
jointly build a better future.

5.1.2.Employee Remuneration and Benefits

The Group recognizes that employees are
the most valuable asset of the enterprise.
Therefore, during Reporting Period, we remain
committed to providing a market-competitive
remuneration and benefits system to fully
acknowledge and incentivize employees’
contributions and efforts. We continuously
optimize our remuneration structure by
referencing industry best practices and the
personal abilities, qualifications and experience
of employees to ensure that our compensation
and benefits policy is both fair and attractive.

5.1.2.1. Remuneration System and Performance
Evaluation

We have established a comprehensive
and transparent performance evaluation
mechanism aimed at assessing
employees’ work performance openly
and fairly. Through regular performance
reviews, we can not only accurately
measure employees’ contributions but
also provide them with personalized
career development advice. Based on
the performance assessment results, we
adjust remuneration levels to ensure
that outstanding employees receive
their deserved rewards. Meanwhile, we
regularly review market trends, company
performance and individual qualifications
and performance to flexibly adjust
remuneration policies, maintaining their
competitiveness and adaptability.
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5122 T{EE4ZFiE

The Group believes that the work-life
balance for employees is the key to
enhancing overall work efficiency and
creativity. Therefore, we strictly comply
with relevant laws and regulations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong to
ensure that employees’ rest periods and
leave entitlements are fully protected.
In addition, we actively foster a united
and harmonious working atmosphere, as
well as a warm and comfortable working
environment, focusing on the physical
and mental health and family well-being
of our employees. To further enhance
employees’ sense of belonging, we have
introduced the following new initiatives:

o Flexible working system: Providing
flexible working hours and remote
work options based on the nature
of the work and individual needs
to help employees better balance
work and personal life.

o Family-friendly policies: Provide
additional leave and care for
employees with special family
needs, such as parental leave and
family care leave.

51.2.3 Employee Benefits and Incentives

In terms of employee benefits, we
continue to offer a wide range of
benefits to meet the diverse needs of our
employees. In addition to discretionary
bonus payments, we also implement a
mandatory provident fund scheme for
employees in Hong Kong and a state-
funded retirement plan for employees in
Mainland China to ensure the long-term
financial security of our employees. For
employees with outstanding performance
or significant contributions to the Group,
we grant share options to share in the
growth results of the Company

In summary, the Group continues to be
committed to building a fair, competitive,
and comprehensive remuneration and
benefits system during Reporting Period
to reward employees for their hard
work, enhance their job satisfaction and
sense of belonging, thereby promoting
the sustainable development of the
enterprise.
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5.1.3.Employee Development and Training

The Group has always believed that the
growth and development of employees are the
core driving forces for promoting continuous
progress and innovation of the enterprise.
During Reporting Period, we not only
continued our strong emphasis on employee
development and training, but also increased
our investment efforts, aiming to build a more
comprehensive and diverse training system
to fully support the career development
and personal capacity enhancement of our

employees.

5.1.3.1. Optimization of the Internal Training

System

In order to more precisely meet the
training needs of employees, the
Group has comprehensively optimized
its internal training system. We have
established a more detailed training
needs analysis mechanism to gain an
in-depth understanding of employees’
training expectations and career
development goals through regular
surveys, performance feedback and
career development planning discussions.
On this basis, the Human Resources
Department and the operation team
worked closely to develop more
personalized and targeted training
plans, covering various aspects such
as professional knowledge in the
carbon neutral field, listing rules, risk
management, labour regulations and
employee code of conduct, ensuring
that employees can timely acquire the
latest knowledge and skills to meet job

requirements.
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Carbon Neutrality

In view of the rapid development and
technological innovation in the field
of carbon neutrality, the Group has
particularly strengthened its investment
in training in emerging technologies
and the carbon neutrality sector during
Reporting Period. We have introduced
training courses and materials on
cutting-edge industry technologies and
management practices, inviting experts
in the field to conduct lectures, aiming
to enhance employees’ professional
knowledge and skills in new energy,
energy saving and emission reduction,
and carbon trading, providing strong
talent support for the business expansion
and technological innovation of the
Group

The Group placed unprecedented
emphasis and investment in employee
development and training during
Reporting Period. Through the
establishment of a comprehensive
training system, expansion of external
training resources, and enhancement
of training in emerging technologies
and the carbon neutrality field, the
Group significantly improved employees’
professional skills and overall capabilities,
laying a solid talent foundation for
the sustainable development of the
Company.
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5.1.4.Employee Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees is always
the top priority for the Group. We are fully
aware that a safe and healthy working
environment is the cornerstone of employee
efficiency and the sustainable development
of the enterprise. Therefore, during Reporting
Period, we continue to be committed to
enhancing the management standards of
employee health and safety, ensuring their
physical and mental well-being at work
through a series of measures. We are proud
of the fact that with the concerted efforts of
all employees, we achieved an outstanding
result of zero lost workdays due to work-
related injuries during the year, which not only
reflects the high importance we attach to the
health and safety of our employees, but also
demonstrates the excellent results of our safety

management.

5.14.1. Optimization of Health and Safety
Management System

Our occupational health and safety
management system has obtained
ISO45001:2018 certification, which
signifies that our management system
is aligned with international standard
best practices. During Reporting Period,
we further optimized this system to
ensure it aligns more closely with actual
operational needs. We work closely
with our subcontractors to ensure
that all subcontracted workers receive
comprehensive safety training at all
stages of the project, thereby effectively

reducing workplace risks.

5142 Risk Identification and Response

To enhance employees’ ability to identify
risks, we require the safety officer at each
operational site to strictly implement
health and safety-related tasks, including
conducting regular safety inspections,
performing risk assessments, developing
control measures and conducting safety
incident investigations. In addition, we
also encourage employees and workers
to report potential risks through various
channels, such as reporting safety risks
to safety officers or site managers, or
participating in safety meetings. These
measures help us to promptly identify

and address potential safety hazards.
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5143 Emergency Preparation and Response 5143 [ESE G L E

To enhance the emergency preparedness
and response capability of employees,
we require all operating companies to
formulate emergency response plans
according to the national laws and
regulations of their operating locations
and conduct emergency drills and safety
exercises periodically. These activities not
only enhanced employees’ emergency
awareness but also ensured that they
can take swift and effective response
measures in emergency situations.

5144 Training and Publicity

During Reporting Period, we continue
to intensify training and publicity efforts
in employee health and safety. We
regularly arrange education and training
focused on the safe use of equipment,
accident prevention and handling,
emergency management and rescue,
production safety and corresponding
laws and regulations and fire protection
knowledge to help employees enhance
their occupational safety and health
knowledge and skills. At the same time,
we also enhance employees’ awareness
of health and safety-related matters
through promotional activities and
recognize employees who perform well
in health and safety, to promote the
construction of an occupational health
and safety culture.

5145 Achievements and Outlook

Benefiting from effective implementation
of the aforementioned measures, the
Group continued to maintain a good
employee health and safety record during
Reporting Period. In the past three years
(including the Reporting Period), the
Group had no work-related employee
fatalities. Looking ahead, we will
continue to enhance the management
level of employee health and safety,
creating a safer and healthier working
environment for our employees.
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5.2. Products and Services
5.2.1.Quality Control

114

The Group remains committed to upholding
product responsibility. During Reporting Period,
we maintained high standards of quality
control, with no major violations related to
the health, safety and privacy of the products
and services provided, nor any adverse impact
on our operations. We adhere to operating
with integrity, and all promotions of products
and services comply with relevant laws and
regulations, without involving any false
advertising or misleading labeling.

In terms of quality control of the Civil
Engineering and Construction Business,
we have deepened our understanding and
practice of the “quality is reputation” concept.
During the period, we not only continue to
strictly follow the 1SO9001:2015 standard
to implement the quality control system, but
also further optimized internal processes and
strengthened quality control at every stage from
design to construction. The project team has
received more systematic and in-depth quality
control training and introduced advanced
testing technologies and equipment to ensure
that the quality of construction, installation
works and materials is comprehensively
monitored, verified and validated before
delivery. In addition, we have established a
more comprehensive post-tracking mechanism.
The project team conducts regular follow-ups
and inspections on completed works to ensure
long-term compliance with the specifications
and requirements stipulated in the contract,
thereby enhancing customer satisfaction and
project durability.
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As a pioneer in the integration of blockchain
and dual carbon economy, Green Credit
Technology, a subsidiary of the Group,
continues to leverage its financial-grade trusted
collaborative network, the Green Credit
Chain, to drive the digital transformation of
the industry. During the period, on the basis
of maintaining the 1S09001:2015 quality
control system certification (certification
scope: development of computer application
software), the Company further optimized the
software development process, strengthened
code review and testing phases, ensuring
that the development quality of computer
application software reaches an international
advanced level, assisting more enterprises
and individuals in building blockchain-based
digital credit systems, and achieving efficient
connectivity in green finance.

During Reporting Period, the Group did
not receive any formal complaints about
its products and services, which not only
affirms our past efforts but also drives us
to continuously improve service quality and
customer experience in the future. We will
continue to adhere to the strategy of high
quality development and continuous innovation
to provide customers with safer, more reliable
and environmentally friendly products and
services.

5.2.2.Customer Privacy Management

The Group deeply understands the critical
importance of protecting the personal privacy
of suppliers and customers in the era of
digital transformation. On this basis, we have
not only maintained the original stringent
guidelines for personal data and privacy
protection monitoring but also conducted a
comprehensive review and upgrade during
Reporting Period to ensure alignment with
the latest data protection regulations and
international standards.
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Sensitive information of customers and
suppliers is regarded as the core confidential
data of the Group, with access strictly
controlled and limited to authorized personnel
only when necessary. In order to further
strengthen data security awareness, the Group
has organized regular training for all employees
to ensure that each employee thoroughly
understands and implements the Group's
confidentiality policy, especially regarding the
standard procedures for handling personal
data and sensitive information.

It is particularly worth mentioning that
Green Credit Technology, through its
innovative “Green Credit Chain” platform
(www.tgct.com.cn), has achieved efficient
connectivity and financial service support
for dual carbon enterprises while ensuring
customer privacy. The platform leverages the
decentralized and tamper-proof characteristics
of blockchain technology, combined with green
and low-carbon standard systems, to provide
participants with a secure and transparent
collaborative environment. Through the “Green
Credit Chain”, enterprises can demonstrate
their credit status without disclosing sensitive
information, establishing trust with financial
institutions, thereby facilitating the precise
flow of green financial resources to low-carbon
industries.
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Furthermore, the Group is continuously
committed to protecting the intellectual
property rights and trademarks of its suppliers.
Not only has it strengthened its internal
intellectual property management system, but
it has also established a close communication
mechanism with suppliers to ensure that the
business interests and confidential information
of both parties are properly safeguarded.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not experience any major violations related
to customer privacy protection, nor were
there any instances of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, highlighting our
strong commitment and excellent practices in
customer privacy management. In the future,
we will continue to explore more innovative
channels, leveraging technology to empower
privacy protection, and provide customers with
a more secure and reliable service experience.

5.2.3.Supply Chain Management

The Group continuously recognizes the core
role of supply chain management in promoting
corporate sustainable development and
regards supply chain competitiveness as a key
component of the strategic advantage of the
Group. We adhere to the principle of balancing
quality and efficiency, while deepening our
commitment to supply chain transparency and
social responsibility.

Our supply chain network extensively covers
office supplies and subcontractors and
suppliers in the construction engineering
sector. In the procurement process, we not
only adhere to stringent supplier evaluation
standards, but also further strengthened
this system during Reporting Period by
introducing more diversified evaluation criteria,
such as suppliers’ sustainability practices,
carbon footprint management and social
responsibility performance. This ensures that in
selecting partners, we not only consider cost-
effectiveness but also place high importance
on their contributions to society and the
environment.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERERSE

SN REEFBERNNRENRE
BEABERE R EBIEED - TEMN
BT A MBEREIERE &
BEERHEY T BT AR AR
BRETHBENZE RREEMEF
P %

EHEHEAA AREREHELME
MEEFPRLRERENERER
=M BAREREAERBBER
ERWBER  EBRTHRMAEEPRE
FEBRHENRERERS T -
AE - BPBBERREZAIFE
B ABERERERLERE  AEP
RHEMNZE - AIENRBER -

5.2.3.{tEEEE
NEBFERBIHEEREEEHER
EEOEAFEERENZOIER
WG EERT R AL EEKE
BERAKSE S  c RFBIFEE
HMRIYEN R - RSFECE
EGBERENMtE B EREE -

B EERREEZBEEZRAY
BHENANEZETREASNDBH
B ER ARBERES  HMT
EBERBERSOEREFIHEE M
BEREHRNE— PRl TiE 8B
Z SIATEZLLWFHEEE
MEEFMAFERREE k2
DEEMHEETRES - EHER
THEMEREBEAIERERE BTE
BARAGRZEN  EeEEREEMT
SHNIRBEHEE ©

FEBFNEREEERAT / Fk 2025 117



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiE #HE2RERRE

118

For construction engineering projects, we
have enhanced our collaboration mechanisms
with subcontractors and suppliers. Through a
well-established and continuously optimized
selection policy and control program, we
conduct a comprehensive and detailed
assessment of our partners’ reputation,
professional capabilities, quality of work,
historical experience and environmental
awareness. During the project execution
period, we implement continuous performance
monitoring and take robust measures to ensure
that the procured data and services meet the
high standard requirements of the project.
Annual supplier performance evaluation
is routinely conducted to determine their
continued retention on our list of approved
suppliers.

To promote the overall sustainability of the
supply chain, we have developed a more
detailed “Supplier Code of Conduct and
Procurement Policy”, accompanied by targeted
training that emphasizes the importance of
environmental management, health and safety
and compliance operations. We have increased
the frequency and depth of on-site inspections
to ensure that subcontractors and suppliers
strictly adhere to these guidelines. Specifically,
we require all construction subcontractors
to adopt good labour practices, including
but not limited to operating with integrity,
safeguarding employee rights as well as
complying with laws and regulations. Given
the core focus of the carbon neutral business
of the Group, we place particular emphasis on
the environmental performance of suppliers
and subcontractors. Through regular meetings
and communication, we ensure that they
and their employees thoroughly understand
and implement our environmental protection

policy.
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In addition, to promote local economic
development, we continue to prioritize working
with local subcontractors in Hong Kong and
actively explore the possibility of incorporating
more small and medium-sized enterprises and
social enterprises into the supply chain, aiming
to support the growth and innovation of local
businesses through practical actions.

The Group not only maintained high
standards of supply chain management during
Reporting Period, but also further enhanced
the sustainability, transparency and social
responsibility of the supply chain through a
series of innovative initiatives, laying a solid
foundation for the long-term development of
the Group.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to deepen its
carbon neutral business layout by relying on its two core
segments of green carbon reduction and renewable
energy, and continue to innovate its business model
and technological applications in order to provide more
comprehensive and efficient carbon neutral solutions.
We will further expand our carbon asset development
and trading, green financial services, new energy project
construction and other areas to help governments,
enterprises and individuals realize their carbon emission
reduction targets and promote the development of the
economy and society in the direction of low-carbon,
green and sustainable development. Meanwhile, we will
strengthen its social responsibility and brand building
by enhancing the protection of employees’ rights and
interests, promoting community engagement and public
welfare activities, raising public awareness of environmental
protection, and building a responsible corporate image.
We firmly believe that through continuous efforts and
innovation, the Group will contribute more to the
realization of global carbon neutrality and create a better
future for mankind and nature in harmony.
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7. PERFORMANCE DATA OF THE GROUP 7. AEENERHE
The statistics and calculations used in this Report are KEMFEANBBRARFEREEGETT
appropriately referenced. Previous data and information HEFRH - BTEBRRENBLBMRES]R -
have been collated and presented. For environmental data, BRIRIEEEMNEIE 2025 FENEET2E
the data for Year 2025 excludes carbon neutral related R BRI R FAAEER - LN RiE
business in Mainland China. In addition, the intensity in the NNZEHIAE TAHGE - NEBRFEH
Report are calculated based on the number of employees. Wi —F T EBURIWE RGtat i ME &
As the Group has further improved its data collection and BRAFEBMEL - ZFEKF[-1RR
statistical systems during the Reporting Period, some of EF MO ARBEBESRAHEEEE R EE RO -
the data are varied compared with previous years. A “-" o - AEEFTIRE BB AHENRFE
in each table indicates that the relevant data has not been PEELABBIEENREEEHE12A31H
disclosed or not been counted during the year, or that data BB -
is 0. Moreover, the data provided in this section are either
the aggregate figures for the corresponding financial year
or the figures for the corresponding financial year ending
on 31 December.
2023/24
2025 Period' 2023 2022
Environmental 2023/24
Key Performance Indicators ~ BEHBEAMEE  Unit Bfy 2025 WA 2023F  20n2%
Resource Consumption BRZERE
Total purchased electricity (indirect JNEE 7 kWh TRE 101,251.00 282,406.30 194,999.70  98,199.90
energy) consumption (B#8R) KWh/Employee THE,/BET 406.63 913.94 563.58 303.09
HEERTE
Total diesel consumption KEEaS kWh ThE 1,252.05 1,473 103164  1,5381.50
Total petrol consumption AmERES kWh TRE 738.73 779.17 551.50 407.20
Total direct energy EREREREER kWh TRE 1,990.78  2,25217 158316  1,788.70
consumption and intensity B kWh/Employee THE/SE8T 7.98 7.29 4.58 5.52
Total energy consumption and ERERBER kWh TRE 103,241.78 284,65849 196,582.86  99,988.60
intensity EE kWh/Employee THRE/SE8T 410.86 921.22 568.16 308.61
Total water consumption KERERAER m AR 499.50 698.11 476.98 49125
and intensity EE m¥Employee K/ BET 2,01 226 1.38 1.52
Total paper consumption HEREFBER  Tonnes NI 0.80 061 0.41 0.77
and intensity LES kgEmployee  TH/ET 3,210 1.974 1.156 2.160
Waste Generation BENHFHEE
Total volume and density of EEEREEY Tonnes N 15,793 22,475 14,678 16,867
non-hazardous solid waste BERTE Tonnes/Employee A /& 8 T 63.43 72.73 442 52.06
Total volume and density of BERBEEY Tonnes NI 0.50 0.75 0.50 0.50
hazardous solid waste BERKE kgEmployee  T%/BET 2.01 243 145 1.54
! 2023/24 Period represents 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024 ! 2023/24 #3815 2023F1 1 HE 202446 A30H
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2023/24
2025 Period’ 2023 2022
Environmental 2023/24
Key Performance Indicators ~ BEEHEAMIEEZ  Unit A 20255 o 203 F 2022F
Air Emissions? BRUENAER?
Nitrogen Oxides A&y Tonnes NI 0.26 030 0.19 0.20
Sulphur Oxides ey Tonnes NI 0.003 0.004 0.003 0.002
Particulate Matter B Tonnes NI 0.03 0.03 0.02 0.92
Greenhouse Gas Emissions BERBHHE
Scope 1 - Direct Emissions? HE1-EEGNE’
Petrol combustion FURE Tones CO,e  AH 178.77 197.91 140.08 113.76
“EfhEE
Diesel combustion Kb Tonnes CO,e A 34110 401.29 27352 339.23
ZEiREE
Scope 1 Total emissions 8E1-@HNERERTomes COe  AM 519.87 599.20 413.60 453.00
and intensity “EtikEE
Tonnes COe/ /AW 1.06 1.94 120 140
Employee “EltiEE
/88T
Scope 2 - Indirect Emissions* BE)-BEERE
Purchased Electricity® SHBEN Tomnes COe 22 4253 157.25 108.58 64.04
ZE{tikEE
Scope 2 Total emissions and BE28HHEE  TomesCOe  AM 0.17 0.51 031 0.20
intensity Employee “EltiEE
/8EI
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions BERBEHNE
Total greenhouse gas emissions BERBLHMER  TonnesCOe A2 562.40 756.44 522.18 517.04
and intensity HE k147351
Tonnes COLe/ 221 2.26 245 151 1.60
Employee “EltiEE
/88T

The calculation of air emissions includes the Group’s vehicles fuel
consumption in Hong Kong, the calculation methodology and the related
emission factors are based on the EMEP/EEA Air Pollutant Emission Inventory
Guidebook — 2023 published by the European Environment Agency and
Appendix II: Reporting guidance on Environmental KPIs in How to Prepare
an ESG Report published by the SEHK.

Scope 1 refers to greenhouse gas emissions directly attributable to the
Group's operations, including carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide
from the combustion of diesel and petrol. During the Reporting Period,
the Group’s Scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions included greenhouse gas
emissions from the use of diesel and petrol for business vehicles and the
use of heavy equipment and were calculated with reference to Appendix II:
Reporting guidance on Environmental KPIs in How to Prepare an ESG Report
published by the SEHK.

Scope 2 refers to “indirect energy” greenhouse gas emissions from the
consumption of purchased electricity within the Group’s operations.

The grid emission factors used in the 2025 greenhouse gas emissions
calculations for purchased electricity in Hong Kong China are sourced from
the Sustainability Report 2024 published by HK Electric Investments Limited
and the latest 2024 Sustainability Report published by the CLP Group.

RESANFEHGERRAEBETENTBREER  H
ST E RARR R BE IR R UL 2 ZRUMER IR F 35 19 (EMEP/
EEA Air Pollutant Emission Inventory Guidebook — 2023) A & &
BB MO EERBRE e REARE) 2 M=
IRERREBUERERIES| -

BE1EHEAREEBERELNREREHN  BEME
SOl ROURERTE LM AR FREAIE-R - WS
A AREGEVAEREBNHREEABEREARE
BRBE R SOR TR FTE KRR E R P - H5T
B2 EREBRRBMNNMERRER L RERRE)
28— BIERREMIERERES| -

3 E 2 2457 SR BB TS 0 B K FERS R SR AV = ) P 5| B9 [ )%
BER R ERBEHE

2025 FREEBIIBENREREBH BT EMRANEEE
A FRIFRBEE N IEEBR DR EMA (2024 F /I 558
BRBE) R BEBRAR R A S E M HC2024 FE A A
BR{E)
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2023/24
2025 Period" 2023 2022

Environmental 2023/24
Key Performance Indicators REBBENER  Unit Efy 2025F B 2023 2002F
Total Number of Employees BI#H Persons A 249 309 346 324
Number of Employees RERED N

by Gender BETAE
Male Bt Persons A 188 235 262 245
Female ik Persons A 61 74 84 79
Number of Employees RERERASIN

by Employment Type BIAY
Regular Employees EAET Persons A 240 300 337 322
Contract/non-regular Employees 24/ ERET  Persons A 9 9 9 2
Number of Employees BERAREAH

by Age Group BTAY
18-30 18-30 Persons A 34 43 47 39
31-50 31-50 Persons A 79 103 125 120
>50 >50 Persons A 136 163 174 165
Number of Employees BHEEIH

by Region BETAE
Hong Kong Bk Persons A 208 261 294 289
Mainland China IR Persons A 4 48 52 35
Employee Turnover Rate REFIEDH

by Gender BIRKES
Male E % % 293 59.3 40.2 22.5
Female g3 % % 31.1 459 31.0 24.1
Employee Turnover Rate RERARZDH

by Age Group BIR%E
18-30 18-30 % % 36.4 55.6 38.2 385
31-50 31-50 % % 40.7 93.8 61.5 21.7
>50 >50 % % 214 319 20.8 20.0

6 The employee turnover rate is calculated as: turnover rate of the relevant ¢ BEIRKERFERER  HBENE IRAXR=2F50R

category of employees = number of employees lost in that category/total KRETAE ZERINBET AL -
number of employees in that category.

7 The employee training rate is calculated as: Employee training rate for the 7
relevant category = number of employees training by that category/total
number of employees in that category.

8 The average training hours completed per employee is calculated as: 8
average number of hours of training for the relevant category of employees
= total number of hours of training for that category of employees/number
of employees in that category.

BIRIERAET XS HAENR ITZINE=28518 5
METZIAL ZEFIMWEE TAR -

BT FHRISEETER  HRENE T RIS =
ZERNE TERZIIRE ZERNE TAH -
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2023/24
2025 Period’ 2023 2022
Environmental 2023/24
Key Performance Indicators REEBENER  Unit Efy 2025F B 2023 2002F
Employee Turnover Rate BHBESH
by Region BIR%E
Hong Kong BE % % 277 427 276 229
Mainland China lEltd % % 40.4 90.7 705 229
Percentage of Employees Trained #3815
by Gender’ ZIET’
Male 2 % % 96.0 90.0 90.2 89.8
Female it % % 80.0 78.8 80.5 78.5
Percentage of Employees Trained ~ ZBAARI &2 8
by Employee Category ZIET
Senior Management BRERE % % 84.4 75.1 784 66.7
Middle Management TRERE % % 72.7 69.7 68.3 711
General Employee AEET % % 92.7 89.2 88.9 90.2
The Average Training Hours RUEREDH
Completed Per Employee FZIGE
by Gender®
Male Fit Hours g 5.2 96 6.5 6.3
Female Tt Hours B 1.0 30 2.0 2.1
The Average Training Hours RRAERETH
Completed Per Employee by FHZI Y
Employee Category
Senior Management BRERE Hours NE 36 6.5 45 35
Middle Management HRERE Hours N 44 4.1 27 30
General Employee HEET Hours B 42 8.6 5.7 5.7
Number of Working Days Lost IBBAXIHEH
Due to Work-related Injuries
Number of Working Days Lost BRTERY Days X 0 0 0 8
Number of Suppliers by Region RHBEL N
HEEHE
Hong Kong China HEAR Number & 1,157 1,250 1,140 273
Number of Certified Suppliers REREIBARE
by Category MitEEYE
Number of Suppliers with Quality BAEEEEEZ  Number  {E 169 187 174 28
Management System Certification RENLEDEE
Number of Suppliers with Environmental
Management System Certification BRREERERZ  Number & 269 276 263 20
RENLEDEE
Number of Suppliers with the BEBEREEZE  Number 1 50 55 53 8
Occupational Safety and Health EEREAREN
Management System Certification HEAHNE
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SEHK’S ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT 8.

INDEX

wE

ERBR T Z(ESGHEIES|) R

Mandatory Disclosure
SRR

Relevant

Chapter(s) of

Mandatory this Report

Disclosure or Other

Requirements Description Explanation

R E

FREHN

BEIEERE g o 35 B8

Governance Structure A statement from the board containing the following elements: 3.1
ER%RE (i)  adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

Reporting Principles

bEE 3 JR R

Reporting Scope
bE R EE

(i)  the board’s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the
issuer’s businesses); and

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate
to the issuer’s businesses.

HESFSRLNER EPHBETIAE

() BEREFGHRR HLERE A%ﬂﬁﬁﬁtm ;

iy FBBRENRE HERE/EEFHRER  BFE -
BRI REBEEZNIRE %iA&é/ ﬁféﬁiﬂ(’ﬂE
HETAEBORR) HBERE

(i) BRI @ RER *ﬁ B R #EE - W
BT ManaEEiT AXEE #E

Describe or explain how the following reporting principles

were applied in the preparation of the ESG report: materiality,

quantitative, consistency.

B BEBERERS e REARERIMERERRA
M2 —BkE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG
report and describing the process used to identify which entities
or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change
in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason
for the change.

RERE HekEomENEREE )32? it Bk O L B
HEBMARE L RERRENBIE - BERBERINE
BITARBEARZ B REEHRE -
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General
Disclosures
and KPIs

—RREK
REEARIER

Environmental

N
AR E
"Comply or Explain” Provisions
[FEFHRBREIERX
Relevant
Chapter(s) of
this Report
or Other
Description Explanation
A®E
FREHN
it H 38

RIEEE
Aspect A1: Emissions

Em A1 BEEY)

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPIA1.1

KPI'A1.2

KPI'A1.3

KPIA1.4

KPIA1.5

KPIA1.6

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

ERERAMBERBYER  RKRLHOPES EEREEZE

BYNMELESH

@@ BE: &

(b) BFHETAGEAZENHEEEEZRBROOER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BEniE 28 RARREBE B -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

B (HE 1) ReREE (BE 2) ) REREHNE (AERTE) & (1|
ERA)ZEE(WMASBESESEM - BEKERSE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FEAEEEEYHRE (UBEAE) R (ER) BE (MUEE

B SERIBTE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FMEEEZEEMBE B8 L (ER) =X (A SE
EHA - FEKZMTE) -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

WA MR EE ERAERELBIZMFEIRMN L -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HWEEEERBEZEEYNG L RIBMATEI IR EBZ
K BER|EL BIRFTERIM SR -

41,44

44,7

4.4

4.4
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"Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ 8RR RS
General
Disclosures
and KPIs Description
—-BEER
BREENIEE i

Environmental
RIBEE

Relevant
Chapter(s) of
this Report
or Other
Explanation
IR E
FRESR
Hth 5K 8A

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EmE A2 : EREMS

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 42,43

— M HE R water and other raw materials.
BRERER(BEER - KREMFEME) BB ©

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 7
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
REMESMERZ R SEEER(WE - fsln) 2FEE (AT
BFRETE) REE(NAEBES8N -  BEREE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of 7
production volume, per facility).
BFEKEREE(WNMAGESEM  BERBTE) -

KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken 4.4
to achieve them.
P ET L BRI B R B IR R R RS L B R P ERERA 558

KPIA2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that 4.4
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
R SKEGE B AR ERI BEAI R - ARFIET S H) Bk 3as B
BRAEDE L B IEFARERE 5T -

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) Not applicable®
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
BN MTAREMEMAE (LUEETE) K (NER) BEESN NEAe
e -

9 As the Group’s operations do not involve the use of packaging materials for 9 ARAEBEBRTSNERNBEMBER  LBEE SIS

products, this KPI is not applicable. R -

126 China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERERSE

General
Disclosures
and KPIs

—BRRBEK
REARER

Environmental
RIBEE

"Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ 38 <F 3t A% 18 | R 32

Relevant
Chapter(s) of
this Report
or Other

Description

Explanation

&
FEEHY

i

H {5 B8

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHE A3 IRIERRKABR
General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI'A3.1

Aspect A4: Climate Change

Em A4 : RIRE(E
General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A4.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the 4.3
environment and natural resources.

R EIT NEIRIRE R KA B IRIEKE R ERBUE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 43,44
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to

manage them.

B EHEIRERAAERNEALEREERKNERES#H

HENITE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- 41,44
related issues which have impacted, and those which may

impact, the issuer.

BRIREHEERIGEGHBETAEEZENEARKERSE

HEBR ©

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 41,44

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
HEERAIEGHETAEERENEARRGHEBASEE - &
JE¥I1TE) o
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"Comply or Explain” Provisions

[FETFHREBE R
Relevant
Chapter(s) of
General this Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPIs Description Explanation
REEH
—RIXER FREMHN
BRERER it Hth 5 88
Social
HEHE
Employment and Labour Practices
BREREZEIER
Aspect B1: Employment
Em B EE
General Disclosure Information on: 5.1
— R (@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
EEAFMEEE BEREA TERE RE FE#e % 5.1
Tt RIBAR AR B8 RAEF A
(@ HX: K&
(b) BETFTUHBETABEALENHEBEELRINES -
KPI'B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- 7
or part-time), age group and geographical region.
IR EEEE (NEBSER)  FRERNRMERE 5K E
SEGE
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical 7
region.

R FRARN NSRBI DNEERKLE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERERSE

"Comply or Explain” Provisions

[FEFHRBREIHRX
Relevant
Chapter(s) of
General this Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPIs Description Explanation
R EH
—REER FREHN
BREARER it Hitb 5 83

Social

HEHE

Employment and Labour Practices

BREZIER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[ETH B2 : fZREZE

General Disclosure Information on: 5.1
— R FE (@) The policies; and

(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

BHRHZETERRERREREBEBELREN

@ BE:Rk

(b)) HETFTHBTABEAZENHBEERRAANER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of 7
the past three years including the Reporting Period.
BEA=F (BEERFE)AITHMAZSKILLE -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 7
ATHBEATERE-
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 5.1

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
A PTERAN I R R 2 20 ARMBBERITRER 7% -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERERSE

"Comply or Explain” Provisions

[FEFHRBREIHRX
Relevant
Chapter(s) of
General this Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPIs Description Explanation
REEH
—RIXER FREMHN
BRERER it Hth 5 88

Social

o

Employment and Labour Practices

BRERZEIER

Aspect B3: Development and Training
JETH B3 : BR& K&IF

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 5.1
— BB discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRARTHR R ETT TIERE M AN E MR RO BR - iR DIE &

KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 7
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
R REEEN(NEREEE FREEES) EH>NTT
BEBD -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender 7
and employee category.
R REEERED BREETHZITIHRE -
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[ETE B4 : 85 TR
General Disclosure Information on: 5.1
— R E (@) The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
B LE TSRS TH
(@ HX: K
(b) BEFHETABEALENHBEELAINER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to 5.1
avoid child and forced labour.
i SR IEE I B e LA R B T RGR %S5 T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 5.1
discovered.
HIRAE IR E RGN ERR A BIE AT ERER A 22 5% <
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RIE HERERERSE

General
Disclosures
and KPIs

—RREK
REEARIER

Social

a1

Operating Practices

EEEH

Aspect B5: Supply Chain
Management
JEMEBS : g e

General Disclosure
— B EE

KPI'B5.1

KPI B5.2

KPI'B5.3

KPI B5.4

"Comply or Explain” Provisions

[ 38 <F 5t A 1 | R 3L

Relevant
Chapter(s) of
this Report
or Other

Description

Explanation

;e
BEEHY

i

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
ERHERENREIEGRBBUR -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

@B D HEREAE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

G EERMERNNED  MARTEREMNNHENEE
AR B BEREAITREER A

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

M EEERHERTERGNREREGRARNEN - UK
MERITREER A -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

M EREHREERERESZARRERRRBOED - A RIE
BARITRERTIA -

H {5 B8

52

52

52

52
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERERSE

"Comply or Explain” Provisions

[FEFHRBREIHRX
Relevant
Chapter(s) of
General this Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPIs Description Explanation
REEH
—RIXER FREMHN
BRERER it Hth 5 88

Social

o

Operating Practices

EEEH

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EEB6 : EmEME

General Disclosure Information on: 5.2
— R (@) The policies; and

(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods

and redress.

ERMRHERNBRBNREREZE BS BRREMESZE

LA R 07 A8
(@ BX: &
(b) BFHETABEAZENBMERZRROINER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls No relevant
for safety and health reasons. incident
PEEIREREREHTAL 2 HEREHMARKNA DL EAEEE

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and 5.2

how they are dealt with.

RERRERNMREHFEEAREHTE -

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 5.2
intellectual property rights.
T AT AR AR E A B RIE ] -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 52
BB SR ERIEREMEBIZF °

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 5.2
and how they are implemented and monitored.
HE B E ERMRE RALRRECR - A RMAARNITRERGE -
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RIE HERERERSE

"Comply or Explain” Provisions

[FEFHRBREIHRX
Relevant
Chapter(s) of
General this Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPIs Description Explanation
R EH
—REER FREHN
BREARER it Hitb 5 83

Social

HEHE

Operating Practices

EEEH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EEB7 : RE)S

General Disclosure Information on: 3.4
— R E (@)  The policies; and

(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRADTILRRER - $1R ~ HGGFROEEER

@@ BE:R

(b) HETFTHBTABEATENHEBEERRMAOANER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 3.4
brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting
Period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERBAHBITANEBEREVEEENESFARMGD
A RFDRER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 34
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BT e e e R R T - AR ABBERIT RER A -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and 3.4
employee.
HmEERE TRHENRESEI -

Social

HEEE

Community

#HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

B B8 : HEIRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs 4.1,4.2

— M of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
BHUMEL2ERTRELMEARTENRREERZDE
At R A & B R -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 4.1,4.2
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
BIEREE (WHE RESEHE S I1HEK #FE Yt BE) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 41,42
EEIHBMBAER (NS ERRFRE) o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% R R

%@Prism

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as 30 June 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred net loss of HK$10,282,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2025. As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s current
liabilities (including those that had become default or contain
early demand clauses) amounted to HK$378,708,000.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+8522774 2188 F:+852 27742322

www.prism.com.hk

BHEBRTFNBRREEARQTIMLKRR
(RESHELMAHERL )

BERKRER

BMXEERFHEBRPNEREEERAR ((ER
ADRENBAR CATHHIEEE]) 2&a W%
BE  ZEBRRBERZE-_AFA=THZEA
MHEPREK BEZALFEZEABaMEAMEE
WAR HGERDEHRMGAASRER UK
EMBHRRME(BRERNSTREREHR) -

BATYE BERENGAEMBHRRERER - AANAE
BEBZEIBZREANER | BOMAEENERE
HPIRERGRVEE NENEE - MEAHZELR
EMBRRERBIIBRANEAR - EMBEEMIT®E
BMRBZER UV ERRCZ/REE  ANAER
RENEPI R BERE °

BERREENER

EREERENZETHPRE

Mg A P BBRERMEI2MI EEEREE-Z
THFANAZTRHIEFEEEFREA 10,282,000 7T ©
R-E-_RAFANA=1+H  BEENRBHEE(EE
BEANKE HIRAZEKFE) 378,708,000 7T °

BEEHMERMERA A
EBNFERIDIER X E=E8H;19421903A-1905=
BEE:+852 2774 2188 fHEL:+852 2774 2322

www.prism.com.hk
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA R

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(continued)

As at 30 June 2025, the Group did not repay certain interest-
bearing liabilities (including interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, convertible bonds and related accrual interests) of
about HK$162,031,000 according to their scheduled repayment
dates. As a result, as at 30 June 2025, the above interest-bearing
liabilities had become default. Subsequent to 30 September
2025, the Group had not yet obtained extension letters for
certain interest-bearing other borrowings of HK$65,070,000.
These events and conditions, together with other matters
disclosed in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which
are set out in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.
The validity of the going concern assumptions on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared depends
on the outcome of these measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the abovementioned
plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

BEERREENER ()
ARBECENSHTARRE (E)

WZZE-RAFNA=1H SL£BEREKBETER
AHIEE4162,031,0008 T2 H oM E BB (B
M EERIT R EMIER TR ES RABREERTFIE) -
Hit  R-Z-REXA=1+H Lt a@ED®E
REH R-_T_RAFNLA=1+H% > E£EHH%
165,070,000 % 7T 50 7 MY B H At {2 FRENAS & 82 o 14 -
L EBRIERERGE AR EI 2B EN
HEMER BREEEATHEENE Ty BH£E
SECERENERNEARE

BERREFRCRINE ERENRBMERBBEIRR
MR - IR R A M IS MR 3.2 - iR A M
RFFERIB 2 I BEEBROBRMN - BORRZEH
MER MRERFEZRIEEML

f#E BEEBRAEER LG8 X - 7l aEEIA#E
BIERPBBERKEERLE ERNSTY E£EEE
MEREEETREZSTRESE X AFREELNE
—FREFELRE W FRBEERIFRBDAE
BAREMRDBARBEERRB AR - LAFHED
FTERARRNZEFFAMHERERT
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RA RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF
THE COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Hitb & #
ERRERAYHEMENAR - HOEHBEFRT
MER  ETEEGEMBERERRRAMLELROZ
AN RS

BAUGEFBHREANERL TREEMER &M
DAEEMERBEREATAOEZTER -

BRBMYRAMBREET2ET  HANEESE
BEEMER - FlBRET  TEREMEN ST EiR
EMBHRRABMERTBRETATHOBEREE
R RECLFHRERERRL - BERHEMEH
TOTIE  MRERMRREMERBERERRAL -
BMRERE%XFE -HETE  RALEEMRS

BRAEEREREBAGS M B HMREAERE
MEE

BERAEZAARERBBEHMOGRMANES
MBRELEREAEARFER RPN ERE
RERMRAEBRATERNGEAMBHRE LEEE
17 BERFEERA/VENABAERE - UHRER
B BHRRAOMEL EEAERRA (TR EKEFK
#HER3I%) -

ERHEGAVBHRERE - ERREFAENE &
SEBBELENREN TEERBEATRELRRSE
REEMMER  URERBELLERSTER K
F ERFEFAES EEEBREFIFLLLE A
AEEGERNERTER -

N o o
B /A E\E?\n%

E]

BEEENMHEREBIE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms
of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

BRBMRESFEVBBRRARENEE

BAWER  RYERGEAMBERRESTITHFEHR
MAFRERMEBNERFERRABISEERE - I
HEABREMELNZBE®RE - RERMNZEE
FoRPIER BT (EREE)WE BRIt ZINAE
SHIEEMB S - AT ERARE 2 AT AETAE
MALTAEREZEE - BEFREEDKFHRE
BRERBELRETEENEMETHENERX —EX
B8 AR PR T 7E RS AR BEBX 3R o BARRIR A 7T LA i HRAF 88
Mol MRAEEMES LA WERRATZE
RZERAMBERREMREMELNRERE - BIHEH
R A RR PR AT IR AR AEE N ©

ERREBEEBEFENETETN D HFER
HXRAE YREBEFRABERSEXRELEE - &
(SEIE

o BRI BNIRIFREBRM G ER A M BER
REFEERERRANER - R RBITE
BFAEHZERRE  REBRETRNEEN
E: R FREMAEENER - AR KFFEA
RS REBER BE FEER EREM K
ERRABEZEZ L B REEHBRREFM
B BE K BE AR R B L B B R 8 AR T S B
BERERRARER RS

FEBFANEREEERAT / F# 2025

137



Independent Auditor’s Report
B RA RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

138

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company'’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purpose of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

RBMREREMBREREAENET @

T RRE MR DN R R
EEOETRE  BANLEY EEEAN
BRAAREERER -

HE BEAREEMERASHTHRENESNER
EH & FHEFHMER B EN AL -

4§ BERRESRAREKLSTERNEE
HEL AR - RIBFAISOENBE RAERSE
FHERENHHIFTRABHAOERTEEE  MA
Y BEREFELENENBREARE -
MREMBR/FEEATHEEN  AIBVEHR
BB RE P RESSA M RR D OEBR
BEMNET REEHENEEERTRE A
BERBMANER - RAFINEREEREERK
ZED RS B H LTS OB AR - A - K
KREMHFBRAAEREH BERETEEERE

R
-

FESRAMBHREANBREINTA  EEMA
OBEBEEERN URGAEUBRERE A
ARMBERHMEE -

R RETEERT  UNEEAEBRER
BUMMBENEREY BEENETIR
EREEEMBRRERBANER - KMA
AEEEFLENES BENRT - 1ME
HERAERAEE-
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WA R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

We communicate with the those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to estimate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Yip Chi Chiu.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Yip Chi Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06934

Hong Kong
30 September 2025

BRBMREA RS BRRAENEE &

BEMEIRN  BPEER BB ENRTHE -
BREZH EAEFEREER  BEAMNESRHY
8 Bl HH A BR S FE MY (R R ER B

HFTRAERERIER  SHARMENEBREL
HeERBRER  YEREEBMASEBRRR
SRERMBLMNBERMEMEIR - UREBERD
BT B EVE MR TTEN S E B AR S5 1

RERERBNERTD  HPVREHAHELES M
BHRERNBFAZAEENEE  AMBEKBRE=
He RS ESBMBEPHEAZEEE  RIPEAR
ERTAHERMEEERHAFRRE  IEBRRFR
MERT  BEAEABMERMARSHEEREFRM
ERHBEEREEBBEELN QIR G - IS
TEENERR TERSTFEEZER -

ABIZHBEMENETBEABARESBRE

EERHAEBFERAT
BB AT

REE

BEEER - P06934

H5E
—E_RFNARZ=TH
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBEERHEMAEZEBRAER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #Z =F = HFNA=1THILFE

Year ended
30 June
2025
8z
—ZE-FRHEF
~B=1+H
HFEE
Notes HK$’000
ks FER
REVENUE WA 5 579,400
Cost of sales SHE KA (539,901)
Gross profit EH 39,499
Other income and gains H A &= 6 9,223
Fair value change on carbon-credit assets kA EEZ ARNEEEZH) 20 55,836
Research and development costs RN =
Administrative and selling expenses THREERX (75,130)
Equity-settled share option expenses LA i e 4 55 1 B R R ) S 32 (1,028)
Finance costs B TS AR 8 (29,235)
Impairment loss reversal of/(recognised on) JEURBR R ~ E b & U F 2
account receivables, other receivables AHEERERBEFRD
and contract assets, net (FER) FE 430
Operating loss REEE (405)
Impairment of goodwill EERIE 17 (741)
Loss before tax MR AT 1B 9 (1,146)
Income tax expenses FriS i X2 12 (CRED)
Loss for the year/period F/HAEBA (10,282)
Loss for the year/period, excluding HkEmBRESE (—XHT
loss on impairment of goodwill FREMHBANRZ
(“one-off non-operating item”) F/HRER
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Period from

1 January

2023 to

30 June 2024
BT =

959,084
(909,179)

49,905
6,196
6,543

(12,019)
(102,279)

(72,647)

(6,879)

(131,180)
(4,993)

(136,173)
(1,165)

(137,338)

(132,345)



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEEREMAEZEBRAR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 B2 =F = AFNA=1+HILFEF

Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
B =
s | —H—BAE
—E-FF —E-mF
AA=+H ~NAZ=+H
IEFE 1EEAME
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FER FHET
Loss for the year/period UTALEESE HREE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company 2NN PN (132,840)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR (4,498)
(137,338)
Loss for the year/period, excluding HIBR— R EHEB#
one-off non-operating item, UTATEGE BREE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PN/NEIEZ SN (6,709) (127,847)
Non-controlling interests eI (2,832) (4,498)
(9,541) (132,345)
Loss for the year/period E/HRER (10,282) (137,338)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) £t ZE W A~ (B %)
ltem that will not be reclassified to HEEFREBEITGEFHER
profit or loss in subsequent years: B 2IEE
Fair value change on a financial asset at R AABETAEMEEEK
fair value through other comprehensive A ([ 2 R EEFAEM
income (“FVTOCI") ZHBAD Z2eREEZ
NABEES (5,550)
ltem that may be reclassified to profit HeFEAgRENSEE
or loss in subsequent years: Bz 2IEE
Exchange differences arising on translation & &N EEF KR EREE
of financial statements 2 B E R
of foreign operations (935)
Total other comprehensive F/HREMmEEEBA
income/(expense) for the year/period (B ) #2248 (6,485)
Total comprehensive expense F/HAHEMXAE
for the year/period (143,823)
Total comprehensive expense for the LI T ATEEE HAZME
year/period attributable to: B
Owners of the Company /NI PN (139,418)
Non-controlling interests TR R (4,405)
(143,823)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBEERHEMAEZEBRAER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #Z =F = HFNA=1THILFE

Year ended
30 June
2025
B8z
—E-EHEF
~B=1+H
LFEE
Notes HK$’000
ks FER
Total comprehensive expense for the HIBr— i IEEEHIBBE %
year/period, excluding UTATEEE HREE
one-off non-operating item, FX
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIEZFEDN (3.175)
Non-controlling interests JEE IR 2 (3,093)
(6,268)
LOSS PER SHARE BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR #5E OBl 14 (1.32)

LOSS PER SHARE, EXCLUDING

ONE-OFF NON-OPERATING ZBRER
ITEM
Basic and diluted (HK cents) HA R #58 (B 14

MR —RMEFEEEMHERR
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Period from

1 January
2023 to

30 June 2024
= e ———
—H—HiEE
ZEF
~NA=+H
1EHAR
HK$'000
FHET

(134,425)
(4,405)
(138,830)

(28.90)

(27.80)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE TR R

As at 30 June 2025 R —E - HENA=4H

Notes
hFEa
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Plant and equipment B K B 15
Right-of-use assets CREEE 16(a)
Intangible assets mBAE 18
Goodwill BES 17
Deposits and other receivables B& N EH A fE R 23
Investment in an associate BrE N R E 37
Financial asset at FVTOCI BAREBESAEMEE
WAZEREE 19
Total non-current assets kRBEELE
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Carbon-credit assets iEREE 20
Inventories TE
Contract assets BHEE 21
Account receivables FEU R K 22
Prepayments, deposits and other AR FIE - ek
receivables  H b IR 23
Restricted bank deposits ZRHRITER 24
Cash and cash equivalents HehkReEEY 24
Total current assets RBEEHE
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Account payables FETBR X 25
Tax payable FEIHLIR
Other payables and accruals HMENZRRERER 26
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEIRIT R EME R
borrowings 27
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(b)
Convertible bonds AIREE S 28
Total current liabilities REBEEHAE
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) HREBIEE (&&) 5
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHERRBEE

LIABILITIES

At

30 June

2025
N-_EBE_R &
~NA=1+H
HK$'000
FHET

4,207
7,661
1,800
42,234
56
1,097

5,000

62,055

100,163
2,717
70,228
38,889

64,938

18,546
102,108

397,589

55,767

147,448
76,270

6,223
93,000

378,708

18,881

80,936

At
30 June
2024

HK$'000
T

4,543
10,933
4,614
41,816
1,885
1,070

2,650

67,511

15,620

2,618
70,471
20,635

47,963

1,313
138,125

296,745

54,683
90
130,135
62,659

6,046
77,695

331,308

(34,563)

32,948
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE MBI R

Asat 30 June 2025 R —E - ARENA=1H

At
30 June
2025
R-ZB-HEF
ANA=TH
Notes HK$000
B 5 FExT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE

Other payables and accruals HtEN AR RERER 26 447

Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMMBER

borrowings 27 31,823

Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 2,840

Promissory note EHER 29 16,099

Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIBEAE 30 11,135
Total non-current liabilities kRBEEHEE 62,344
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/(BfE) FHE 18,592
EQUITY e

Share capital [N 31 6,430

Reserves e 16,033
Equity attributable to owners of A FEE AL

the Company = 22,463
Non-controlling interests FEIE R E R (3,871)
EQUITY/(DEFICIT IN EQUITY) S (EEEH) 18,592

Zhong Guoxing

8 B |
Chairman

*E

Di Ling
K&
Executive Director

HITEFE
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At

30 June

2024
RZEZMMF
~NA=1+H
HK$’000
FAT

3,031
6,957
6,337

16,099
1,922

34,346

(1,398)

5,358
(3,182)

2,176
(3,574)

(1,398)



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AEEZBER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

Atriutabeto onners ofthe Company

FLAEGAR
Eouiy Falalie
Bihange  component e reseneof Non- (e
e e Gl fucuaton — of convertle opton fnendil asets — Accumulted nfoling — inequiy/
@l pemm Ieene Ieene b reene &ATO0 bs Sl teess  toflequy
RLAEE
TARfRE
vk
THRERY N (aEH)/
Br o RORE  PrER ERRDEE  EeDn  EREBE DABERE  ZheR Vg e EpE
HSOD P00 HKSOO0 HKSOO0 HKEODD HCSODD SO0 KO0 HKSOO0 HKSOO0 kSO
Thr TR fer TEr TR TEn AL TE  TRn TEL TEn
[note ) o) (oe3) o3
i3] (e () (HED
At 1 anuary 2003 i 0 2161 (4 398 39908 (1800 82619 (9140) 63 (49769
Los forhepeiod fmgE - - - - - - 1/ /1 1 R W N K
Otercompreensieeperse o theperiod:~~ EREBAERT
FraebsmafraclssetaTO0 RAREEHAELAE
B EREE IR
BEES 38 55H) b5
Ectange dffoencesarng onrsfonef - EEENERERER
financl statements offovein peraon JELEE (1028) (1008) 8 (®)
Totelcomprehensve experse o the peod SmeaRReE (1028) B3SO (%) (%48 @Ay (188D
Upom aistionof susiaes rte 34 RUERBLTR(EY - - 1464 1454
e o s pon comesinf TAREREAREIRY
comertle bonds rote 28] () 1320 32 - SO £ X 1010% 101,09
st of e s e 31) EERAmE 0 U - - - 15000 15000
Plcng e 31 RE() W B - - - 366 366
Trangrof shre otio seve pon REREXTRETERERR
e ose ofshee aptions 21700 21,70
At 30 une 2004 H-3RERAZTR EREC I 1161 (120 91578 18,208 (17350¢ (1093819 1176 B4 (1.3%)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERREEXR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

Attributabl to owners ofthe Company

KATHRARE

Equiy Fairvalue
Bxchange  component Share  reseveof Non-  (Defidt
Share Share  Capital  fluctuation of convertile ~~option financialasets Accumulated controling ~in equity)/
il premium reseve resenee bonds ~ resere  &tFVTO0 loss Subtotal interests totalequity
ROARE
tARKRE
hAzeR
TREEAK -7 (BEEY)/
Br  REERE  RREE EXREGER  RED BRERE DAEEER  EREE Nt FERER  ERER
HESODD RSO0 HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOO0 HKSO0  HKSOD  HKSODD  HKSOD0 HKSOO SO0
T A O th TR TRt TR TR TR tRn TR TR

(note 33) (note2d)  (ote33)  (note33)
() (e (M ()
Aty 2004 RoE-RELE-A w1an 2161 (1200 91578 18208 (11350 (1093819) (3578) (13%)
Lossfor theear FhEE - - o o o () 08)  (1028)
Othercompretersiencomelorhepeiod.—— SRERAENA:
raeginoafdasetahiol  BLAEERAZKAE
IAZERRR DA
BEke - - - - - - - W
biterge dfenesaisrgon rrsiion !~ BEENERER S5
Tl tetements offorei opetion JERzE - - - - - - - 118 (1) 0
Tota compehensie epere fortheyer FRRERTEE - - 230 17 I 3 R 1
Sisaiptionof shaesrte 31 RRA M) wmo s - - DB - Bk
Deregitatoncf subdres FHIENT - - (o) 2 235
Trngr o s option resee pon HERER e RRERR
thelapse of hare optos - - - - - (B4 - 3407 - - -
Fyityseted e oo arngement ARERENERE: - - - - - -1 -
430 une 2005 R-5-RERAZTR 6430 1,019,746 (g ot 58 580t (15000 (108862 20463 3 1859

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of  * W ERREREBERGAVBERARPTNGEEHEE
HK$16,033,000 (2024: HK$3,182,000) in the consolidated statement of 16,033,000 70 (== — P94 : 3,182,000/ 7C) °
financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
BT =
EE:.: - H —H E:lE:
—E_RfF —EYF
~NAZ=TH ~NHA=+H
IEEE 1FHAfE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAT
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING REXBNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRI ES 1R (1,146) (136,173)
Adjustments for: INIE A
Depreciation of plant and equipment — #28 N & BT E 9 1,240 1,563
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9 8,062 15,376
Equity-settled shared option LA FR e 45 55 1) B AR AR B <2
expenses 32 1,028 -
Fair value change on carbon-credit REREENAAEEED
assets 20 (55,836) (6,543)
Finance costs B 755 A 7R 8 29,235 72,647
Impairment loss (reversal of)/ FEMERIR - HAb IR R & 4
recognised on account receivables, BEREBE/BECRE), TR
other receivables and contract FE
assets, net 9 (430) 6,879
Impairment of goodwill [SEENERED 9 741 4,993
Impairment of intangible assets mEEERE 9 2,814 -
Interest income 2 HBA 6 (3,048) (854)
Gains on lease modification HEEBTRE 16(c) (572) -
Gains on deregistration of Rl NGRS
subsidiaries 6 (EX0)) -
Operating cash flows before LEETHPNIEERERE
movements in working capital (21,572) (42,112)
Increase in carbon-credit assets RAE B E EE N (28,707) (200)
Decrease in contract assets BHIEERD 1,667 52,291
(Increase)/decrease in account FEUR BRZR (32 0) Rk
receivables (18,671) 20,007
Increase in prepayments, deposits and ~ JE FRIE ~ 1546 & E e Uk
other receivables N (14,436) (23,547)
Increase/(decrease) in account payables F&ff8RZ g h0,~ CRid) 1,133 (19,049)
Increase in other payables and accruals E i < 2% &% FB 12 B F3 18 hn 13,614 24,908
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REREIRER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

Year ended
30 June
2025
BZE
—E-RF
ANA=TH
ILFE
Notes HK$'000
B & FTERT
Cash (used in)/generated from KE(ER) /EENRE
operations (66,972)
Interest received 2R & 3,048
Interest paid EARTFLE (495)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated KEER(ER) EER
from operating activities WEMEHA (64,419)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXEBNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of intangible assets WEm & E 18
Net cash outflow through acquisition 37 38 U 3 B /8 A B & A Y
of subsidiaries FE M 34
Acquisition of plant and equipment g s IR R 1A 15
Investment in an associate B E N EIRE
Net cash inflow on deregistration of a  FHiHA B ERFRSRA
joint venture
Net cash flows used in investing REEREANRE
activities MEFE
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BITIRD P15 RIE 31(ii)
Proceeds from placing Bl & FT 15 3018 31(iii) =
Proceeds from subscription of shares p,uﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ?%ﬁ 31(v) 23,576
New other borrowings T EA BT 51,642
Repayment of bank and other BEERITREMER
borrowings (18,915)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAR 16(b) (7,575)
Net cash flows generated from MEEEESE
financing activities MR &M FE 48,728
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Period from

1 January
2023 to

30 June 2024

12,298
854
(397)

12,755

(2,236)
(41,316)
(476)
(1,070)
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(44,952)

15,000
34,646

69,011

(8,311)
(16,573)

93,773



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

Year ended
30 June
2025

BE

—E-EHEF
~A=+H

IEEE

Notes HK$'000
{hFEa THET

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of year/period

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
WD) 18R

E/%M%ﬁ%&ﬁ%%%%

SN [ R B B S B SRR

(16,546)

139,438

(2,238)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF YEAR/PERIOD

F/HMRNRERASEEY

120,654

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS
STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash and bank balances

Restricted bank deposits

RERETRERMIZ
RERBEEEEY
BERD AT

e RIRTTHES
R HIRITER

24 102,108
24 18,546

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement of
cash flows

HEBRTRERMINZ
ReMReEEY

24 120,654

Period from

1 January
2023 to

30 June 2024

139,438

138,125
1,313

139,438
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A TR R

For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=+HIFFE

150

The Company is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
immediate holding company is Quick Tycoon Limited and
the ultimate holding company is China Eco Investment
Limited, which were incorporated in Hong Kong and the
British Virgin Islands respectively. The registered office
address of the Company was located at 89 Nexus Way,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is at Unit
1201, 12/F, Landmark South, 39 Yip Kan Street, Wong
Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group was
principally engaged in the following activities:

- Trading of carbon-credit assets, carbon credit
and carbon asset development, management
and investment in carbon neutral related fields
and carbon consulting and carbon planning; and
the carbon negative business including industrial
carbon negative with a core of development of
carbon capture, utilisation and storage (“CCUS")
and natural carbon negative focusing on forest and
crop optimisation (the “Global Carbon Neutral
Business”);

- Civil engineering works, ecological governance,
building construction and maintenance works (the
“Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering
Business”);

- Providing environment, social and governance
("ESG") analysis reports and assisting in obtaining
green financing (the "Green Credit Digital
Technology Business”); and

- Acquisition of waste materials from power batteries,
while developing the cascade utilization of retired
batteries from new energy public buses (the “Battery
Cascading Utilization Business”).

RAARA—REFAEHEFMK LM ERE
FERERE] EHRORBEEBREZ AR
RAI LM -ARREERE  HEEERAAA
B ERAGF - WM& ER AR RChina Eco
Investment Limited - 53 5l A & /8 & 5 & # B
BB ML o AR R AY RE 9% 5 R M bk AL
7 89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman,
KY1-9009, Cayman Islands e KR A #) * & &
34 267 7 BB = AT I 3 8 4739 9% Landmark
South 12181201 = ©

BE-_Z-_HEXA=1THLEE K&EEFE
BREUNTNER T

- WP NHAERINRERAEERS K
ERAMMEERE BENRENURIK
) SRR E] - R AR - A A AR
#717 ([CCUs)) Bz LB T B N AR
MMEEDBIEA/RONBEAREHRER
MR ([ 2 RBPAMER])

— ITARIRER ERARE BFEERR
BEIR(EEAERIAIREER])

- RHERE HERER(ESGH NITHE
LGB BGHeRE ((REBRFREE
B R

- WBEBHHEHMEN RRFERAER
WEMBRN AR (BRI A%
%) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
July 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current
HKAS 1 or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with

HKAS 1 Covenants

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

2.

FERFTR] RAERT BRI B REER
2R ER
REFERHER 2 RETEBHHRE

EREFER

RAFE ARECHREGAMBRRER
ERATHEESMAS ((EBEMAAE])
WMBLR —ZE_MFELA - ARBNEAEESF
EHR B ERNEET TR HRE LS
FHEER -

BB IS RS %R ERHECyHEARE
F165% (BRTA)
e £ BESEARENKIE
F1RUBEIA) nEREERE
FL5E (2 )
ZABRBET
S LR MBERHEZIERE
EREACCHIEN) aE
EBESHENETRE HERRELH
BB RE R
B 75 (EFTA)

RAFERAKERTBEMBREERSFE
RIS AN SR B AN F KO8 1 R ) B R0 B
RAR,/ REZEGEVBEBRRAB BB EEREL
BERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

152

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but not yet effective:

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS Accounting

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —

Standards Volume 113

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned
below, the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

R RGBT ERBMBREER

SR ()

-+

B S84 5 25 R M0 37 3T R AR5 3T B 08 81
7530 25 9 B & 50
REBVERREEERATIERMBEBRERZ
BT R 4B 15 4] BB IS s R B EHER)

BN BREER TRTANDER
FIHERE BB ER-PACHIE
WEERFE TR
(BRI A)

BAMBHREER REEEEBENT
FI0HERFAEES HAZEARZEN
R 285% EEHEIIE'
(EFTA)

BRI EER BEMBREEL S

SRHER (BETA) HERFERE -

F11%3
HFAELFER BRZ AT AT a2
E2158 (BRI &)
BB SHRE R HERERNET R
%185 55

! RFFE B #isk 2 IR F R AR

> RST-RF- A ARZARGNEESAEEY -
P RSESAF A ARG EE AN -
O RSB EFE- A AR ARG EEAMER -
RN BB M A E R G R RIS - B
FAFTA B3 e] RAGIERT B BMBHMERAE

PRI A BRI & EER A M MR IEK
BA¥E-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.1

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial asset at
FVTOCI that are measured at fair value and carbon-credit
assets that are measured at fair value less cost to sell at the
end of each reporting period. These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

2.

3.1

FERFTR] RAERT BRI B REER

SEFEA )

ERUBRBREENE18RUHERR
2R E
BEMBRELRNE 18RI BERER 225 LK
BHIIMBRRPHE2 R ES - BILK
BEGFEUF VR BRR 22 - WA
RIREMBRE RS EL  REAEFLES
AHEAEIRMFSZ EZRAR 5| ARBEX
278 E BRI R RENETH N ESR  REF
BHERMEPREEEERENEIEZENH
B UYREVBERRTPBEENELARDBER -
o ETEREGHENFIRNRECRE
ARG ERFSR BBV B BREENFT
BoBBRBRTEUBTRRASRERNREE
B ERIE 33K ERB T IEIT NEIEE] -

BRI ISR 185k R E AR Z ERTHE
R-F_EF-A AR ZERHARNFERH
X WAFFIRAER - FHF LRI RAE
FTEBRRRZZVERKRUBRR ZBE - K
SELHENGERAMBREENE18REAE
BiraMBEmROFATE

mREE

RAMBRREREBEEEGHOAGRHANE
APBREERNG LRGSR - I A
BHRRBEEEMERIMERDAES LT
BAIRE B R EHRGIRE S E A BE -

REBRERR  BRUARABEFENZIAE
B ARMCEZARAZEBEERNAAAEBE
B ERARGENKIEREEI  RAVBER
RABELKUAEERE - ZEWBHRERAET
25 BRRAEHBIN  MBEBEINBETM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A TR R

For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=+HIFFE

3.1

3.2

154

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. Details
of fair value measurement are explained in the material
accounting policy information set out below.

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 21 December
2023, the financial year end date of the Company has
been changed from 31 December to 30 June commencing
from the financial period ended 30 June 2024 in order
to avoid competition of resources with other listed
companies during the peak reporting season and remove
uncertainty from the variation on the dates of Chinese
New Year Holiday which put pressure on the workflow.
Accordingly, the comparative figures presented for the
audited consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and related
notes cover the audited figures of the financial year from
1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024 and therefore are not
comparable with those shown for the current year.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Going concern assessment

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$10,282,000 for the year ended 30 June 2025. As at 30
June 2025, the Group’s current liabilities (including those
that had become default or contain early demand clauses)
amounted to HK$378,708,000 and the Group did not
repay certain interest-bearing liabilities (including interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds
and related accrual interests) of about HK$162,031,000
according to their scheduled repayment dates. As a result,
as at 30 June 2025, the above interest-bearing liabilities
had become default. Subsequent to 30 September
2025, the Group had not yet obtained extension
letters for certain interest-bearing other borrowings of
HK$65,070,000.

Notwithstanding the above results, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of the going concern basis
is dependent upon the success of the Group’s future
operations, its ability to generate adequate cash flows in
order to meet its obligations as and when fall due and
its ability to refinance or restructure its borrowings such
that the Group can meet its future working capital and
financing requirements.
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3.2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

Going concern assessment (continued)

Also, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Group will be able to finance its future financing
requirements and working capital based on the following
considerations:

o other than continuing to develop carbon credit
assets from existing carbon projects, the Group will
continue to identify and seize more new carbon
projects to secure supply of carbon credit assets
and enrich the carbon credit assets portfolio of the
Group;

J the Group will take initiatives to improve the gearing
of the Group, including the repayment of other
borrowings, which will reduce the long-term finance
costs to the Group;

o the Group will carefully monitor and control
administrative costs and future capital expenditures;

o a holder of convertible bonds has agreed to provide
financial support for the continuing operations of
the Company so as to enable it to meet its liabilities
when they fall due for the foreseeable future and
not call for any repayment of convertible bonds
amounting to HK$89,000,000, until the Group is in
a financial position to do so;

o the Group leveraged its Henan Zailiang New Energy
Renewable Limited* (“Zailiang New Energy”)
license to collaborate with state-owned enterprises,
establishing a close B-ring supply chain for used
batteries to enhance revenue streams, profitability,
and financial health;

o the Group actively secured regulatory approval to
convert approximately HK$57,650,000 in debt owed
to two creditors into convertible bonds, thereby
alleviating debt repayment pressures;

o subsequent to the reporting period, the bank
borrowing of approximately HK$9,871,000 was fully
repaid by the Group; and

o the directors of the Company have carried out a
detail review of the working capital forecast of the
Group for not less than fifteen months from the year
end date, which took into account the projected
future working capital of the Group.
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3.2

3.3

156

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

Going concern assessment (continued)

In view of the above, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that there will be sufficient financial resources
available to the Group to enable it to meet its liabilities
as and when they fall due and to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the directors of the Company have
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties
exist as to whether the directors of the Company will
be able to achieve its plans and measures as described
above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the Group’s ability to
generate adequate financing and operating cash flows in
the near future.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability
to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of
the Group’s returns.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3 EXSHHEER#®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of these elements of control stated above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give
it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group'’s
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

o The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

o Potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

o Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

o Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
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INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The acquired processes are considered substantive
if they are critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, including an organised workforce with the
necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the
related processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are considered
unigue or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant
cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes; and

° Lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date. Right-of-
use assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3 EXSHHEER#®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
group of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3 EXREHEHERER #)

INFORMATION (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

The Group applies HKFRS 9, including the impairment
requirements, to long-term interests in an associate to
which the equity method is not applied and which form
part of the net investment in the investee. Furthermore, in
applying HKFRS 9 to long-term interests, the Group does
not take into account adjustments to their carrying amount
required by HKAS 28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying
amount of long-term interests arising from the allocation
of losses of the investee or assessment of impairment in
accordance with HKAS 28).

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates
The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

Interest in a joint operation

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
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INFORMATION (continued)

Interest in a joint operation (continued)

When a group entity undertakes its activities under a joint
operation, the Group as a joint operator recognises in
relation to its interest in a joint operation:

° Its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly

o Its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities
incurred jointly

. Its revenue from the sale of its share of the output
arising from the joint operation

° Its share of the revenue from the sale of the output
by the joint operation

° Its expenses, including its share of any expenses
incurred jointly

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation
in accordance with the HKFRS Accounting Standards
applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the
joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the
transactions are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of other parties’ interests in
the joint operation.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-
based payment transactions and leasing transactions,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3 EREFBERER (&
INFORMATION (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued) AREEFE(E
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate K& @E’JﬁrzﬁiLﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%iR BB
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are EERRFTEQAAEE  ZAREHF HAEEE
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of AERAZE  UEERSNATATERE
relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of ANEE - BBME AEERBEHABENS
unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group categorized 12&H%’&/‘Mﬁﬁﬁa’“7%l%"l—_1lf‘i&

the fair value measurements into three levels, based on the
characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active F—M—EREEIBELERTE L CRE
markets for identical assets or liabilities. AR HRE o

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest FIH-RAAREETEERZREANZERESR
level input that is significant to the fair value ABUBR B S HEBRENEERE -
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest E=R-RAnBEFEZEEZREANKERER
level input that is significant to the fair value ABEAAEENGHERE -
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines RIERAR A EBBRABEZSENAAEE

whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value ATERE REEUNAABEETHENEE

hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at MEBERSEANEBEBR MEEEY -

fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective
fair value measurement.

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFSHHBA

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised AEBBERBA M AT P EERHEE MK
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects AR 7% EZ@%E&H%E‘%%E,HH MRMZEE MK
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled R ERESFSHRE - AEM s - AEERA
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the T E SR mE R A

Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer; . F—F  BREEPIIVNEH

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the . F_H  BRHERNTHNENEL:
contract;

. Step 3: Determine the transaction price; . F=N EEXRHE

e  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the s FHN¥ BRHESEZANFTHELN
performance obligations in the contract; and 5E &

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity . FRF  RNEETKBOE T (SRIT)
satisfies a performance obligation. RN o

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance REBRTEHBEAHEER (Hattt) BIERE

obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or BHREERBNE R RGH EhH#] B8 T

services underlying the particular performance obligation is B HRUA -

transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or BHEFEAEERIRE (k—EEmHRE)

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of s — R 5K BUE R & AP EE%T&'I:ZJZHW%

distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
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INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

. The Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

o The Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer. A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3 EXSHHEER#®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

Civil engineering works and building construction
and maintenance works

ii.  Sales, development and operation of carbon credit
assets

ii.  Provision of carbon neutral advisory service and
informatisation service

iv.  Green credit digital technology service
V. Provision of ESG consultancy service

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group’s construction activities create or enhance an
asset under the customer’s control.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of
performance obligation (Output method)

Revenue from civil engineering works and building
construction and maintenance works is recognised over
time.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
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INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Contract costs

Costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are
capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are
met:

a. The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

b.  The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

c.  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the
goods or services to which the asset relates. Other contract
costs are expensed as incurred.

Trading of carbon-credit assets

For trading of carbon-credit assets to the market and
carbon credit exchange, the Group considers the
revenue is recognised when the control of the goods has
transferred, being when the title of the goods have been
transferred to the customers and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. The customer has accepted the products and
the performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time at
which the title of the carbon-credit assets are transferred
according to the term of sales contract.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when
the customer purchases the carbon-credit assets.

Consultancy fee income

Consultancy fee income from provision of carbon neutral
advisory service and informatisation service, provision of
ESG consultancy service and green credit digital technology
service is recognised over the schedule period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Trading of waste batteries

For trading of waste batteries, the Group considers the
revenue is recognised when the control of the goods has
transferred. The customer has accepted the products and
the performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
at which the title of the waste batteries are transferred
according to the term of sales contract.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3 EXSHHEER#®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For the contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract
or modification date. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to
all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12
months or less). For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted
by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR").

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
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INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a significant
event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using
revised discount rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless
the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount
rate is used).

. a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement
of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made
at or before the commencement date and any initial direct
costs, less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group
incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove
a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or
restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 Provision,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted for any measurement of lease liabilities. They
are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts
at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item in the financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease modlfication

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o The modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o The consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences arising
on a monetary item that forms part of the net investment
in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over a joint arrangement that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in
relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that
do not result in the Group losing significant influence or
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 33 EASHBEER®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received. Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group; or
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

172

(iif)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Plant and equipment and depreciation

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 33 EASHBEER®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Cross-boarder licence plates

Cross-boarder license plates of the Group are regarded
to have indefinite useful lives as they are renewable on a
periodic basis with the appropriate authority and there is
no foreseeable limit to the number of renewals and the
period over which these assets are expected to generate
cash flows for the Group.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=+HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

174

INFORMATION (continued)

Carbon-credit asset

Carbon-credit asset is capitalised and can be readily to be
traded when it is verified by certain international approved
organisations. For the carbon-credit assets which are
directly purchased, the carbon-credit assets are initially
measured at cost, which including purchase cost and other
variable purchase expenses. For the carbon-credit assets
which are generated and developed under projects, the
carbon-credit assets are initially measured at cost, which
including the project costs and certain expenses for the
application and verification.

At the end of each reporting period, carbon-credit assets
are measured at fair value less cost to sell. Fair value is
based on prices of similar products at international active
markets where the carbon-credit assets can be sold.
Changes in fair value of carbon credit assets are recognised
as a separate line of “fair value changes on carbon-credit
assets” in consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Carbon-credit assets is derecognised when the Group
disposes of the inventory through its trading activities or
when the Group otherwise loss control and therefore,
access to the economic benefits associated with ownership
of the carbon-credit assets.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 33 EASHBEER®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and FVTOCI.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’'s business model for
managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

. The financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=+HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

176

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses (“ECL"),
through the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus
the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted
for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of
a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial
asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

(continued)

(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method
(continued)
Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For
financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “other income and gains” line item
(note 6).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOC/

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments as at
FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends from investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the 'investment and
other income’ line item in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=+HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

178

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the
Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s
operations.

33 EASHEEER ()

£RIT A ()

EWMEE(B)

RIFE B KR ERE IH 7T R B FFIZ A
EEEE A M IE 56 E
AEERIZEEN AT ENEFETAKERER
EHEERENEBERE HHEERES®E
EBEREHHET WM B VIR ERERE
£BMTEREERBHEL -

AEBBRRERESDFTARANEERRE
HIEMEERRE ZSeREENTEHNEES
BREBEASENELEEFRERERER
BEAER  URBEEBANBERR  —RE
RS IA Ko 318 BT A0 FEORI AR 0 A [7) HO RF i #E 1T
HE REBREEEWER) -

HRAAEMESRTA  AEEN12{EAEH
EEBRAEBBREE  BIFARERERE
ERBBELN AEERIEHEHEES
B TEORBIATHEHEEBEBENTEER
B i TER R SR AR ] s M SR R BRI AN -

EERRBEREM
EFHERTANGEERREVGERRRES
BELENE  AEESSRTAR®RSE A H%
EEHNERESR T AENYRER B EE
BOMBERETILER - EETIFER K&
BeERARAAXHNEENELEER 8
FEEFBERANS BRI 1S H B LA B
RIEMHEER - ZEMWATRMEES BRAKEIE
BAREMAETENRRAR  KEEERM
& ERONTEN - BT BREEMEAM
BUEBES  AREEEIAIRNE F AR
AEBEBHEBOERMBRALEER -

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
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INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, (ii)
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

o When there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

o Information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 24
months past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

182

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together
with any additional amounts expected to be drawn
down in the future by default date determined based on
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific
future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant
forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another

party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on
derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Modification of financial assets
A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, the Group considers the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial asset, after reducing gross carrying
amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to
the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group
entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial
asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the
continuing involvement approach applies, and financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group, are measured
in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out
below.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-for-
trading, or (3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3 EXEFBERER B
INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) @I A )
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued) SHREERREIA(H)
Financial liabilities (continued) THEE(E)
Convertible bonds AR R &
Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain REEETEEABNRRES D 2 TRRE
both the liability and conversion option components F o RVERARRESNLTHFNEERNDTA
are classified separately into respective items on initial FemBERRETIAZ EESRARENSE
recognition in accordance with the substance of the WIEE - HURREESE L REAARAFE
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial THECZEEREIAZS—BeREELHE
liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option ZHRRERERARETA -

that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount
of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an
equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability RYEHERE  AEHN 2 AABETIREAL
component is determined using the prevailing market PAIBMKRER 2 RITTIHEERETFE - BITAHE
interest of similar non-convertible debts. The difference BRESMERARHEEBABGELH 2 ARE
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible BrZBE(REFBEABERZBABRRBRA
bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability ZIRARIE) AR (AT AR B A AR AR ) o

component, representing the conversion option for the
holder to convert the bonds into equity, is included in
equity (convertible bonds equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the RERERE  ATRRESF2AEBNHEAER
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using FIEE IR BN AR ARR - RAIH (A EE
the effective interest method. The equity component, HHBABANR LB 2 B BRE KA
representing the option to convert the liability component BRREFRAFEAN  EEEREITERLE L
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in RRABRRESKRAFEZ2I 2 SR GEEE
convertible bonds equity reserve until the conversion is MDA E) o M5 2R AAE R B A B D ARIETTHE
exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible B AT IR B 5 IR AN 1 2 51 2 A5 eR G E AR
bonds equity reserve will be transferred to share premium). Bim Al o MR R LI KRR E LS
Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, REBTERBERER -

the balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will
be released to the retained earnings. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible HEATRAIMRE S B W2 X SR TR R
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components BREB2 RS DEZEEEMBRARELG -
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. HRABNDEB X IRAEERERIR -
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are HEENNBEBEZR KR ABERHD 2R
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the H{E - WIABRRNZOER AR E 5 F R # i

liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Modification of financial liabilities

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing
financial liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable
to the financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted for
as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. The Group
considers that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate,
is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. Accordingly, such exchange of debt
instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment.

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, contract costs and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives and contract
costs to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 33 EASHBEER®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, contract costs and intangible assets
other than goodwiill (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group
assesses and recognises any impairment loss on other
assets related to the relevant contracts in accordance
with applicable standards. Then, impairment loss, if any,
for assets capitalised as contract costs is recognised to
the extent the carrying amounts exceeds the remaining
amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive
in exchange for related goods or services less the costs
which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the
carrying amount of the cash generating unit to which they
belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of that
cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, contract costs and intangible assets
other than goodwiill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.3 EXSHHEER#®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part
of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance
no longer meeting the definition of cash. Contractual
restrictions affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in
note 24.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-
term deposits and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted to use.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
first in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 33 EASHBEER®)

INFORMATION (continued)

Income tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
at initial recognition due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not
subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on
the date of remeasurement or modification.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the date of
grant is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the share options granted vest immediately, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of
which are given in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to
an award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.
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3.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Share options granted to employees (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3.3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in
the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the directors
of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.

Judgments in determining the timing of satisfaction
of performance obligations

The recognition of each of the Group’s revenue stream
requires judgement by the management of the Group
in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations.

In making their judgement, the directors of the Company
considered the detailed criteria for recognition of revenue
set out in HKFRS 15 and in particular, whether the Group
has satisfied all the performance obligations over time or
at a point in time with reference to the details terms of
transaction as stipulated in the contracts entered into with
its customers.

For the Group’s revenue from contract works, the
management of the Group has assessed that the Group'’s
performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs. Therefore,
the management of the Group have satisfied that
the performance obligation is satisfied over time and
recognised the revenue over the construction period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Accounting of carbon-credit assets

Management considers that the carbon-credit assets are a
commodity. As HKFRS Accounting Standards do not define
the term “commodity”, management has considered
the guidance in HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors (“HKAS 8") that allows
an entity to consider the most recent pronouncements of
other standard-setting bodies that use a similar conceptual
framework to develop accounting standards, other
accounting literature and accepted industry practice to the
extent that these do not conflict with the requirements
of HKFRS Accounting Standards and the Hong Kong
Accounting Standards Board Conceptual Framework.
Under United States Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles as set out in the Master Glossary of the
Accounting Standards Codification, a commodity has been
defined as “products whose units are interchangeable,
are traded on an active market where customers are not
readily identifiable, and are immediately marketable at
quoted prices”. Based on this definition and the guidance
in HKAS 8, management has therefore determined that
carbon-credit assets are a commodity notwithstanding that
carbon-credit assets lack physical substance.

The Group’s activities include trading of carbon-credit
assets primarily buying and selling of carbon-credit assets,
and therefore, the Group recognise the carbon-credit
assets at fair value, reflecting the Group’s purpose of
holding such carbon-credit assets as a commodity broker-
trader in accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories.

As a result of the carbon-credit assets protocol, costs to
sell carbon-credit assets are immaterial and no allowance
is made for such costs. Changes in the amount of carbon-
credit assets based on fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period.

Carbon-credit asset is derecognised when the Group
disposes of the inventory through its trading activities or
when the Group otherwise loses control, and, therefore,
access to the economic benefits associated with ownership
of the carbon- credit assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

The future cash flow is estimated based on past
performance and expectation for market development.
As the current environment is uncertain, the estimated
cash flows and discount rate are subject to higher degree
of estimation uncertainty. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

As at 30 June 2025, the carrying amount of right-of-
use assets and intangible assets were HK$7,661,000 and
HK$1,800,000 (2024: HK$10,933,000 and HK$4,614,000)
respectively. The impairment amount of intangible assets
at 30 June 2025 was HK$2,814,000 (2024: Nil).
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Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

Construction services and civil engineering services
The recognition of revenue and cost of construction
services and civil engineering services requires the
management of the Group to make estimations. For
onerous contracts, the present obligation under the
contract must be recognised in the current period and
measured as provisions by using the output method, based
on direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer as estimated by the management.
Because of the nature of the activity undertaken in
construction businesses, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting periods.
The management periodically measures the value of the
civil and structural works completed for each project with
reference to the certified value of works and estimates
the value of works completed but yet to be certified at
the end of the reporting period. The Group will reassess
the outcome of the relevant contract and may revise the
relevant estimates. The revision will be reflected in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which the circumstances that give rise to the revision
become known by the Group.

Provision for ECL on account receivables, other
receivables and contract assets

The impairment provision for account receivables, other
receivables and contract assets are based on assumptions
about ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, bases on the number of days that an individual
receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end
of the reporting period. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. As at
30 June 2025, loss allowance of account receivables,
other receivables and contract assets are HK$1,874,000,
HK$8,774,000 and HK$222,000 (2024: HK$1,436,000,
HK$8,218,000 and HK$1,646,000) respectively.

Income taxes

As at 30 June 2025, a deferred tax liabilities of
HK$11,135,000 (2024: HK$1,922,000) mainly in relation
to the fair value change on carbon-credit assets has been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, where the taxable temporary difference
is estimated by the management based on the expected
tax consequences from its carbon-credit assets usage
based on the future plan.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

Leases — Estimating the IBR

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term,
and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates.

Estimation of fair value of carbon-credit assets

The fair value is determined with reference to transactions
involving identical or similar assets. The management
of the Company has identified the unit of comparison
as price per tonne of carbon dioxide equivalent, which
is @ common unit of comparison in the transaction of
carbon credit assets. Estimation has been made by the
management of the Group in relation to the unit value per
comparable transactions. As at 30 June 2025, the carrying
value of the carbon-credit asset is HK$100,163,000 (2024:
HK$15,620,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The impairment amount
of goodwill at 30 June 2025 was HK$5,734,000 (2024:
HK$4,993,000).
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5. REVENUE 5. WA
Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of carbon- WARE " BHAREREAEERES  REW
credit assets, service income, construction contracts and A BEAHORBEEEDIZINRA - KEHE
transaction of waste batteries for the year/period. An FHRBAZAITIT -
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year/period is as
follows:
Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
B-ZE_=%
BZE —A-HEE
—E-EHF —ZT-NEF
ANA=T1H ~A=+H
HEE 1F HAfE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers & & 7 B 75 3R &5 22 BI85 15 5%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HIENERF 2 ENEGLH
EEREA 579,400 959,084
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) 2FBAEH
Year ended 30 June 2025 BE-_Z-_RF A=1+HLEFE
Ecological
Global Governance Battery Green Credit
Carbon and Civil  Cascading DIGE]
Neutral ~Engineering  Utilization  Technology
Segments k| Business Business Business Business Total

RGP EERER O ERER  BEET
X# LAIRRE  NAXE  BEEB At
HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TiEx TR TR TiEn TR

Types of services PR 5
Provision of carbon neutral advisory and J2 {2 fit A 12

carbon planning services ﬁﬁiﬁiﬂﬂﬁ% : = - = 4,654
Green credit digital technology services A {EHF R R - - - s 5,703
Construction services BERYK 308,008 - 308,008
Civil engineering services TRIRERH 248,826 - 248,826
Transaction of waste batteries BETHRS - 12,209 12,209
Total revenue from contracts with HEPENGHELN

customers LON:+: ! 556,834 12,209 ! 579,400
Geographical markets BEHE
Hong Kong it - 556,834 - - 556,834
Mainland China FEAH : - : ; 22,566
Total revenue from contracts with AEPANENELR

customers LON = g 556,834 ! ] 579,400
Timing of revenue recognition BB AHEE
At a point in time RE—RRE - - : - 12,209
Over time FERRER : 556,834 - b 567,191

Total revenue from contracts with HBEE7RNANELER
customers ONt 4,654 556,834 12,209 5,703 579,400
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA@
() Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DHRBAERE)
For the period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024 BE-ZE_=F-—A - ARE_T_NF
NA=Z+BIEEME

Ecological
Global ~ Governance  Green Credit
Carbon and Civil Digital
Neutral  Engineering  Technology
Segments 28 Business Business Business Total
RPN ERERER BIEHT
% IATIREH RRER @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TBTL TR T

Type of goods or services BRI R
Sales of carbon-credit assets REREEHE 229 - - 229
Provision of carbon neutral advisory 1R ER R AR %

and carbon planning services fixiR Bl R % 3,912 - - 3,912
Green credit digital technology services 4k {5 & RHE fR 75 - - 297,517 297,517
Construction service BERE - 235,788 - 235,788
Civil engineering services TARIERS - 421,638 - 421,638
Total revenue from contracts with HEF /AN ENELELN

customers Nt 4,141 657,426 297,517 959,084
Geographical markets WEmG
Hong Kong B 2 657,426 - 657,428
Macau paAil] 227 - - 227
Mainland China R 3,912 - 297,517 301,429
Total revenue from contracts with RS ZEMENEER

customers Nt 4,141 657,426 297,517 959,084
Timing of revenue recognition BRRANEE
At a point in time RE—BEH 229 - - 229
Over time BErs MER 3,912 657,426 297,517 958,855
Total revenue from contracts with HEF /RN ENELLN

customers Nt 4,141 657,426 297,517 959,084

200 China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance
obligation is summarised below:

Sales of carbon-credit assets

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the title
transferred to the customers and payment is generally
due upon the completion of the transaction.

Provision of carbon neutral advisory and carbon
planning services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 days from the date of billing.

Green credit digital technology services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 days from the date of billing.

Sales of waste batteries

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the title
transferred to the customers and payment is generally
due upon the completion of the transaction.

Construction and civil engineering services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 days from the date of billing. A certain
percentage of payment is retained by customers
until the end of the retention period as the Group’s
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers
over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

FERFANEEREEERAT / F3R 2025

LONE
(i) BHEME

ERAKEENEEZEMBURIT

BMERAEEHSE
BHEETRMEREBERFPRET
IR RN 5 TR

1R 0 o A0 5 A M B AR B AR 7S

BHETNREREEERHEET X
H-RNFAHER HE30 B AR -

REHFTHERE
BHEERREHRESERERIT X
H—RHRFEHEEZ B30 BARN -

BREMHE
BHOEBEENMARBBEEFPKET
R — RN 5 e AT o

BERTIARIRRK

BHEERRHRGERERSBET X
H-—RRFAHEREZAE0AREN -
HRAEEAERESHNERAGTELR
BN HESESNEAEREEE
RINMBETAFEE AETEDL
MRBERMEFRE  EERBHRER -
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5.

202

REVENUE (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

Construction and civil engineering services
(continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligation (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at the end of reporting year/
period are as follows:

WA ()
(i) BHEMEE)
BERTIARIRERHE (B)

R|EF /R SEERBEHNEECR
BITREDORETT) IR ZEBRSEMOT

Amounts expected to be recognised BT B HER AW AR S EE

as revenue
Within one year —F R
After one year —F1&

At At

30 June 30 June

2025 2024

K= =HF NNt
ANA=1H ~NA=+H
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
65,776 26,424
29,838 892
95,614 27,316

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligation which are
expected to be recognised as revenue after one
year related to construction services, of which the
performance obligations are to be satisfied within
two years. All the other amounts of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
are expected to be recognised as revenue within one
year. The amounts disclosed above do not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

DEERNSKENEENRZER SR (BHE
R—FERERSBA) BHRMENBITELDY
REMNRERBAR NEZXBRENETHN
FEREMZZERSRBAERN —FAERS
WA o BB SR T EERR WA EAE -
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H At I A R Wx

Year ended
30 June
2025

BZE
—E-FRHEF
ANA=1H

IEFE
HK$'000
TFET

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6.
Interest income FEWA
Consultancy fee income EISE-LION
Government subsidies I I 7 B
Management fee income ERBRA
Sundry income IR
Gains on deregistration of Rl INEPNCIR &S
subsidiaries
Gains on lease modification HE B W (HEE16(0)

(note 16(c))

3,048
360

1,367
216

3,660

572

9,223

Period from

1 January
2023 to

30 June 2024

HK$’000
TAT
854
1,821

2,140
841
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204

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and service and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

- Global Carbon Neutral Business segment — (i) trading
of carbon-credit assets, carbon credit and carbon
asset development, management and investment in
carbon neutral related fields and carbon consulting
and carbon planning; and (ii) carbon negative
business including industrial carbon negative with a
core of development of CCUS and natural carbon
negative focusing on forest and crop optimisation;

- Ecological Governance and Civil Engineering Business
segment — civil engineering works, ecological
governance, building construction and maintenance
works;

- Green Credit Digital Technology Business segment —
providing ESG analysis reports and assisting in
obtaining green financing; and

- Battery Cascading Utilization Business segment —
acquisition of waste materials from power batteries,
while developing the cascade utilization of retired
batteries from new energy public buses.

After a thorough review of the Group’s operational
status, management believes that the construction and
civil engineering business primarily serves to improve and
enhance the ecological environment of communities, with
the operational focus having shifted toward ecological
governance. In light of this, the Group has decided to
revise the name of the business segment to “Ecological
Governance and Civil Engineering Business segment”
to more accurately reflect its operations. Furthermore,
management believes there is potential for future
expansion in ecological environment construction, making
“ecological governance” a more appropriate description of
the business.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group
commenced a new reportable and operating segment
named “Battery Cascading Utilization Business segment”.

5
ok
3
A
¥

BEIEA NS - AKEEELERR R
A A% EERBEL - T8 THIET 2 REE
A

PR REB B -()REREENR
S MERRREENRE EBMEE
RixP AR LA - A R IREE AR 2]
()i B 27 BIEACCUSE R Azl
WTEEH METRHZARIMEDEL
OI=EAS=E 38

- HRERERITAIREBRS>H-—LKI
RIEE  ERRE BTRERMREIR:

- HREBFEREBD B ARMHESGONR
ERBPHERERERE K

- EBEBRRAEBS P REH N
AR - BRITERASREE BRI -

KrERNAEEEERRR EEERRE
ERIARIREBFIEZRERTHEREALE
ARERE AEBBEOCERLERREH-
BENE AEBEREBEBDMBERERT R
[ERRIEREATIZEBR DA - WEEHER
MEBAE - S5 BEERR/ARRAELRR
HERTAeAHNRER Bt [ERE|E
BERR VI 2R ETEAM

HE_ZT-HFAAA=ZTHILFE AEEHH
MRS EHT A 2| L 5 7 [0 BE R A A
E PN
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decision
about resources allocations and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted
profit or loss before tax. The adjusted profit or loss before
tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit or loss
before tax except that finance costs (other than interest
on lease liabilities), gains on deregistration of subsidiaries,
equity-settled share option expenses and impairment of
goodwill as well as corporate and unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments:

Global Carbon Ecological Governance and
Neutral Business Civil Engineering Businss
30 Gl ERRERIAIRER

2 EEF (3
MIELBRERDELRRFEONREMS
EREBYERASERLENHHEE - D8
REARAZHD MERETHE  ER/LHE
BRRABRENER KRHBRUATRG 2 E
BEASEZRBAED 2 EFHRA (T
BREEEAENNS) - EHEME QR - A
BEEENBRERS BEREARDEER
ANERAXAETNBEENA -

DEBAREE
ATH R 2H L2 ED ME DO AEE
AREBEDH

Battery Cascading (Green Credit
Utilization Business Digital Technology Business Total
Hhu kS BERTHRER it

Period from Period from Period from Period from Period from

VEE 1 anuary R Tanuay \ER 1 anuary R Tanuay VS T anary

ended 202310 ended 20310 ended 200310 ended 2003 t0 ended 210310

30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June

2005 204 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 204 2005 204

B-5_-F B25_F B-5_cF B-ECCF g-%-=

el -A-ARE el -A-ARE HER -A-ARE el -f-ARE el -A-BRE

S3oRF EEmelicy 2R Ml C2CE Eebild C2CfE Rl C3STE Mt

N At RN A= tA B A=A B A=A B AT

34 il kg il 34 ] 5E il 35 il

HK$'000 HKS'000 S 50 HK$'000 6 (GO HKS000" ST SO0 HKS000 HK$'000

T T T#7 Thn T T T#7 Thn TH7 T

Seqent eente GELO) mmIlM seo Y - 5ml&ﬂ 579,400 [T

Seqment et GEE HMIHMH nse JEEES] (o) - WJIME B33

mpaiment of goodwil ~~ EEEE (4993)

Fquiysetled share opton bR £

expenses ERERY -
Gaing on deregistaionof M B R ANE

subsidiaries -
Coporateand unalocated  AERAARET

£4penses (6,932)
Fnance costs(otherthan IR A (RERE

interest on ease gk
liailtes) (70,876)
Loss before tax kHNEE - (136173
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. SHFBER @
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and INTRIZAERREEDHE DN AREBEE
liabilities by reportable and operating segments: RaEsi:
Global Carbon Ecological Governance and Battery Cascading Green Credit
Neutral Business Civil Engineering Business Utilization Business Digital Technology Business Total
EREAARE LERERIAIRER BURHARE BERTNARE a3t

At At At At At At At At At A
30June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30June 30June 30June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2025 2004 225 2004 2025 2004 2025 2024 2005 2004
S30RF ey 2R MGl C2-RF kil CIC7F iy “3-TE Mt
nCERE ~ASTE B A0 BN 7 ACtH B ~A=tE EEERER A=1A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HKS'000
T T Tin Thn Thn Titn Thn Thn Thn Tin

Segment assets AEE 120327 SRVIRYEN 233700 WEEN 67410
Comoteandother — PERER
unallocated asets FAREE

31,626 4874 45321 360,130

6427 4126

- 459,604 364,256

Total assets EE4E

Segment liabilities kD1 183,547 114139 90,m 99,655 14,566
Coporsteandotner ~ BEREH
walocated liides K PEEE

Total liabilties BB

12,436 301,321 186217

139,731 129437

41,052 365,654

206 China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. oEERE)
Ecological Governance Green Credit Corporate and other
Global Carbon ~ and Civil Engineering  Battery Cascading  Digital Technology  unallocated income
Neutral Business Business Utilization Business Business and expenditure Total
PERAMAAR
REANER  ERRBRIAIRER ERERARER  BEUTRHER BARZH: @it
Period from Period from Period from Period from Perod from Perod from
V(LS 1 January \(EN 1 January \(EN 1 January V(EE T anuary V8 1 January Year IR
ended EIVERGN  ended EEIVERGN  ended ERIVERGN  ended EEPIVERGN  ended EEPIVERGN  ended [IVERG
SIRNEE  30June PENIGEY  30June SEIRMGER  30June BREBIGEN  30June BREIRMLER  30)une BRSENIGEN 30 une
2005 204 2005 204 2025 2004 2025 204 2005 204 2005 204
8 8 g E g B
St 5ok 5ocE TR0k ok ok
-A-Ai -f-Ai -B-Ai -A-ai -R-8i -f-Ai
B2 g B2 i BZ E B2 E gz ] Bz E
ZRCR el 25 E bl CRoRE emlily 05 el —F0TE bl ~ S0 i
el A= 1TE Bl A= TE B A= TE BEEEN A= TF SR A= TR Sl A= Th
LER QRN LEE QN LR el LR Rl LFE G LFE
HKS000° JESHUON  HKS000° SIS0 HKS000° SRS HKS000° SIS Xl HKS000 EISXl  HKS 000 Rl 00
S TR R TAT R TiT WY TR MRS AT IRl TET
Amountsindudedinthe Bk EA TSR
measure of segment  SAFEEN
results or segment &8
assets
Interest income HEMA 13 839 - 2 - 854
Fairvalue change on REREELM
carbon-crdit asses BEZE 6,543 - - - - 6,543
Impaiment los (recognised A ST S
offeesalofacownt (B2 /
receivables - 2 - - - (438) 2
Impairment lossrecognised £ EUEUH BB
on other receivables il - - - - 6550 B (65)
Ipaiment loss eversaloff ~ AfEEHEES
{recognise on) #a/ (%)
contract assets - - (324) - - - 144 (320)
Impaimentof ntangble ~ EFEZHE
assets (2.81) - - - - o (2819 -
Deprecation of plantend ~ BERRETE
equipment B (1105 (401) - (57) B (1:240)
Deprecition o ight-ofuse  (EREAENE
asets (R0E)] (11,508) (3870) - - -0 ) (15376)
Addtontonon-curent FEFEHEE:
assels* 5543 1481 4319 - 17 - N 183
* Non-current assets include plant and equipment, right-of-use assets * FRDEEDITERBELERE FRAREEREREE -

and intangible assets.
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7.

208

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

7.

Hong Kong B
Macau JEPY
Mainland China H A i

o EBE R (5)
ith & &
(a) REIBEFHKWA
Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
B-Z-=%F
Ses —A—HEER
—E_RHEF —EOF
~NAE=1+H ~NA=+H
LFE 1 HA
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
556,834 657,428
- 227
22,566 301,429
579,400 959,084

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

Non-current assets

B AB R TDERE P -

(b) FRBEE

Hong Kong B
Mainland China AL A3,
Singapore gk

At At

30 June 30 June
2025 2024

e asies s A TR A
~NA=+H ~NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FAT
8,945 17,576
48,054 45,140

- 260

56,999 62,976

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of assets and exclude financial
instruments.

LR RBDEEEHNABERELRE
BYTEEEMTIA-
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from each major customer which accounted for
10% or more of the Group's revenue for the year/period, is
set out below:

2 EEF (3
FEEFNER

REEXTERFBEREERE HANEAD

10% 8k LA _F IR AZ0 T BT7R -

Year ended
30 June
2025

BZE
—ZE_FRHEF
~NB=1+H

IEEE
HK$°000
FTEx

293,249

115,569

77,763
N/A*

Customer A BEA
Customer B =FB
Customer C B C
Customer D EFD
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group.
Except for the aforesaid, no revenue from a single external

customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue.

8. FINANCE COSTS

Period from

1 January
2023 to

30 June 2024
BE-E-=F
—H—BRE=E
—EE
~NA=+H
1EEAfE
HK$'000
FHET

209,477
168,197
125,700
287,799

* AR AR EB AWK 10% A £

B it ESN BEREE—IMNEEFRAMBA

EBEWAE10% A L -

Bt % B AN

Year ended
30 June
2025

BE

—E_REF
~A=1+H

IEEE

Note HK$’'000
M RE THE T

HEREBEZHNE

Interest on lease liabilities

Interest on bank and other borrowings  §8 17 & £ b f& 3~ F &

EAZRZHE

Interest on promissory notes

Imputed interest on convertible bonds AR (&% 2 HE T B

16(c) 772
10,826

2,332

28 15,305

29,235

Period from

1 January
2023 to

30 June 2024
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9.

210

LOSS BEFORE TAX 9. BRBATEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEEZBBABELENEG, GIA) T3I&E
(crediting): BiER
Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
BT =%
s —A—HRgE
—E_RE —EUF
~NA=1+H ~NA=+H
IEFE 1EHARE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FTET FHET
Cost of sales & KA
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKAR 11,992 564
Cost of service income iz 7 U A B AR 5,247 296,196
Contract costs BRI 522,662 612,419
539,901 909,179
Employee benefit expense (excluding & B4&F|F 2
directors’ and chief executive’s (TBRIEEER&ESTT
remuneration) BABEE)*
Wages and salaries TEMES 81,180 104,320
Equity-settled share option expenses LA J& 45 55 1) 38 A% 4
53 1,028 -
Pension scheme contributions RIREFIET B 5K 2,337 4,030
84,545 108,350
Impairment loss recognised on/ FEW R ORI E BB 22
(reversal of) account receivables* R (hE) * 438 ()
Impairment loss recognised on other  H b jiE Ug ZRi E E5 18 23
receivables* TR > 556 6,557
Impairment loss (reversal of)/ AHEEREEIE 21
recognised on contract assets* @) HER* (1,424) 324
Impairment of intangible assets mEERE 18 2,814 -
Impairment of goodwill B R E 17 yZA| 4,993
Depreciation of plant and equipment ~ #25 K R EITE 15 1,240 1,563
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 16(a) 8,062 15,376
Auditor’s remuneration BTN & 1,200 1,600
Lease payments not included in the Wk AHEEE = 16(c)
measurement of lease liabilities ZHEMK 2,237 1,055
* These items are included in “impairment loss reversal of/(recognised * HEBFRHAGABEREMEEBAE NN [EK

on) account receivables, other receivables and contract assets,
net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

IR AR R A NEEREBETE (BR
FE] -

# The employee benefit expense of HK$38,602,000 (period from W
1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024: HK$67,103,000) for the year
included in “cost of sales” provided above and no expense (period
from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024: HK$3,936,000) for the year
included in “research and development costs” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

FRNIEE AR X38,602,0008 T (AT ==
F—A—HBRE-_ZTZ-_NFXA=+HILHH:
67,103,000 7T) 5T A EXFT# [SHE R A] - MER
MERY (BT _=F—A—BRE-_ZT_WFEX
A=+ 8150 : 3,936,000 70) Bt ALGAEBHFRE
2 E AR A [FFEEBA] o
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10. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERESTHRAEME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year/ BIEBMRXMES EWRA - BRGNS
period, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the 383(1)@) * (b) * O RDOEURAT (HEZEEF
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange, section 383(1) HEM) O E 2N EBELFE  HRNEE RS
(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance THAEBMESMT :

and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
EZE-=F
Sies | —A—HARBE
—E_FE —ZE -
A~A=+H ~NA=TH
LEFE 1EEAME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Emoluments paid or receivable in BREAMERES (TRELXQT
respect of a person’s services as a REMBARNES) RERS
director, whether of the Company & {3 2k FE U Y Bl &
and its subsidiaries undertaking
Fees ik 1,984
Emoluments paid or receivable in REERATREME QTN
respect of director’s other services = EXEMHHEMESZREM
in connection with the management X {t=EWH &
of the affairs of the Company and
its subsidiaries undertaking
Other emoluments: Efh i
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ Fr& - S #8E M BEWHF 5,547
Pension scheme contributions RRAEFIET B R 112
5,659
7,643
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10. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERESTHRAEME (@
REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BYKHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FHRNMBIERATEEZINNRS
during the year/period were as follows: U
Salaries, Equity
allowances Pension settled
and benefits scheme  share option Total
Fees inkind  contributions expenses  remuneration

FooRE  BURHN  BEEH
fis  REMNE  FEER BRERX e
Notes HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
i Tin Tin TAR Th5n TR

Year ended 30 June 2025 HE-S-IEAR=THLEE

Mr. Wang Au Yuan IRTAE (v

Mr. Wang Jia Si FRPRE (i)

Ms. Lan Hai Qing EhEnt (V)

Ms. Qizo Yanlin Bagiat )

Mr. Cao Ming ERLE (vi)

Period from 1 January 2023 H-2-zE-f-ARE

to 30 June 2024 ZRIMERAZTRLEM

Dr. Guo Yike IRIAEL (i 37 - - - 37

Mr. Wang Au Yuan IZnhE (vii 900 - - - 900

Dr. i Qun FHEL f) 275 - - - 275

Mr. Wang Jia Si TRBEE i) 275 - - - s

Mr. Dai Fan gAEE (iv) 68 - - - 68

Ms. Lan Hai Qing ZhEnt (V) 129 - - - 129

1,984 - - - 1984

Notes: HeE

(i) Resigned on 6 October 2023. @) REFZZFHARARE.

(i) Resigned on 24 July 2023. (i) — REZZZFELAZFEERT -

(iii) Appointed on 26 September 2023. (iii REBZZFNAZFRAEEM -

(iv)  Appointed on 19 October 2023 and resigned on 27 () E_@E%:_EEJ—H-HLEZ%%E CWR=F
December 2023. SEFTZASTERAST

(v) Appointed on 21 February 2024 and resigned on 27 U ﬁf\:g:%ifﬁ:Jr:E”%%& PR
December 2024. ZME+Z AT EHEHE

(vi)  Appointed on 27 December 2024. (vi) REZEZMET AT EREERE -

(vii)  Resigned on 23 January 2025. wi)  REEZRAE-ATTZHEE

(viiiy  Appointed on 23 January 2025. i) R=ZFZRF-AZTZREEE-
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERESTHRAEME (®)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive (b) MITESRIHTES
directors
Salaries, Equity
allowances Pension settled
and benefits scheme  share option Total
Fees inkind  contributions expenses  remuneration
#e 2 BUER hREE
e REYAE FEtR  BRERX ane
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
liE TER TER TER TER TER

Year ended 30 June 2025 BE-E-IERA=THIER
Executive directors 0Es
Mir. DiLing BE%E
Mr. Zhong Guoxing EHEALE (vi)
Mr. Lu Xiangyong EmBLE (v
Non-executive directors FHES
Mr. Geng Zhiyan WEELE (v
Mr. Chen Yonglan RkEfE (i

Period from 1 January 2023 to HZE-ZE-f-RER

30 June 2024 CECMERASTALEE
Executive directors H1EZ
Mr. Sha Tao DERE ) - 686 Jii - 707
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna BEAfaL fi - 8 3 - 89
Mr. Chen Lei RERE il - 900 2 - 97
Mr. Chen XinWei BaELE (i) - 48 14 - 49
Mr. DiLing BEEE - 1,35 7 - 1,62
Mir. Zhong Guoxing EEREE (v - 1433 14 - 1447
Mr. Lu Xiangyong EmBLE (v - 5 6 - 281
- 5,097 m - 5,209
Non-executive director FarEs
Mr. Lam Po Foon HEHTE (iv) - 450 - - 450
- 5,547 m - 5,659

FEBFANEREEERAT / F 2025
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive
directors (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
v)

(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)

Resigned on 20 February 2023.
Resigned on 2 June 2023.
Resigned on 2 October 2023.
Resigned on 30 September 2023.

Appointed on 20 February 2023 and resigned on 12 April
2024.

Appointed on 6 October 2023.
Appointed on 26 September 2023.
Appointed on 25 November 2024.

Appointed on 4 June 2025.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year ended 30 June 2025 and the period from 1
January 2023 to 30 June 2024.

10. EERESTHAEME ®

(b) BTESRIUTES(H)

(i) R-TB-_=F-_A-+HBE-
(ii) RZTBZ=FRAZHEHE -
@iy M-ZTZ=FFTA-HBHE-
(vv RZTZZ=FAA=1+HBEHL-

T_=F_A-+THEZE IR=F
FUA+—BEHE-

v) IS

[
JIER

vy R-TE-=F+A AEZET-

Vi) RZZZ=FAA-+AEZHE-

(i) RZFEZWFE+—-—A-+HAEEE-

() RZTEZRFNAMBEZEE-
RBE_Z-_AFXA=1THIEFER
BT =F—A—HBRE-T_NF

NA=ZTRHIEHE BEEFRETH
ZHRESR R B REEMAME
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024: three)
directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note
10 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
three (period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024: two)

1. IEERESFMES

HIM: =R)&8%
10 REHR -

non-directors, highest paid employees for the year/period ME) EF=sMmIFEEHNREENFHFFBENAT
are as follows:
Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
BT =
s —A—HEE
—E_RHE —EOFE
NA=+H NA=TH
IEFEE 1-EARE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & - EBEME Y FZE 1,620 3,150
Share based compensation LAHXT%E%WZ@H% 642 -
Pension scheme contributions ROKE AT B R 54 27
3,177
The number of non-directors, highest paid employees FN T TIAERNMEEHmEEENES
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as ANEURT -
follows:
Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
= a—
s —A—HEE
—E_RE —EOE
ANBA=1H ~NAZ=+H
IEFE 1B
HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,001 % 7T % 1,000,000 7 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000 78 7T -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7 7T & 3,000,000 7% 7T 1
2

FEBFANEREEERAT / F 2025

REN AasaaMEEREEMA (BEZ
—ZF—A—HEBEZZ-_NFAA=Z+HL
18 % 89 37 B S F 1B B 7 _E ST
EHup=% (===
—A—ARE-_FT_WNFA=+HIHHE:

=

=
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 12. FiEHAX
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first BEMREMEREHE EBREEEES
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity 2E BB LG 128.25% 2 LR M - B
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million W2EBBIT 2w MAR16.5% 2 TR HT -
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not I EMBHAEREHEER 2 EEEE
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will i F A B 12 16.5% 2 Bl — B R BH - KA A
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. The directors EERR EmMmARAFNENHXGERESE
of the Company consider the amount involved upon BHREVBREMSALTER - HEFEH
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime TOBLE BN ET R B AR 16.5% 2 &K
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. TE o
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for the year/period.
Income tax arising in the PRC and other jurisdictions AR B R B AR R B AR 2 P B4R AH 4 =]
is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant FREBZBRITNEFE R __F+_A
jurisdictions. On 19 December 2022, the Company was THhA ARAFEREAIBERSHHEMEZE] -
accredited as a “National New and High-tech Enterprise”. B —F ARAAEEREFRACE
The Company is entitled to a reduced PRC corporate g &15% - Hh BB AR 2B E A
income tax rate of 15% since the year 2022. The tax rate 25% °
of the other PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law and the REPBECEMGEEREHRGOIALY 8=
Detailed Implementation Rules, distribution of the profits ZENEFE-HA—B RAREETMRLZ
earned by the PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 to TR A RIS IR A BB A RIBRELZ R ) BIE 5%
holding companies incorporated in Hong Kong is subject Z AR R MR BB -
to the PRC withholding tax at the applicable tax rates of
5%.
Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
BT _=%
e —A—HRZE
—E-REF —EpF
~A=1+H ~A=+H
LHFE 1EHAR
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Current tax expenses EEBERY 1 94
Over provision in prior years BEFERERE (88) -
Deferred tax expenses (note 30) RAERL AR S (M 7E30) 9,213 1,071
9,136 1,165
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 12.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before
tax at the statutory/applicable rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as

13.

follows:

Fr& BB (40)
IARRRERBAMB AR MENREER
ZEE/BABERTENRBAEEERNB
HAXEAERBEAENRIARE 2 HRN
T

Loss before tax

Tax at the statutory tax rate/applicable
rates of different jurisdictions

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax losses not recognised

Temporary difference not recognised

Utilisation of tax loss previously not
recognised

Over provision in prior years

Tax expenses

DIVIDEND

Period from

Year ended 1 January

30 June 2023 to

2025 30 June 2024

S —— o

s —A—HiER

—EB-FREF —E-mF

AB=1H NA=+H

IEEE 1-HA

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH T FHT

FrELRIEE (1,146) (136,173)
BARREERREERR

ERAMEFENRIE (1,243) (24,720)

BARTAWA (1,119) (694)

AR 5,057 17,522

RERHIBEESE 7,741 11,764

REREREZR 30 (28)

BB AIRERZ BMIEEE

(1,242) (2,679)

BEFEHRBEE (88) -

HIERAX 9,136 1,165
13. BE

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024: Nil).

RER - I M ARD T T 8RR R S s %
IRAHRS B B3RS AR AR I 2 3 R (T 1
E(BZZE-_=F—A—HARE=E_ZT_OF
NAZ+THIEERE &) o
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=+HIFFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE

218

The calculations of the basic loss per share and basic
loss per share, excluding one-off non-operating item,
for the year ended 30 June 2025 are based on the loss
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$7,450,000 and loss for the year, excluding one-
off non-operating item, attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$6,709,000 respectively (period from 1
January 2023 to 30 June 2024: loss of HK$132,840,000
and HK$127,847,000 respectively), and the weighted
average number of 565,054,000 (period from 1 January
2023 to 30 June 2024: 459,982,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the calculation of the
diluted loss per share and diluted loss per share, excluding
one-off non-operating item, are based on the loss for
the year attributable to the owners of the Company and
loss for the year, excluding one-off non-operating item,
attributable to owners of the Company, respectively. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic loss per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares for the year.

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the computation of
diluted loss per share and diluted loss per share, excluding
one-off non-operating item, did not assume the conversion
of the convertible bonds and the exercise of the share
options since the assumed conversion and exercise would
be anti-dilutive which result in a decrease in loss per share.

14.

BRER
BE_Z-_RAFEXA=TRILEE SREX
EEENBR -AUIECEUHBEERZBRE
AEBT D RIREARXGEE AN FRE
187,450,000 Tt M HIBR — R MEIEE B HTE B
BARNBHEE AEILF NEEG6,709,000/%8 T
(B-E-=F—F—B#HE_T_MWEXA
=+ H -8 - 2 515 K18 132,840,000 7T
127,847,000/ 7T) U ERFRNDBHITE B
A% AN 4 7 19 #565,054,000 % (B =B - =4
—A—BRE-_ZFT-_WNFENA=1+HIEHHE:
459,982,000 f%) 5t & -

BE-_Z-_HEXA=1THLEE SRES
EiERIR—RIEIEEEIEBE % 2 BIREE
EBREIIHABREARGEEAEBEFREBIER
B — ML BB R ARRES AEN
FANBETE -FEMER LT BRMETFY
BAFAZERTEBEREE (BRFTEESR
AEAXEE)  mMETBRMEFHHEIIBRENFE
NATEEE BT L BRI EETERER AL
B EE T AT -

HEZZ-_RFA=ZTHILFE 788K
BEBEBEMIR - REFLENEBERRZER
BEERERUYERRITRREFESRNER
RETE  DHRNBRERRTESELRE
SEWE - BEERERRD -

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share and
basic and diluted loss per share, excluding one-off non-

operating item are based on:

14. BREEB %)

BRERNNEEREERME —RIEIFLE TR
BRZBEERANEEERDBEATSE

Loss

Loss attributable to owners of the
Company, used in basic and diluted
loss per share calculation

Loss excluding one-off
non-operating item

Loss attributable to owners of the
Company, used in basic and diluted
loss per share calculation, excluding
one-off non-operating item

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year/period
used in the basic and diluted loss per
share calculation

=
Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 202$4
s —A—HEZE
—Z-HF —ZEZOF
ANA=TH ~A=+H
LFE 1 BR
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
BB
BRGHESREA RS EEEN
RARHAE ANEGEE
(132,840)
MBR—RMEREMIFEE %
ZEE
B — R 3E4T 4 178 B 16 AR
SHE SRR LSRN
NARHE ANEGEE
(127,847)
At
30 June
2024
RZZFEZOF
~NA=TH
BHEE
AR EERERREE
BiERE BN 1T
TR e 9B
565,053,589 459,981,536
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. HEBEREHE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold ~ Machinery and and office Motor

improvements equipment equipment vehicles Total

B BRRE
AEHE BERRE RBAHRE RE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TR Tin TR

Cost [

At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F-A—H 2,470 276 872 1,916 5,534
Additions AE 377 - 99 - 476
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34)  MEEMB A& (15 34) - 2323 377 83 2,788
Exchange realignment EiRE - (47) (22) - (69)

RIZ-MESA=ZTER
“Z-NELF-H

At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024

Additions RE
Exchange realignment ERAE

At 30 June 2025 RZB-REARA=TA
Accumulated depreciationand R HERHE

impairment
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=Z%-f-H 454
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) YR B2 E (M 34) -
Charge for the year (note 9) ERER (:9) 725
Exchange realignment EREE -

RIZ-MESA=TER
“E-NE+R-H

At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024

Charge for the year (note 9) EnER (f:9)
Exchange realignment EREE

At 30 June 2025 RIE-RFRA=TH

Carrying amount REE

At 30 June 2025 RIE-HERAZTH

At 30 June 2024 RZZE-RENA=TA 1,668

50 661 680 1,845
507 29 19 818
155 1% 487 1,563
21) (18) () (40)

195 819

1,861

4,543

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

20%

10% to 32%
16% to 33%
24% t0 32%

Leasehold improvements

Machinery and equipment

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Motor vehicles

220

FEDEREREFEAREAIERFEH
MR IR MR TR B MK A ERIREE
UL ERAMERFRENT -

HEmE 20%
28 M R% 10% & 32%
R BEEEE RBARE 16% %= 33%
RE 24% E32%
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

16. LEASES 16. HE
The Group as lessee FEBIEREMEA
The Group leases office premises for its daily operations. AEEREBEEMRERRNIGH - HEMBHRN
The lease term is ranging from 13 months to 60 months F13EAZ601EA (ZZT=PH4F : 1918 5 £ 60
(2024: from 19 months to 60 months), with an option to @A) aJLAE a“iﬁiéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ*mfﬁ% H)
renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. Lease HE -HENFBERFENUARLE AT
payments are usually increased annually to reflect current HHE o
market rentals.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use RE/BR AEEFEAEEEREE
assets and the movements during the year/period are REFHERLMNT
as follows:
At
30 June
2024
KT M4
ANA=t+H NA=TH
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
At the beginning of year/period NG EE ) 10,933 17,216
Additions NE 7,746 9,111
Depreciation charge (note 9) WEBMA (Mx) (8,062) (15,376)
Lease modification HEBIT (2,964) -
Exchange realignment ME H, 58 B 8 (18)
At the end of year/period NG PN 10,933
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the RE/ B HEEERmEREIHIE
movements during the year/period are as follows: AT
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
ROZBZRF Sk itk
~NA=1+H ~HA=TH
HK$'000 HK$ 000
Carrying amount at the beginning of R4 /Hi4] ~ BREI{E
year/period 12,383 17,895
New leases e 7,746 9,111
Accretion of interest recognised F/EHNTEREO TS E M
during the year/period (note 8) (FfF=E8) 772 1,771
Payments BN (VAL (16,573)
Lease modification HEBFT (3,536) -
Deregistration of subsidiaries EXcOIENG (588) -
Exchange realignment (EPIEEE (139) 179
Carrying amount at the end of RE/HRZREE
year/period 12,383
Analysed into: ITAE:
Current portion ENE 6,046
Non-current portion FEMENE S 6,337
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

16. LEASES (continued) 16. AE (®)

The Group as lessee (continued) AEBERAEAN (B
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (0 FHEERESIEINESELT:
relation to leases are as follows:

222

Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
= —F-ARE
—E_RHE —EF
ANB=1+H ~A=1+H
ILEE 1EEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEaGHN S (MizEs) 772 1,771
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ~ FHABEENEER
assets (note 9) (fF5E9) 8,062 15,376
Expense relating to short-term leases BEEBHEE 2 X
(included in administrative expenses) (st ATTERF ) (F3E9)
(note 9) 2,237 1,055
Gains on lease modification (note 6) TAEE T s (FizE6) (572) -
Total amount recognised in I FER ) A58
profit or loss 10,499 18,202
17. GOODWILL 17. B8
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
R-Z-RF St ks
ANA=t+A ~NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET
At the beginning of the year/period R,/ EA¥) 41,816 -
Avrising from acquisition of subsidiaries B Y #8 b & A 71 &= 4 (FiI5E34)

(note 34) - 48,248
Impairment during the year/period F/HARE (741) (4,993)
Exchange realignment (EPTIEE S 1,159 (1,439)
At the end of the year/period RE,EIR 42,234 41,816
At the end of the year/period WEFEIR
Cost AN 48,248 48,248
Accumulated impairment 2ERE (5.734) (4,993)
Exchange realignment M H 5 (280) (1,439)
Net carrying amount REFE 42,234 41,816

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The Group’s goodwill acquired through business
combinations during the period from 1 January 2023 to
30 June 2024 are allocated to cash-generating units for
the battery cascading utilization business segment and
green credit digital technology business segment, which
are principally engaged in the battery cascading utilization
business and green credit digital technology business in
PRC, for impairment testing. The recoverable amounts
of the cash-generating units (“CGU") of the battery
cascading utilization business segment and green credit
digital technology business segment are determined based
on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections
based on a financial budget covering a one-year period to
five-year period approved by management and cash flows
beyond the five-year period are both extrapolated using
a growth rate of 1.54% (2024: 2%). The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections are 12.44% (2024:
14.79%) and 14.06% (2024: 16.88%).

Assumptions are used in the value-in-use calculations of
the abovementioned battery cascading utilization business
segment’s CGU and green credit digital technology
business segment’s CGU as at 30 June 2025 and 2024.
The following describes each key assumptions on which
management have based their cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Business environment — There was no major change in
the existing political, legal and economic conditions in the
PRC in which the cash-generating units carried on their
business.

The management is of the view that the valuation
techniques and the estimates have taken into account the
impact of the deteriorated market environment. During the
year, the Group recognised impairment of HK$741,000 in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss (period from
1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024: HK$4,993,000).

17.

R
EERERHE
AEEE S -_=ZF—A—HRBE=E_Z_OF
ANAZTHLEHEABERAHKENBES
REEMBEAFAEE D BRGEH TR E
BOEMIBSELBEMETREDNS Bk
RABEBDBREEHREREESHIAEE
EPBREEMHAFBEBREEHETRIE
XK BHMBAFNBESS T REEHTEHE
EBOMNBESEAEM([BEELEEN]H
ke B NREFEREENFEET KB
MBS RERAIEREREEBIERE—FE
FEHENMEEE  MAEFHUIINGREE R
BHA154%MBRE (ZZTZUF : 2%) #
HoEARBESRETEAMEIAER512.44% (=
Z P04 1 14.79% ) 2 14.06% (—Z — P04 :
16.88%) ©

ERAEBRARFBEE D HBORSEEEMR
BREHFHEEBOBNRSELEMR _-F
THEER-ZZE-AERA=THENEREER
SaARK -UTHLEEEERRASRE
BRAETHEBRENANTEIZRE

RBRX-FMERNBRESHMMAER IR
bR B2 AR RE B (A B VA TE LR

EHRA
RETA

—“HeELBURK %%%Fﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁiﬂ 2]
EBRREBERRY EERE

EREERAHERMEGBFEEEMBRRES
fEMFE - REBRFRANGESEBREREDR
@M4ww®ﬂ§_7_f¢ A—HEzE—
T NXA =+ HIEHM : 4,993,00087T) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. BEEE

Cross-boarder
license plates

224

PR E R
HK$'000
FHET
Cost S
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 2,378
Addition NE 2,236
At 30 June 2024, 1 July 2024 RZEZWFARA=+H"
and 30 June 2025 ZEZOFEHA—BRK
—E-RAFNAZ=TH 4,614
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt # R EE
At 1 January 2023, 30 June 2024 RZE-_=F—H—H"
and 1 July 2024 ZEZMFEASA=ZTEK
—E-mAF+A—H -
Impairment during the year FARE 2,814
At 30 June 2025 RZE-—RAF~<A=1+H 2,814
Carrying amount IREE
At 30 June 2025 RZE-RAF~A=1+H 1,800
At 30 June 2024 RZFE-_MFA=+H 4,614

As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, the Group has acquired four
cross-boarder license plates, with a legal life of 1 to 2 years
but is renewable every year at minimal cost. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the Group would
renew the cross-boarder license plates continuously and
has the ability to do so. As a result, the cross-boarder
license plates are considered by the management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is
expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely.
The cross-boarder license plates will not be amortised until
its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it will be
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

R-ZZE-_RAER-_Z_MENA=1+0" K&
EERSMHEFRBEEERE EATEBEAE
22F BEBFUUKERAERH - AAAE
ERE AEBE—EETZShBEEER
TERENEE -BIt  AEEETEEREHRD
RERAEEERBHEERFHERFRS
A IREEERA(FERFE - PBEMIGR
EEFEATFHET ARG ISHYE -2
B RKRPZEP BB R IERATAE L RIE -
BEFETRERNR -
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTOCI 19. BAABEFTAHMEZAKRAZESHE
BE

At At

30 June 30 June

2025 2024

K= FF ey

~NA=1+H NA=1+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFET FAT

Listed investment at fair value FHREZAREE 5,000 2,650

Investments in listed equity securities represent the
Group’s investment in China Ecotourism Group Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong and engaged in provision
of technology and operation services for lottery systems,
terminal equipment and gaming products in China’s lottery
market. This investment in equity instrument is not held
for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to long-
term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the directors of
the Company have elected to designate this investment
in equity instrument as at FVTOCI as they believe that
recognising short-term fluctuations in this investment’s fair
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the
Group’s strategy of holding this investment for long-term
purposes and realising their performance potential in the
long run.

Mr. Di Ling, a director of the Company, is also the director
of China Ecotourism Group Limited.

EHBRARES AR EEA S E S B AR
SEHERARNKE R A XREFE
RBERITELRRR  BnRE BRER
MRt EEEREHNBE LT AAF -
RAZSERETAREYHERZRE -RZ
HRECMRERTFRAEBEN - Fit - AR
REECERHZBREIAREEERRAR
BEAAECEZERAZEZTRE  REZHK
ERREBETPEIZREN I AEEEHNE
PRAEEFEZRENRYRB B0 XL
ERERHERES -

ARBEERBRETATELEKESREE
RABzES-
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

20. CARBON-CREDIT ASSETS

226

The movements during the year/period in the balance as
follows:

20. IEAEE

F/HNEHREBBERET

At

30 June

2025
R-ZZ-HF
~NA=1+H
HK$000
FET

15,620
28,707
55,836

At the beginning of the year/period RE,/HiH]
Addition =

Fair value changes NABEEZD
Charge to profit and loss FFAEZE

At the end of the year/period RE/HR

100,163

Carbon-credit assets were formed through the exploration
and development of relevant business units of the Group
and originated from the verified and issued International
Certified Emission Reductions which is generated from
various emissions reductions projects such as biomass
power generation, solar PV power generation, landfill gas
recovery and power generation, and coal mine methane
power generation. These International Certified Emission
Reductions are tradable carbon credit assets that comply
with the Gold Standard and the Verified Carbon Standard.

The Group only recognised the forward carbon-credit
assets which are subsequently realised and transferred
to spot carbon-credit assets. The carbon-credit assets
are stated at fair value on valuations performed by an
independent professional valuer during the year, Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited (2024: Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited.)

Fair value change on carbon-credit assets
Carbon-credit assets are measured at fair value less cost
to sell and the changes in fair value are recognised as fair
value change on carbon-credit assets in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

As at 30 June 2025, to provide an indication about the
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the
Group has classified its carbon-credit assets into the three
levels prescribed under HKFRS 13. An explanation of each
level is provided in Note 41.

MEREESBBEAEERMEBELNER
MRAZMEK  BRESERERBEENEKRR
ERHE  ZERHBEREEMEE KB
FOIRZEE - b7 IR R 5[] Y B T A R SRR R e
BEEZZEMHER - ZFERRERHFER
AXZNREREE TaELFEMBREMR

AEEEERREER LB RANREREE
ZEBMREREE - FA MEREERES
VYEEMGHEMSNERDERER (FE)BRA
A(ZE_OF: AREARFEBRAR) E
TRRERAABEIIR -

BEREENDIAEBESRE
RERBENAABERBEXAE MA
REEEFRFERELEME2EKRARTE
RRMEREBEZAEBES -

RZF_RAFAA=1TH REHEELLE
EMABABEBNAERERER AEERE
BB BHREENEBREEREBEES R
ZERER - BFERZHABERMEL -
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 ElZ=F = HFENA =+ HIFFE

20. CARBON-CREDIT ASSETS (continued) 20. MEREE &)
Fair value change on carbon-credit assets WMEREENAAEBEEE (B
(continued)
The fair value hierarchy of carbon-credit assets held by the TEERBENREREEAABERBRNOT -
Group is set out below.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-8 -t =8 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET THT TET

R-ZBE-HFEAXNA=1+H
EREE

As at 30 June 2025
Carbon-credit assets

100,163

100,163

As at 30 June 2024 R-EB-_WEXA=1+H

Carbon-credit assets

IEMEE - -

15,620 15,620

There are no transfers between any levels during the year/
period.

Carbon-credit assets have therefore been classified as level
3 in the fair value hierarchy, since market approach with

FHN - ERER MRS -

HRIREREERBEEREMSRE T HREA
BEamE A BtERABEERTHE

unobservable inputs from the international markets are HRE=R -

obtained.

F=ROIABETENESYR

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Significant
Valuation unobservable
technique inputs Range Sensitivity
R
fhE T EERARE gE BRE
Carbon-credit assets Comparable Reselling price less USD10.67/tCO,e—  The higher the reselling

price less cost of
sale of carbon-credit
certificates in the
market used, the
higher the fair value

cost of sale of
similar carbon-
credit certificates
in the market

transaction method USD26.40/tCO.e
(period from 1
January 2023 to
30 June 2024:
USD7.64/tCO.e -
USD9.79/tCO,e)
WEBEMBME LA 1067XT /M-8 RAMSLRERE

WiEREE AR5k

Lz HEEN {biiE2—-26.40 EMEEE R
$H & A AR EL/ MGk EBRAHEE AR
EE(HB-T-= (EEHS
F—HA—HEEE—
TWNFENA=ZT

BIFEAR - 7.643%
JL/ W SR E
8-979F7T
—atiEE
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21.

228

CONTRACT ASSETS 21. EHNEE
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
T Nl S
ANA=TH ~A=+H
HKS'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unbilled revenue of: (note a) REBWA : (FfizEa)
— Construction services —EHER 7,442 8,644
— Civil engineering services — T ARTIERE 53,001 49,712
60,443 58,356
Less: Allowance for impairment loss OB EEE RS (202) (1,422)
Sub-total NEF 60,241 56,934
Retention receivables of: (note b) EURRES : (M b)
— Construction services —BERS 5,475 9,562
— Civil engineering services —EARITRRRE 4,532 4,199
10,007 13,761
Less: Allowance for impairment loss OB EBERE (20) (224)
Sub-total /INEF 9,987 13,537
Total contract assets BWENERE 70,228 70,471
Notes: B 3

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s
right to receive consideration for work completed but not yet
billed because the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by
the customers on the construction and civil engineering services
completed by the Group and the service is pending for the
certification by the customers. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, which
is typically at the time the Group obtains the certification of the
completed construction work from the customers. The balance
of unbilled revenue of construction contracts is expected to be
recovered within one year.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represents the
Group’s right to receive consideration for work performed and not
yet billed because the rights are conditional on the satisfaction
of the service quality by the customers over a certain period as
stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, which
is typically at the expiry date of the period for the provision of
assurance by the Group on the service quality of the construction
and civil engineering services performed by the Group.

BRANAEENNREBERAEAREAERD T
TTRRKIMAE  BEURENAGEPERAEE
el m@EREARTRRETAIEE - BABRYE
IERFHP R AR ERE o RN B S IR IR -
BHNEENBREREKE SR  —RAXEEES
EPYHERTRETENRER REAUNREE
WABRIBREN - FRRREES -

FABNAENBURESEASEBEETETE
HAFAREN TIZKIAE  ERRFENEFE
FREWFTAZ —BERANEMREEZRTAER -
EREMKBEGE  —RAAEEL EATETMNE
S R TIZ ARFS ) ARFS B R FR (AR 38 00 AR JE U 5
BREEDERERKE SR -
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 21. BHEE®
The Group classifies these contract assets under current AEBRZECNEEDERRDEE  THA
assets because the Company expects to realise them in its ARREHREEEEERANKBHER -
normal operating cycle.
The Group has applied the simplified approach permitted REBHAEBVBRELEEIRRTE M
by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses EH R BEREEBRTEEEFENE
at lifetime ECL. The ECL on contract assets are estimated He-BRNEENTEREEBENGENERE
using a provision matrix. The provision rates for the HEMETH A EANEENTEHREER
measurement of the ECL of the contract assets are based BREBEEAZERKERAELE  DRENE
on those of the account receivables as the contract assets EREWEFEREERE S ER - BEEE
and the account receivables are from the same customer N (Bl - & mEE FREARTR) BHE
bases. The provision rates of contract assets are based on WAREFEMNME  6RNEENBEXTIN
days past due of account receivables of various customer EWERN GBS AEYE - BH & R
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical EMEAR BERBEBEARNSREBEHA
region, product type, customer type and rating). The SEBBATEMH  RERR R ARG B ATE
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, AR EEEEER -
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or RREFEE HERN  FEENEEBBRE
significant assumptions made during both year/period in RATERAR A ERMREARETEES -
assessing the loss allowance for contract assets.
The movement in the loss allowance of unbilled revenue is REBEWANEBEEREEZDHIOT
set out below:
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
ROZBZRF Sk ks
~A=1+H ~NAZ=1+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
At the beginning of the year/period NG ik 1,422 1,222
(Reversal of)/recognised on SRERE ChE) R
impairment loss (1,220) 200
At the end of the year/period NG PN 202 1,422

FEBFANEREEERAT / F# 2025
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 21. EHNEE®)
The movement in the loss allowance of retention FEWRE S BEEGEESFHINNT
receivables is set out below:
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
e AR a4
ABA=t1H ~NA=FAH
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
At the beginning of the year/period RE,/HiH] 224 100
(Reversal of)/recognised on BEEIE ChE) R
impairment loss (204) 124
At the end of the year/period R/ HIR 20 224
During the year ended 30 June 2025, HK$1,424,000 is BHE_Z-_AFA=1THLEE ANEE
reversal of (period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024: TBEIE B BB E 1,424,000 0 (B2 ==
HK$324,000 is recognised on) ECL on contract assets. F—A—HEBE-_ZE_NFA=+HILHRE:
#324,000%7T) ©
The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract RE R - W sk A E A 4K B 6 TE HIRE RS
assets as at the end of year/period is as follows: LUNE
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
REZ-HF Ryl
~NA=+H ~NA=+H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —FR 60,252 68,390
After one year —F1& 9,976 2,081
Total contract assets BEWEE 70,228 70,471
Set out below is the information about the credit risk T%%WHEEJ BEERETENEAEESNEE
exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a provision MEERRER
matrix:
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
A= Sk it =S
A~NA=1+H ~NA=ZT+H
ECL rate FEHEEEEX WA YA 1.18%-2.77%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Gross carrying amount FRERE 70,450 72,117
ECL FEHEEEIE 222 1,646
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

22. ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 22. FEWARRK
Account receivables represented receivables for contract EUERRIEE N TIEMEIRHIE - &4 TIRME
work. The payment terms of contract work receivables are Hﬂlﬁﬁmﬁ’]ﬁm BRREBEHTIR MEE
stipulated in the relevant contracts and the credit period M A308 - EREER ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁi/ﬁ\ NAfEE
is generally 30 days. The carrying amounts of account i‘ﬁ% NS B B H E AR A R I A A
receivables approximate to their fair values. The Group BHRm A MERER  BRETHE -

does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its account receivables balances and they are non-
interest bearing.

At
30 June
2024
M_ZZMF
NA=1H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FH&T
Account receivables JE UK BR 3k 40,763 22,071
Less: allowance for impairment loss R REERRE (1,874) (1,436)
38,889 20,635
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the ERFMERRRER EREREDEHFE
Group's account receivables relate to a few number of BPHEE WEEEESETRER  E—TFHE
major customers, there is concentration of credit risk and RERE P TEREM T 42505 ©
further details are discussed in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.
The aging analysis of the account receivables as at the end REZAHPRIBREBBEERREF HAR
of the reporting year/period, based on the invoice date and JEWEBR R Z BRER DTN T -
net of loss allowance, is as follows:
At
30 June
2024
R_T_MF
~NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Within 3 months =1EA LR 33,662 20,053
4 to 6 months HZE N E A 4,114 12
Over 6 months 7NEA LA £ 1,113 570
38,889 20,635
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

22. ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. BWERMR (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FEW AR FORE BB R EZEHMT -
account receivables are as follows:
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
REZBZRF ks
AA=t+A NAZ=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
At the beginning of the year/period RE,/E3H] 1,436 1,438
Recognised on/(reversal of) impairment R {EEEER, CFE) (HE9)
loss (note 9) 438 (2)
At the end of the year/period R/ HIR 1,874 1,436
Impairment A
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting REREDRGERBBEBEETRED T - A
date using a provision matrix to measure ECL on remaining HERMRERERCEREEEE A5EE
account receivables. The Group determines the provision 8% BB AR R 8915 & R B e P U AR B 1T
for ECL by grouping together account receivables with SH - WEE B ATEBEBR - LR E 5
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assessing LSRR - EMEETEAEEBBER -

them for likelihood of recovery, taking into account
prevailing economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TERESIE A EEEEET E A A S EE IR
exposure on the Group's account receivables using a WEER R ER

provision matrix:

Past due
gt
Over

Current  1-3 months 3 months Total

By —Z=@EA =@AUL st
At 30 June 2025 R-ZBE-RF
~B=+H

ECL rate FEHEEEEX 0.23% 0.10% 61.7% 4.60%

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

TH T TH T FHT FHT

Gross carrying amount FREAE 33,739 4,118 2,906 40,763

ECL FEHEEEE 77 4 1,793 1,874
At 30 June 2024 R-E-MNF
~NB=1+H

ECL rate FEHEEEEX 2.41% 14.29% 62.20% 6.51%

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT AT FHET

Gross carrying amount BRME4E 20,549 14 1,508 22,071

ECL FEHEEEE 496 2 938 1,436
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

23. AMNRE REREMERRK

At

30 June

2025
R-EB_RHF
~NA=1H
HK$'000
THET

RECEIVABLES

Prepayments T RIE

Loan receivables (note a) FEU E 3k (T3 a)
Deposits and other receivables R Rk H At FE YR

6,223
10,240
57,305

Less: Allowance for impairment loss

B ORE R R B

73,768
(8,774)

64,994

Note:

(a) The Group’s loan receivables are unsecured, with fixed interest and

repayable within 1 year.

At

30 June

2024
RZFEZOF
~NA=+H
HK$'000
FAT

38,001
8,100
11,965

58,066
(8,218)

49,848

(@ AEE 2 EREREER ZEEMNEABARIFA

At

30 June

2025
N-EBE_R &
~NA=1+H
HK$'000
FET

Represented by:
Current
Non-current

RER:
mE
EIrE)]

64,938
56

64,994

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

other receivables are as follows:

At the beginning of the year/period

Recognised on impairment loss (note 9)

R/ HH]

B EE R R (HFE9)

At the end of the year/period

REHIR

FEBFANEREEERAT / F 2025

At

30 June

2024
RZTEZHF
~NA=+H
HK$'000
T

47,963
1,885

49,848

At

30 June

2024
RZZTZAF
~NA=TH
HK$'000
FAT

1,661
6,557

8,218
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

234

24, BERBEEEEY

Cash and bank balances
Less: Restricted bank deposits

Re MRTTREH
B SR BIIRTT R

At At

30 June 30 June

2025 2024
A o Sl it
~NBE=1+H ~NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
120,654 139,438

(18,546) (1,313)
102,108 138,125

During the year end 30 June 2025 and period end from
1 January 2024 to 30 June 2024, the restricted bank
deposits included restricted as to use by the Group due to
legal actions against the Group and represented cash set
aside by the Group in banks designated as surety bonds in
favors of customers for due performance of the Group’s
obligations under a construction contract. The represented
cash set aside by the Group in banks designated as surety
bonds is expected to be completed within 36 months
(2024: 18 months) which will be released upon the
completion of the respective construction project. The
balances are classified as current assets.

The restricted bank deposits released during the year 2028
(2024: 2025).

At 30 June 2025, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$993,000
(2024: HK$416,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies. However, under PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

BHE-_ZE-_AF"A=1tHLEERBA-Z
—ME—A—BE-_Z-_MENA=+H L5
M ZREBITEFREEAEBATHAEE
RERFAMZRGERAMNRITER  UEAR
EEEBRTASERESHNE NNEBE MR
FRITARTFEBENEAERESFNIRE - &
EEAEETRITEBEEREF;NREBHN
36 A (ZZT P4 : 18 A7) A=A » R
HEEEERKERR ZEEBRDEAR
BHEE -

SEHBETHEIR _E-_NF (T _WF:
ZEZRF)BK -

R-ZEBE-_RFERNA=1H XEBUARE
EHIRS MIRTTHE#E 993,000 T (ZF MM
F :416,00087L) - ARBETNSERRBRAHE
fth & HE o ST - AR & R B SINE B IR M) R A TR
EEMTIESTERTE  AEEEEBBEERN
BIMNEEFHRITHEARE LB AHEME -

BITHEEN G BRITFHN RHT BRI R
S -
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

25. ACCOUNT PAYABLES 25. R
An aging analysis of the account payables as at the end of Hz?‘m HEREREF PREMNRRZRR
each reporting year/period, based on the invoice date, is as ST -
follows:
At
30 June
2024
T RZTZHEF
~NAZ=+H ~NAZ=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 3 months =@AUR 53,050 53,525
4 to 6 months EEWN(EPS 348 310
Over 6 months FNE A A E 2,369 848
55,767 54,683
At 30 June 2025, retentions payable included in RZZ_HFNA=1H S ARMERINRE
account payables amounted to HK$5,169,000 (2024: 14 £R B 5% /3 5,169,000/8 7T (= T — PO 4 :
HK$15,696,000). The carrying amounts of account 15,696,000/87T) © RN RSB EEEE AL
payables approximate to their fair values. BEMRE -
The account payables are non-interest-bearing and are FERBRR AR - —BRIFR NMET = 120 RAK
normally settled on terms ranging from 7 to 120 days. The o XNGEREBBELTETA -
payment terms are stipulated in the relevant contracts.
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HttENRKRFARER
At
30 June
2024
M_Z_mMF
~NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Accruals of costs for contract work &4 Iﬁﬂzﬂl’ﬁﬁﬂ%%ﬁ 57,004 42,639
Other payables A FEAT 3R m 24,098 47,037
Amount due to an immediate holding  FEf B2 AR A AIFRIE (M1&ED)
company (Note i) 26,852 22,216
Accruals TEiIRE A 39,941 21,274
147,895 133,166
Represented by: K& -
— non-current liabilities —JERBAE 447 3,031
— current liabilities —-nEBEaE 147,448 130,135
147,895 133,166
The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals Hip e RFEREANRAEEEAAREBEE
approximate to their fair values. HE -
()  The amount was unsecured, interest free and () FAEAFRBREER EZEREZRER

payables on demand.

FEBFANEREEERAT / F 2025
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27. FFERITREMER
BORROWINGS
At 30 June 2025 At 30 June 2024
RZEZRERA=TH RZE-_MEAAZTH
Contractual Contractual
Interest Interest
rate (%) rate (%)
per annum Maturity HK$'000 per annum Maturity HK$'000
AHEFRIZ . ANERNE o
(%) ) TAx (%) s THBL
Current e
Bank loan - secured FOEN-FEE 335%  ondemand 9,871 335% 2024 9,629
B EEX “FomE
Bank oans - unsecured FOEN-BER 10.26% 2025 S 6.97-9.64% 2025 325
—ECEfF “B-R%
Other loans - unsecured EHET-EEA 4.90-10.00% on d%nang S| 490-10.00%  on d}%mar%(_i 49,880
EES EEN
Other loans - unsecured AEN-BEA 3.45-8.00% 2025 11,164 3.45% 2025 2,825
—EBCRE “E-TE
76,270 62,659
Non-Current JEA1E
Bank loans - unsecured BOER-BER - 10.26% mg 457
“ECF
Other loans - unsecured AEN-EEE SUEL 500-800%  2025-2026 6,500
“EoREFR
—EoRE
31,823 6,957
30 June
2025
R=-ZB-FHfF
ANA=TH
HK$"000
TET
Analysed into: DR e
Within one year or on demand —FANNAEREEKEE 76,270
In the second year F_F 31,823

108,093

As at 30 June 2025, the Group failed to repay certain bank
and other loans with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$65,070,000 according to their scheduled repayment
date (2024: HK$1,500,000), which in turn permitted
the lenders to demand for accelerated repayment and
are classified as current liabilities as at 30 June 2025.
Subsequent to the reporting period, the bank loan of
approximately HK$9,871,000 was fully repaid by the
Group.

236

RZBE-_RAFRA=Z1+8 AEERERET
B HHEE R4 E 565,070,000 7% T H &
FRITREME R (ZZF ZMHF : 1,500,0005
T0)  HMAHFERABRKNBRET TR T
—HEARNA=ZTASEARBAERE - RREH
% AEECEREERITEFL9,871,000%
5T e
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 B ZE=F=HFNA=1+HIFFE

27.

28.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 30 June 2024, the Group failed to comply with
certain covenants of other loans with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$48,380,000, due to cross-default
of an overdue loan, which in turn permitted the lenders to
demand for accelerated repayment.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The convertible bonds recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are bifurcated into two
components for accounting purposes, namely the
liability component and the equity component, and the
movements in these components during the reporting
period are as follows:

27.

28.

FTRBITREARES

RZZE_WFA~A=Z+H AROBHERY
BRINEHN AEEXH %#Eﬁﬁé@ﬁ%
48,380,000 8 T HMERME TR @ #th
AHFERABRIRIE ©

CE:Y: st
#ﬁéﬁﬁ#&%ﬁ ) P #4555t & & PR
ARMEDS  BABRHHNEDHSH -

E?E*B TR ERANEFHIT ¢

Liability Equity
component  component Total
EERD ERDD Mst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H 177,544 327,908 505,452
Interest expense (note 8) FEFZ (M3E8) 41,245 - 41,245
Conversion of convertible bonds AR E S R EE iR (141,094) (236,330) (377,424)

At 30 June 2024 and E/\\_?_mi/\ﬁ—wLEl&

1 July 2024 —E-WEELA—H 77,695 91,578 169,273
Interest expense (note 8) FBERAX (MiEs) 15,305 - 15,305
At 30 June 2025 R-ZZE-RFA=+H 93,000 91,578 184,578

The details of the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible bonds are as follows:

ERREETARESASBEHBOT

HK$'000

FAET

At 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=F—HF—H 333,000

Conversion of convertible bonds Al AR (E & K E iR (240,000)
At 30 June 2024, 1 July 2024 and RZZBZMFRA=+TH ZZ_MF

30 June 2025 tA—Brh-_ZE-_RAFA=1+H 93,000

FEBFANEREEERAT / F# 2025
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On 4 February 2016, the Company issued zero coupon
convertible bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$390,000,000 to Power Expert Global Limited (“Power
Expert”) as part of the consideration for the acquisition
of Automotive Engines Business. The maturity date of the
convertible bonds is on the second anniversary of the date
of issuance (i.e. 4 February 2018). The convertible bonds
bear no interest on the principal amount. No security
or guarantee is granted in respect of the convertible
bonds. The convertible bonds can be converted into
195,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company at the initial
conversion price of HK$2.00 per conversion share (subject
to adjustment pursuant to the terms of the convertible
bonds). The Company may at any time before the maturity
date by written notice redeem the convertible bonds
at 100% of the principal amount. Any amount of the
convertible bonds which is redeemed by the Company will
forthwith be cancelled.

On 13 March 2018, the Company has executed the
extension of the maturity date of the convertible bonds
for 2 years from 4 February 2018 to 4 February 2020. On
8 November 2019, the Company and the then holder
of the convertible bonds, Power Expert, entered into an
amendment agreement, pursuant to which the maturity
date of the convertible bonds shall be extended for 5
years to 4 February 2025. This proposed amendment took
effect on 14 January 2020 (“CB Extension”). As a result
of CB Extension, the liability and equity component was
extinguished by a gain of HK$302,173,000 and loss of
HK$8,461,000 respectively based on revaluation upon the
date of execution, i.e. 14 January 2020. The revaluation
was carried out by Moore Transaction Services Limited
(“Moore”). On the other hand, the carrying amount has
been charged with imputed interest.

On 3 February 2020, the Company received a duly-
executed transfer notice from Power Expert notifying the
Company that Power Expert has agreed to transfer the
convertible bonds to LE Group Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“LEGH").
The Company has given its consent on the transfer and
issued new certificates of the convertible bonds to LEGH.

RZE— /\E AMHE ARFRAIHER
HERAA ([HEBRDBTASREAR

3%&%&m%ﬁ%§%ﬂ@%%%*uﬁﬁ
WS BB ERNIE D RE - AIRRES
MEHBEAETHENE-_EAFRHE (I =%
—NFEZAWA) - BREFHASTEIL T
B - MEF TR ESR LI ER - 7]
IR E AR S IR AR (D 2.00 8 TR ¥ 2038
BB (CRAFRIB AR ESFNERIELAR) X
5 7K A T 89 195,000,000 IR E A% o A A A
RIS AAEREAZEMABN  BALEN
100% fi& [B] ] 32 J% f& 55 o A8 2 &) By B8 2] /9 (£ {7
ATRESFSEE B -

RZZE—N\F=ZA+=H AQARBAHKRE
FZHHABBR-_E-NF_AEBLEERMTF
EZE_TF-_AMA -R=ZZTE—NF+—A
NB ARARIEERATBKKBESFE AR
IRIRET (& :JT;?%.:% UL - AR E 5 B Hf
BRERSFE_ZE_AF_AMNHA - iEFE
AR ZE_FF— ﬁ‘f’@ﬁixﬁ(((—ﬂﬁﬂﬁfi
FER] - ARABRESLER  RES
A5 — )EH'EEI)ZE%HETE ﬁ
& Rz 30 o Bl & 85 W %5 302,173,000 7% 7T
X J&518 8,461,000 7T ° E%ﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬂﬂl\ﬂoore
Transaction Services Limited ([ Moore |) #77 > 3

—hE - FEEECHBESENE -

RZZE-ZEF A=A A2RWEITTEEIRK
ZAFIUNEZRBAN M ADRIHERK
B[R E & 7] # % & % % 3 T LE Group Holdings
Pte. Ltd. ([LEGH]) - ARG E R Z#EEEE -
B BEITH A RAREHFE T LEGH ©
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On 7 October 2020, the Company received a transfer
notice from LEGH notifying the Company that LEGH has
agreed to transfer the convertible bonds back to Power
Expert. The Company has given its consent on the transfer
and issued new certificates of the convertible bonds to
Power Expert.

On 23 September 2021, the Company received a transfer
notice from Power Expert notifying the Company that
Power Expert has agreed to transfer the entire convertible
bonds to Quick Tycoon. The Company has given its
consent on the transfer and issued new certificates of the
convertible bonds to Quick Tycoon.

On 18 October 2021, the Company received an assignment
notice from Quick Tycoon notifying the Company that
Quick Tycoon has agreed to transfer the convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$2 million and HK$3 million
to two different independent party respectively. The
Company has given its consent on the transfer and issued
new certificates of the convertible bonds accordingly.

As at 30 June 2025, the convertible bonds had a carrying
amount of HK$184,578,000 (2024: HK$169,273,000),
in which HK$91,578,000 (2024: HK$91,578,000) was
recognised as equity and HK$93,000,000 was recognised
as current liabilities (2024: HK$77,695,000).

During the year, the imputed interest on convertible
bonds was amounted to HK$15,305,000 (period from 1
January 2023 to 30 June 2024: HK$41,245,000), in which
HK$14,647,000 (period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June
2024: HK$39,471,000) was related to the convertible
bonds held by Quick Tycoon.

During the year and period, no convertible bond was
converted into shares. As at 30 June 2025, convertible
bonds with principal amount of HK$240,000,000
(2024: HK$240,000,000) have been converted and the
outstanding principal amount of the convertible bonds was
HK$93,000,000 (2024: HK$93,000,000). The outstanding
principal in an amount of HK$93,000,000 matured on 4
February 2025 without settlement.

RZE-_ZF+AtH ARAIKELEGHR &
EEA MEARQAFLEGHE R EH I #KRES
EOIDAEIRIL - ARBICRBEEEEE WD
BT AR E S EE TITREIRER o

RZZEZ_—FNAAZ+=8 " AQaKEITH8E
RIRME AL ARG THRRRERE
BEHTRBEESEETHE ARARBERE
HEEIE WO BT A BRRESEETEE -

RZZBZ—F+A+NA ARERIGEHEH
BEBA HEARAFHCRAELEASER
2BEEAETAIBEETN A MAES D B EE
THABIE=ZFAL ARFCDRABEES
B UBRUETHABRRERES -

R-ZZE-_RFNA=1H  JBREEFEEE
/184,578,000 7T (Z & — U4 : 169,273,000
#or) - £ 91,578,000 #F T (ZF Z P04 -
91,578,0007% 7T ) #E:R A #E 2 [ 93,000,000 7% 7T
(ZZ U4 : 77,695,000870) R ATBAGE

RERN AR ESFHEERN S A15,305,000
BL(BZE-_=Z=F—A—HEZ2_Z_UF
SNAZ=1HIEEIR - 41,245,000 7T)  H A
14,647,000 T (A -_=F—HA—B#KEZE
B -ENA=1THIEE™ ¢ 39,471,000
L) SR E AT R ES B -

REARBRN SETRBRESFERBR
B e R_E-_RAFNA=ZFTH LA&EAE
240,000,000 7T (== — /Y4 : 240,000,000 i
JC) MR AR (E A5 B R - M M AR EE R A Rl 4R
A% {& % 74 %8 /4 93,000,000 78 7T (ZZ — P 4F ¢
93,000,000/8 JT) © 14 7 2 #2 7K & ¥4 93,000,000
BTER-_ZE-_AF-ANAEE BTELE -
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29. PROMISSORY NOTE

240

iz

A8

First Note F—

AEEE
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
s A T U
~NA=+H ~NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
16,099 16,099

On 4 February 2016, the Company issued two promissory
notes with face values of HK$174,250,000 (the
“First Note") in favour of Power Expert as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Automotive Engines
Business. Both the First Note and Second Note carry
interest at a rate of 10% per annum. The outstanding
principal amounts plus any accrued interest will be
repayable on the maturity date falling on the second
anniversary of the date of the First Note, i.e. 4 February
2018.

On 31 December 2017, the Company has extended
the maturity date of the First Note for 2 years from 4
February 2018 to 4 February 2020 and the interest rate
was adjusted downwards from 10% to 8% per annum,
all accrued and outstanding interest shall be repaid on the
extended maturity date of 4 February 2020.

On 8 November 2019, the Company and Power Expert
entered into an amendment agreement, pursuant to
which the term of the promissory notes will be changed
to perpetual and the interest rate will be fixed at 5% per
annum with effect from 5 February 2020, payable annually
and the interest accrued on or before 4 February 2020
shall be payable on 4 February 2025 (“PN Extension”).
Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 8 November 2019 and the Company’s circular dated
19 December 2019. This proposed amendment took
effect on 14 January 2020. As a result of PN Extension,
the gain on modification of promissory notes amounted
to HK$294,577,000 was recognised based on revaluation
upon the date of execution, i.e. 14 January 2020. The
revaluation was carried out by Moore.

MN-ZT—XE-AME AR FBEGRERRE
ﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ’ﬁﬁ%ﬂé%&%&%ﬁﬁﬁ
—ER])  DMERBREBRERHRERNIS
RE-FE— mﬁ%&%—m%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁm%ﬁ
B REBASBERMTMNRAFNEHAR
—EEME_ERFA (I =% — )\i_ﬂmm
WEIEEEE -

RZZE—+F+-A=+—H8 K27 &S

—EE AR \E-ANALEREMN
FEZZ-ZTF-_AMNABE MEMEZHI10%
THZE8% ' FTEER; AIE&r‘ﬁHaﬁ%‘J%;E
R_ZE-TF-ANAKERTPHES

R-ZE— hi‘f— AN\B » KRR EIFEERER
RINMAEE] s B A HEBRNHR BN A
KA Ei*'J%H%Z%S% E-T-_TF
AEBRBER BEXMF—k AR=ZE=F
FZAWNASZAEENFNEEAR-_ZE-_RAF
“AMBEYN(ERAEZEBER]) - 15
HINARTBSHA-_ZT—NAE+—ANBZ
NERAATBPHA-_ZE—AFET+_A+HIAE
ZHEER - WEHEBEIN _E-_EF—A+WUAH
EW e ARARZRER - RIESELHE(BIZ
Z-ZTF-A+WNHE) 2EFHHE BRIER]
AL 22 7 025 294,577,000 7 © EFEETY
M Moore 17 »
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29. PROMISSORY NOTE (continued)

On 3 February 2020, the Company received an assignment
notice from Power Expert notifying the Company that
Power Expert has agreed to assign the promissory notes to
LEGH. The Company has given its consent on the transfer
and issued new certificates of the promissory notes to
LEGH.

On 12 October 2020, the Company received an
assignment notice from LEGH notifying the Company that
LEGH has agreed to assign the promissory notes back
to Power Expert. The Company has given its consent on
the transfer and issued new certificates of the promissory
notes to Power Expert.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the promissory
notes were assigned to Quick Tycoon.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
had partial early redeemed the principal amount of the First
Note of HK$129,462,000 and a further principal amount
of HK$6,473,000 was waived by Quick Tycoon. As a result
of the redemption, a loss of approximately HK$74,562,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024,
the Company had partial early redeemed the principal
amount of the First Note of HK$22,216,000.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024,
the Company and the note holder reached an agreement
that the note holder has the right to demand repayment of
the principal with a notification period of not less than one
year. As at 30 June 2025, the carrying amount of First Note
was HK$16,099,000 (2024: HK$16,099,000), which was
recognised as non-current liabilities on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The carrying amount of the First Note as at 30 June 2025
and 2024 was computed by the outstanding face value.

29.

O RE ()

RZZZZTF_RA=R ARAFKITIEIRK
WEZEBH  MEARARINRIRIRE R B
REBEETLEGH - AARIEREEESEE
W EHTH AN RIEFE TLEGH

R-Z-ZTE+A+ -0 AQFUWEILEGHH
EEEA MEAATLEGHE AE B AN EiE
EREIDAEIRIK - ARRICREEEEE I
BITHAHBEBEEE FITEIRR -

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HItFE A}
ZECEETHE -

BE-_ET-_—_F#+-A=+t—RALEE-
RARAFRIERBEBEEZBE2XH» A& HE
129,462,000/8 70 » WESEE — SR B A EEE
6,473,000/ 7T - R BE @ - 4974,562,0007%8 7T
HEBREABENEME2EBRARER -

BE-_ZE_=%—A—HEBZ_Z_WNF,XA
Z+HILHE ARG EREERE—ZEZ
8> AN %E22,216,00078 7T °

BE-E-=F—-A-HBFZ - _MEXA
=+ HIEEE  ARRIEZEREEE AEK R
ZEFBEABRETNOR—FHRMNBRER
EEAE R-_T-_RAFE~A=ZFTH =
BB BE M E 416,099,000 7T (Z & — U 4F :
16,099,000/87C) ' ERGRAE MBI EKER A
EREEaE-

F—EBER_TE-_RAFE-_T_NFSA=1+
HHEEEERN R EERAENE -
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30. DEFERRED TAX 30. IEZERIIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year/ F/EHNECHEEENZBERAT
period are as follows:
Depreciation
Fair value allowance
change on in excess
carbon-credit of relates
assets depreciation Total
BEREEN HBBHEBITE
AREEEE NNERBE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET FAET
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H 797 54 851
Deferred tax credit to profit or loss ~ HIA T A Bz A
during the period (note 12) REIEFIR (F5E12) 1,071 - 1,071
At 30 June 2024 and RZZ-MERA=+TER
1 July 2024 RZE-_WF+HA—H 1,868 54 1,922
Deferred tax credit to profit or loss ~ F AT ABzE A
during the year (note 12) EERTE (H5E12) 9,213 - 9,213
At 30 June 2025 R-ZZE-_hEA=+H 11,081 54 11,135

242

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$198,787,000 (2024: HK$164,934,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses
are losses of HK$36,445,000 (2024: HK$25,757,000) that
will expire in 2030 (2024: 2029). Other losses subject to
the final assessment of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department may be carried forward indefinitely.

RBMEBR AEENASAHEEBEES
198,787,000 7T (== — V0 £ : 164,934,000
BT BARE ARG - EEHBEELSA
A AR B A 60 AN B] FEB M i I ERE R o 5T A
ARIFER T IAE 18 & B8 36,445,000 0 (=
ZPY4F 25,757,000 ) iR = = T F 5| 5
(ZZE-WF: —T-NF) HMEERAEGSE
B BRI AR - TTER BRI o
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31. SHARE CAPITAL [N
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
K== HF et
~NA=+H ~NAZ=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Authorised: R
10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 A%
(2024: 10,000,000,000) (ZZZP94F : 10,000,000,000 i%)
ordinary shares of SRAE.0 BT EBAX
HK$0.01 each (note i) (B EED 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EBITRER
At 1 January R—H—H 3,205
Share issued upon subscription (note i) 377 R EER% D (Bt £ i) 60
Placement of new shares (note iii) fid & FA% 15 (B =T i) 893
Conversion of convertible bonds s R ES (V)
(note iv) 1,200
Subscription of shares (note v) REEMR 1 (FEEv) -
At 30 June RANA=+8 5,358

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

(i) References are made to the announcements dated 22 September
2023, 26 September 2023, and 11 October 2023. At the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 11
October 2023, the Company’s authorised share capital increased
from HK$5,000,000 to HK$100,000,000 by passing an ordinary
resolution for an additional 9,500,000,000 new unissued shares of
HK$0.01 each.

AR BB BAERT B F IBHN R A B RRM T
32°

(i) RMBBAZ_=FNLAZ+ZH ZT=_=F
NAZ+ARBERZZZ=F+A+—R2Z2A2% - RXK
RAE-T-_=F+A+—BRTZREAFI KRS
b BB EES)9,500,000,000 B F B EE 0.018 7T
WARBITHRMD L BREAR KRB ZEERANA
5,000,000 % 7T 3 1 % 100,000,000 % 7T °
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31.

244

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

On 4 April 2023, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with an independent third party. Pursuant to the
subscription agreement, the Company allotted and issued 6,000,000
ordinary share of the Company at HK$2.5 per share. The aggregate
cash subscription price received before share issue expense was
HK$15,000,000. This transaction resulted in an increase of the
issued share capital and share premium account of HK$60,000 and
HK$14,940,000, respectively.

On 27 October 2023, the Company issued an aggregate of
89,300,000 placing shares to not less than six places at the placing
price of HK$0.4 per placing shares. This transaction resulted in an
increase of the issued share capital and share premium account of
HK$893,000 and HK$33,753,000, respectively.

On 26 April 2023, the Company issued 80,000,000 conversion
shares to an independent third party who exercised the conversion
rights of the convertible bonds to the extent of HK$160,000,000
at HK$2.00 per conversion share. This transaction resulted in an
increase of the issued share capital and share premium account of
HK$800,000 and HK$250,584,000, respectively.

On 5 May 2023, the Company issued 40,000,000 conversion shares
to a company controlled by an executive director of the Company
who exercised the conversion rights of the convertible bonds to
the extent of HK$80,000,000 at HK$2.00 per conversion share.
This transaction resulted in an increase of the issued share capital
and share premium account of HK$400,000 and HK$125,640,000,
respectively.

On 4 December 2024, the Company (as issuer) entered into six
separate subscription agreements with six independent third parties
in respect of an aggregate of 107,160,000 subscription shares
at the price of HK$0.22 per share. This transaction resulted in an
increase of the issued share capital and share premium account of
HK$1,072,000 and HK$22,504,000, respectively.

31.

(iii)

(v)

YREWE - RERBHE - AARAEBRKR25E TR
%} 176,000,000 R AR 2 7] & i@ AR o MR TG B
32 AT WCE B 4837 © SRR fE 18 /% 15,000,000 8 7T © L2
SEHERITIRA KRG 5 BB 5 B2 I160,000 % T
1%14,940,000%8 7T ©

RZBZ=F+A=-++tB ARANUNEGREER
HOABTHREEBRN TP RANBERAZTEHR
89,300,000 IR L & A& 15 © WX S EH B BT A KR
1335 (B Bk > 31|38 51 893,000 % 7T &% 33,753,000 7 7T

RZZZ=FMNA=Z+"B  KNARUGRIERBKGD
2.007 7T [7) — 4 17 % 160,000,000 7% 7T 7] #4 f% 1& 5 Y
AR B9 M 7 55 = 75 $7780,000,000 AR 32 AR A% 15 © 1t
R 5EHE BT KR 5 5 (8 BR 9 511 51 800,000
7570 &% 250,584,000 7 7T ©

RZTZ=FHAHA ' ARRAESRIRKAH2.00
75 7[R — 4 17 {5 80,000,000 7% 7T 7] #2 B (5 55 40 #2 AR 8
H)ZR A B0 1T 2 B4 I /O 2 8] %97 40,000,000 A% 2 A%
A&7 © 1132 58 BB 84T AR AR R i 19 05 (B BR 3 B3 AN
400,000 7 7T % 125,640,000 8 7T ©

RZT—WFE+=AMAB - KAQE (EAEITA) D3
BN E = F A $£107,160,000 AR 52 B A% 19 A
FRO2D2BTHMERI I ADRE R - WX HER
BT A & % 19 )4 B B8R 9 513 111,072,000 7 7T &
22,504,000 7T °
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Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 24 March
2016, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”).
Unless otherwise terminated or amended, the Scheme will
remain in force for 10 years from the date of adoption.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the Scheme include full-time or part-time employees,
including any executive directors of the Group; and any
business or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or
representatives, consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers
or licensors, customers, licensees (including any sub-
licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any
sub-tenants) of the Group or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute
to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 29 March
2016 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of
the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue as at the date when the Scheme was approved by
the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting,
which is a total of 20,000,000 ordinary shares available for
issue under the Scheme. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant
in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at
the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

BER-ZZF-—XR"FZA-THABRARZ @R
B AR FBCRHE R AT B AR AT 8 ([
&I - BRIFRITRIEHIERT - B AIZET 8
BERA B HIRRET 10 F AT AR -

ZitBlz B ARRAAEELERNELER
ZREBRZEFRHEIBROE - ZFHEZE
ERMSEEBEEBIRBES  BHEAKHE
ZIEARTES  RAKEZEMEHREGZ
EERH AEW HEHRER HHA R
HER  LEBKFEA TR  BEEAE
R FEERA) XD HEE  FETHEF (2
BEFRFEP) REES2RBBERR/D LR
AREEHAKEELERZERMAL - ZaHE
RZFB-—ARF=ZA=-+TNBER BRIFEXTR
HRERT BRI EZ AR 10F#IFER -

B AR E & 8 TR Z RITEBRESR
SEE RREN (EREITRR) AR R NZET
EARRRRRERRAG LHIEER ZE %
TEIBRARRE10% < 85 - BVIRIEZAHEIA]
F 8174 $£20,000,000 A 38 A% o B A it &)
BHREER2RBENMEM12EA PRANRER
A ERTZRONESEE /ST EHEAN
REMEMR RS HTRONI% - LE—F
BEHBHILREZ BRESALRRERRAK
gL -

RPARRES THRAEZINEERRNIEM
BECBMEABIE  BELRLEBILIFNT
BEHE o IO ERRER121E A SR AR
FARBEERRLBILIFATEFREMMRK
EZBMEAZBRERLAQBNEARERD
TR 0.1% kA E BRA R R R R H
RHZ BRI BESARETHAKLKRERE
BRERAE EEEHAE -
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. BRERTE ()
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted REBRECZHAINENAIRT21RA -
within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment RAERAZNEZEREE L 1BTE TAER -
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the ERLERECTTEHRESET  WEER
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted EE2XE B R 10FRER -
is determinable by the directors and ends on a date which
is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options.
The exercise price of the share options is determinable by BREZITEERESETE  HIAEIR T
the directors, but should not be less than the highest of (i) ZwEE  (OWRELERERBES S
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated BREXRMIZAQFABROUTE : HRE
in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet ZZ X AHRSERZ S B EE BB IFAMY 2
on the date of grant of share options; (ii) the average of RARRHDFHWHE  RGi)ARRIRGD 2HE
the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated B-
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the 5 trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company.
Details of the outstanding share options and movements HE-_ T -_AFAZ-T+HLEFEERRTED
of the share options during the year ended 30 June 2025 BREREREZEFBENT :
are as follows:
Number of share options
L EE
Asat Asat Exercise
Name or category 1July 30 June price
of participant 024 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2025 Date of grant HKS  Exercise period Vesting period
igut Jadit iut ki3 4|
puEEATEH th-H BEH iy d B4 #E=TR REAH B kR 5RE
Directors
£
M. Diling 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 - 13 Aprl2021 7268 12 April 2022- 13 April 2021-
11 April 2025 11 Apil 2022
if S o “ECCERATORE “E-EmATERE
mAT=R ZECRERAT-B ZECCERAT-R
Employees 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - 13 Api 2021 7268 12 April 2022- 13 Apr 2021-
11 Aprl 2025 11 Aprl 2022
1] -5 “RCCERAToAE “REmAT=RE
mATZR ZECRERAT-R ZECZERAT-R
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 20 September 2022 249420 September 2022- Vested on 30 September
19 September 2032 02
“5- TRIIEAACTRE R-B-ZFNA=TH
NAZTH ZECZERATAR 58
- 8,000,000 - - 8,000,000 23 January 2025 0262 23 January 2026- Vested on 23 January 2025
2 January 2028
JECEE JEOAECRCTZRE O RCERCIF-ACTER
-fZ13H “E\E-A-tIR R
6,500,000 8,000,000 - 3500000 11,000,000
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. BRERTE ()
Details of the outstanding share options and movements BE-Z_=F-A-ARBZE_FT_MFHA
of the share options during the period from 1 January = B LR R T 8 O R I R v
2023 to 30 June 2024 are as follows: FEOT
Number of share options
BhiEse
Asat Asat Exercise
Name or category 1 January 30 June price
of participant nB Granted Exercised Lapsed 2004 Date of grant HKS  Exercise period Vesting period
H-gzzf jidut 113 ek
SRANEARN -f-R BRi Bfif BAR  ARZTR REAH ik 5RE
Directors
Bz
. DiLing 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 13 Apri 2021 7268 12 April 202- 13 April 2001-
11 April 2025 11 Aprl 2022
BE% Ro-E CIIEMATIAE CEC-EMATERE
mA+=H “ECRERAT-B CECCERAL-R
Mr. Chen Xin Wej 13,500,000 - - 13,500,000 - 20 September 2022 2494 20 September 2022 Vested on 2 December 2022
19 September 2032
RaELE IEE EIIERACTAE ACBIIEIAZH
NB-tR ESIEAATAR BR
Employees 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 13 April 2021 7268 12 April2022- 13 Apri 2001-
11 April 2025 11 April 2022
& Bk “ECCERATCRE CEC-FMATRE
mA+=H “TCRFRAT-R ZECCERAT-R
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 20 Septernber 2022 249420 September 2022 Vested on 30 September
19 September 2032 2022
Sl CEIENAZTEE O RIECCEARCTE
AAZTH SRSCEAATAR BB
20,000,000 - - 13500000 6,500,000
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
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The closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately at the date of grant of share options on 23
January 2025 was HK$0.26.

The fair value of the share options granted in 2025 was
HK$1,028,000, of which the Group recognised a share
option expense HK$1,028,000 during the year ended 30
June 2025.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
in 2025 was estimated as at the date of grant using
a binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

32.

BRESE

AARBEEREREBH (T _AF—A
Z+=H)NBRHKTEARC26E T -

RZEZAFRHENERENAAEER
1,028,000 70 AEBEE T _HAF <A
=+ A FEERERER1,0280008 T -

RIZ-RF BTAREEENBLRES R
REESERTZHER ZENELNGE X
RERETBRER R ERAGEE - TR
PiT FR AR BY 1) 8 A BRI

2025

—EhF

Dividend yield (%) B B2 (%) -
Expected volatility (%) T8 8RR B) (%) 78.61
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 2 B2 F1) 2R (%) 3.24
Risk-free rate throughout share option (%) %& & % A% #E 79 £2 &L 5% F1| R (%) 3.18
Expected life of options (year) ERETERTFEH () 3
Share price (HK$ per share) & (& (TR T) 0.26

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

BRERFHDORBEE=FELEMEL -
WA —FRTAGEEENITETN - HERD
R —TEERR MELRBRARKBES - H
T—ERBRHER -

ERHBERENEMFBLERARLEED

HE
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33. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the reporting period are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

(9,

(d)

Statutory surplus reserve

Transfers from retained profits to the statutory
surplus reserve were made in accordance with the
relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC.

For the entities concerned, the statutory surplus
reserve can be used to cover previous years' losses, if
any, and may be converted into capital in proportion
to equity holders’ existing equity holdings, provided
that the balance after such conversion is not less
than 25% of their registered capital.

Share option reserve

It represents the fair value of share options vested
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained
in the accounting policy of share-based payments
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related share options are
exercised, or transferred to retained profits should
the related share options lapse or be forfeited.

Capital reserve

Certain amount of gain or loss arising from the
waiver of interest of amount due to a shareholder
was recognised as capital reserve.

Fair value reserve of financial assets at
FVTOCI

It represents the cumulative gains and losses
arising on the revaluation of investments in equity
instruments designated as at FVTOCI.

33. #E

AEERBERNRESRREEINGE#
BEPRET

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

FEBFANEREEERAT / F# 2025

EEBBREE
REBENEBREEERBRFEEIRET
B 48 B8 R BI KooK AR DA R AR X R B AR
MNEMEARMASZIZMANEDL

MEBEERME EAERBHEEYBE
B BEFEEIE QE) A RS
BEARBNSREAIERBIA
REBEBRENESTELOREFME
KE)25% ©

BRERE
HERCDHEBERNARTENBREZA
REE  FRESVBHRERMEIIE AR
MARERZNFINEARRNERE - E
HEBREETER ZFEETEES
BAEEARMEER  RiHE0HERE
RBEBORY - MEAREBRF -

BEXRRRE
ENBRRRBAZMNEREMELENE T
W BB BERRENER -

BAARBESAEMEZEKBAIRZ
THMEENAABERE
HERERUEAABEMAREMZE
WAF Rz TEREENHEME
EH Rt REE -
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION
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On 27 March 2023, the Group acquired 73% equity
interest in Shenzhen Jianxin Zhuhe Technology Company
Limited (“Jianxin Zhuhe”) and its name has been
change as Green Credit Technology on 7 April 2024 after
combination. Upon completion of the acquisition, China
Carbon Green Credit Technology (Shenzhen) Company
Limited (“Green Credit Technology”) becomes a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

Green Credit Technology is principally engaged in the
carbon neutral business through the application of
its carbon digitalization and blockchain technology
platform which provides carbon information monitoring,
management and other services in the People’s Republic
of China. Green Credit Technology is a national high-tech
enterprise and has obtained the certification of information
security level 3 protection, CMMI level 3 certification, and
ISO system certification, etc., and has more than 30 soft
writings and patents in artificial intelligence, blockchain,
big data, etc.

The purchase consideration was HK$19,686,000. The
acquisition of the Green Credit Technology has been
accounted for using the acquisition method.

On 18 March 2024, the Group acquired 60% equity
interest in Zailiang New Energy. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Zailiang New Energy becomes a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group.

Zailiang New Energy is an approved lithium battery
recycling white-listed enterprise by the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of China, with one of the only
52 graded utilization licenses nationwide. Its main business
includes the graded utilization, dismantling, recycling of
lithium batteries for new energy vehicles, as well as the
disposal and recycling of waste electrical and electronic
products, and the sale of used goods.

The purchase consideration was HK$30,000,000. The
acquisition of the Zailiang New Energy has been accounted
for using the acquisition method.

34.

EBA

RIB-_=F=ZA=-++tB AEBEBERI
MEEEMMRBERAR (REEM) H73%
i MEABRAHER _FT_MFMONAL
AERRRERZ - ERRBR  RHREER
FRIDBERAR ([RERBK]) KSR EEN
F2EHERR

ARSI E BORIB IR A AL B O R 3R 3 1

MFaRFRPMES  EHEARKMBELRE
HuEREER EEREMRT fo*ﬂ&xs
—RERXSHRMEE BEESEEREER

=71 K

17?(,];7 RRE
L BAESPRATERE-
ZIEWMEMEF -

* CMMI 34432 M&BOEE%M &
&R - REUIEZ30

B EMR(EA19,68600087T  WHELZERED
FE AU EAR -

RZBZWF=A+N\H  AEBWEBH
BEIREY60% fx i - TR MIBIR - B FEEIRA
RAEENIEZENBE A

BRFEReSPEBER TEAHENESED
BB ELE  HAZBEES2KNHRTN A
JEIR - H T & XK BHEH L IRITE SR B EE
RMA g DR MNEEREREFEMERRE
MERAREGHES -

8% B {8 /&30,000,000/8 7T - WHEB=FHER
EERUREE AN -
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
each acquisition as at the respective dates of acquisitions
are as follows:

34. EBEO)

ERUEABIEELRABNESBWE RN

NABEET

Green Credit Zailiang
Technology New Energy Total
ZERE BEHER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
Plant and equipment W3 & 2% 1 79 1,891 1,970
Account receivables FEUAR R 338 - 338
Prepayments and other receivables F81< 2t I8 K E i & U 3% 429 1,297 1,726
Inventories FE - 2,406 2,406
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHER 278 228 506
Interest-bearing bank ST RERITREMIER
and other borrowings (1,829) - (1,829)
Account payables FE T BR K (1,012) (97) (1,109)
Accruals and other payables TBIREB RN HMEN R (565) (551) (1,116)
Total identifiable net (liabilitiesy ~— AR BEE 2 A %5
assets at fair value F(BE) EERLE (2,282) 5,174 2,892
Acquisition consideration WK E 19,686 30,000 49,686
Non-controlling interests JEVE A% M 2 (616) 2,070 1,454
Fair value of net identifiable BUEE R R FRE 2
amount acquired AAEE 2,282 (5,174) (2,892)
Goodwill arising from the BUWEEEES 2 HE
acquisition 21,352 26,896 48,248
Details of the acquisition considerations are as follows: WEREFBWLT
Green Credit Zailiang
Technology New Energy Total
BERHE BR#HER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHE T FHE T
Consideration satisfied by: BATEAZARE:
Payables FET R - 7,864 7,864
Cash Be 19,686 22,136 41,822
19,686 30,000 49,686

FEBFANEREEERAT / F# 2025
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34.

35.
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Group, the fair value
of account receivables, prepayments and other receivables
as at the respective acquisition dates of Green Credit
Technology amounted to HK$342,000 and HK$429,000
respectively of which account receivables of HK$4,000
are expected to be uncollectible. Also, the fair value of
trade receivables, prepayments and other receivables as
at the respective acquisition dates of Zailiang New Energy
amount to HK$1,297,000.

Analyses of the cash flows in respect of the above
acquisitions are as follows:

34. ¥BE6tH®
AEBEFERE  SERERASKER B E
B BRFEREMERZOAREED
Rl 342,000 7T & 429,00078 7T » E A EULER
3X4,000 8 T IR ESAURE o L o) - B ETAEIR
REWEBBRNERE ZHE BNRAERE
fth FEUR FREY A S (BB A 1,297,000 7T °

PN B EEERRSRESTAOT

Green Credit Zailiang

Technology New Energy Total

RENE BRIER mat

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET FHET

Considerations settled by cash NBeEE 2 RE (19,686) (22,136) (41,822)

Cash and cash equivalents MEREMESFEY

acquired 278 228 506
Net outflow of cash and cash FAREES ZCBHEEREN
equivalents included in cash ZHeRASEEMRD

flows from investing activities S RE (19,408) (21,908) (41,316)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$7,746,000 (period from 1 January 2023 to 30
June 2024: HK$9,111,000) and HK$7,746,000
(period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024:
HK$9,111,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises.

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June
2024 the Group had non-cash settlement of early
repayment of promissory note of HK$22,216,000
with amount due to an immediate holding company
which included in other payable in the consolidated
financial position.

35. FEREREBERME

(a) FEFBEELRH

RERN - B RBATMEELZEEmMS - &
SEFBRSAREFEAREERTEAE
DR AE7,746,0008 T (B = =F —
A—BRZ_ZT_FXA=+HIH
fE : 9,111,000 JT) WA K 7,746,000 78 7T
(B2 -_=F—F—HEEZ_ZT_NF
NAZ=+THIEERE :9,111,000/87T) °

BE-_E-_=ZF—A—H®BE_T _UF
NAZTBLEM AEEEREEE
A 5 245 22,216,000 78 7T M JE N B R
ABIRIEBENIERCEE T AREY
AR B T E MR -
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. Z#8RE&RERMT )
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REMETHNEEES
activities
Interest-
bearing bank
and other  Convertible Promissory Lease
borrowings Bonds Notes Liabilities
FERTR
Hitfgy  TRRES RRAER HEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FHET T
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—F—H 7,500 177,544 16,099 17,895
Changes from financing BERSREZD
cash flows 60,700 - - (16,573)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE B A A 1,829 - - -
New leases mHE - - - 9,111
Exchange realignment EE 3, 8 2 413) - - 179
Interest expense FIERAY - 41,245 22,216 1,771
Conversion of BRABRES
convertible bonds - (141,094) - -
Early repayment of promissory 12 R{EE# % 2 iF
note - - (22,216) -
At 30 June 2024 RZZ-MFRA=TH
and 1 July 2024 E—ZE-_mNF+HF—H 69,616 77,695 16,099 12,383

Changes from financing RERSTELD

cash flows 32,727 (7,575)
New leases HHE 7,746
Exchange realignment B (139)
Deregistration of subsidiaries 7 $5F{ &2 7] (588)
Lease modification HEBE] (3,536)
Transfer from other payables 2 /5 E ffh & {4 7% -
Interest expense FERE 772
At 30 June 2025 R-TE_hF

~A=1H 108,093 9,063
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. #RE&BR&REBRM T (®)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HERESRHARE
The total cash outflow for long-term leases included AGEReRETHRBEERER
in the consolidated of cash flows is as follows: Haagam T
Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 30 June 2024
B-ZE_=F
e —H—HRZE
—E_hHEF T
ANA=T1H ~NA=+H
IEFE LEEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within operating expenses EEERXBEN 2,237 1,055
Within financing activities EREEEEHEN 7,575 16,573
9,812 17,628
36. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 36. HEZHE
Particulars of the Group’s joint operation as at 30 June BRASER-_Z_AFR_ZT-_NF A
2025 and 2024 are as follows: =t+H/H ﬁ‘“%’??l LU
Form of Place of Percentage of attributable Principal
Name of joint operation business structure  operation interest of the Group activities
HEKEER EREBER REGH AEEREELEOL TEER
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
RoB-HF e ik
AA=+H ~AZ=TH
% %
EXCEL - LANON Joint Venture  Body unincorporated ~ Hong Kong 51 Construction
(note a)
a-mEaErE(HEa) FRREA G BETR
(@ Under the joint operation agreement, the joint (@ WEHAKEHR HRLBAEESYD
operators have contractually agreed sharing of IETﬁEj%EEZ?E/D\ FUE AR S
control over the relevant activities of this body =% - Ht - ZIER TP&'/\TJEE$‘$@
unincorporated, hence this body unincorporated Ko Hqth 2[R 4% 2 A 3% ﬂ? &l o Lkoh
is jointly controlled by the Group and the other KEHZRINAREE R LB LHEHR ﬁ?@

254

joint operator. Furthermore, the joint operation
agreement specifies that the Group and other party
to the joint arrangement have rights to the assets
and obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint
arrangement in accordance with the attributable
interest of the Group as disclosed above and the
interest attributable to the other joint operator
respectively, therefore the body unincorporated is
classified as a joint operation. The joint operation
is principally engaged in construction work to carry
out the provision of barrier-free access facilities for
highway structures in Hong Kong.

AIREBEEAMBEANEEREER R
HikREEARGERDFIEERRH

Hk?ﬁtﬁ’]éﬁ%%ﬂ&ﬁﬁ%i‘% AL
SHRAREAD R BLFLE - HE
EIBNFERETIR /RBENERE
LM RN EERBERE
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37.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Particulars of the Group’s associate as at 30 June 2025 and
2024 are as follow:

Form of Place of
Name of an associate business structure  operation
BENT AR (BEBRI R
Climate Shop (Shenzhen) Co., Limited liability PRC (Mainland
* (note a) Company China)
RIEEE (RI)BRAR e NG HEl (R EIAM)

GIET))

The English name of this company represents the best effort made
by the management of the Company to directly translate its Chinese
name as no official English name has been registered.

The Group participates 30% in setting up the new associate named
Climate Shop (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Climate Shop”) on 14
September 2023 in Shenzhen Province which majors in technological
innovation and technical services for carbon management and
carbon finance.

Under the associate agreement, the Group has significant influence
over Climate Shop, containing the power to participate in decision-
making with respect to the financial and operating policies of
Climate Shop.

Furthermore, the associate agreement specifies that the Group and
other investor to the associate have rights to the net assets with
the attributable interest of the Group as disclosed above and the
interest attributable to the other investor respectively, therefore
Climate Shop is classified as an associate.

37. R—REBEQRT 2RE

RZBE-_RAFR-_ZT-_WNFA=1+H &%

ErEE A ARFEOT

Percentage of attributable Principal
interest of the Group activities
AEEREEGBOL TREHR

At At

30 June 30 June

2025 2024

B-RF RZZ_MEF

=+A ~NA=TH

% %

30 Provision of
technological

ff AR %5

innovation and
technical services for
carbon management
and carbon finance
REHREENR S
BRAO AT BIRT B 3t

* AT EFMEREX SR SRR ZEXRET
HARRIEEERRASNEZEETXAEHE -

(a RZF_=FAA+EA  REEEA30% K
FUxRE CRYD AR AR ([RIRBEIE D W= AR

i%i%

ZARURRY - EREEHHRE E*ﬂﬁfifﬂﬁ’]&fﬁ

BT R MRS -

REWE R AEEHRREESERY

A RS B RURRE 5 B 75 §Eﬁ%ﬁ’w&ﬁﬂ&

8

S - B AR ARE RZBEARNEME
AER MR EARERE G R R AR EER
EER DR %ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ%ﬂ PR bt S 10 78 U 4 0 2

BB EAT
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 30 June 2025 and 2024, the Group had the
following contingent liabilities:

(@ At 30 June 2025, the guarantees given by the Group
to certain banks in respect of performance bonds in
favour of certain contract customers amounted to
HK$15,249,000 (2024: HK$16,777,000).

(b) In the ordinary course of the Group’s construction
business, the Group has been subject to a number of
claims due to personal injuries suffered by employees
of the Group or the Group’s subcontractors in
accidents arising out of and in the course of their
employment. The directors of the Company are
of the opinion that such claims are well covered
by insurance and would not result in any material
adverse impact on the financial position or results
and operations of the Group.

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following material transactions
with related parties during the reporting year/period:

38. FAEE
BHE_Z_RAFR_T_NEXA=TH K
EEE TIHAREE :

(@ MZTZE-_HEFNA=1H KA&EgERHE
FAHBEFZEBHNRBS MBS TR
IR IER A 15,249,0008 T (ZE =M
£ 116,777,000 7T) ©

) EAXAEBERZEXBHNATERES XK
BEZRAKESAAEEDEHNERE
XEAEBLERIIERAGBEEMER
ETRE -ARAEERAR ERAREE
RRBEAREE TS AEE O
BRI FEEREEERERERTF

By 488
Fao

30. BBARS

(a) BZSEAVBRREMBY TR L
R REHRIN REBRBEFHA
DHEEB O ETTIEARS

Period from
Year ended 1 January
30 June 2023 to
2025 530 June 2024
s —HA—HEEE
—E_RE —E-pF
~NA=1+H ~NA=+H
IEE 1FEARE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B3 FTET FHEIT
Interest expenses of other loans KB AN A F —ZRE
from related companies FrER @~ 78
owned by a shareholder of the ~ H b EFKAF|E L
Company (i) 2,085
Interest expenses of other loans  REAR QAR —ZEEH
from a director of the Company ~ H AL E M F 5 (i) 177

Interest expenses of other loans
from a Non-Controlling Interest

KB IR R A
H ity & 5RH) F 85I (iif)
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 30. BBARS (&)

(a) (continued) (a) (&)
The following balances are outstanding at the end of UTHEm X EENESRNREF
the reporting year/period in relation to transactions BAR MR EE -

with related parties:

At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
R-BZEHF R-T-QF
RA=ZTH ~NA=ZTH
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pitat TER TET
Loans from related companies owned by KB AR F—BREFES
a shareholder of the Company BB AR ER 0] 35,650

Loans from a director of the Company KERRR—ZEENER (ii) 3,230

Loans from a Non-Controlling Interest 7k FFR R ERH E X (i) -

Notes: Bt 5T -

(i) During the period ended from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 0} BT -=5—-A-HRE-T-_WFXA
2024, the loans of HK$37,450,000 and HK$2,000,000 =+HIEHE BRRE—2RREE2EHED
received from two companies, which are wholly owned by M X A 8 9 5l /37,450,000% 7T K 2,000,000
a shareholder, were unsecured, payable in the second half BTHERAEEAE  BR-TZNF T EEF
year of 2024 and annual interest rates at 4.9% and 8% BE FHEHFIAL49% K8% °
respectively.

(ii) During the period ended from 1 January 2023 to 30 June (ii) BE-Z-_=5—-A-HRE-ZT-_WNFEXA
2024, the loans of HK$5,030,000 received from a director Z+BRIEHSE BERKREARR-—REER
of the Company were unsecured, payable in the second half 5,030,000 TH ER AEENR AR _F
year of 2024 and annual interest rates at 8.5%. ZIFETHFEE  FHNERE85% -

(i) During the year, the loans of HK$28,591,000 received from (i) FR - BUORE FFERE R 28,591,000 LY
Non-Controlling Interest were unsecured and annual interest BERAEER  FREF8% -
rates at 8%.

(b) Compensation of key management (b) AEEFEEEASHMH

personnel of the Group . — o

Further details of the compensation of key AEBERERABHME-—FFHBH

management personnel of the Group are included iR &M REMTE 1011 -

in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

258

40.

RERETNEMTA

TREE
RSN

Financial assets
At amortised cost

(including cash and bank balance)
At FVTOCI

(BRAS RRITER)
BARBEFAREMEEKA

ERaE
RSN

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost

At At

30 June 30 June
2025 2024
R-ZB_HF ZE-mF
~NA=1+H ~NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
218,314 170,035
5,000 2,650
223,314 172,685
420,854 351,259

The Group’s major financial instruments include account
receivables, other receivables, restricted bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, FVTOCI, account payables, other
payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
promissory notes and convertible bonds. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and other
price risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

AEENTIESCHITABERKER  Et/E
WK ZRBI|ITER ReRRSEEY -
BARBEFARMEZERA  EBMNER A
RN A ERITREMBER AELFER
AMEES  ZELRIANFBERA VK
BRNBEM TP RE - BZES R T AAME
MEREET SRR (FXER)  EERR -
nBETRERREMBERRR BB ARE
ZERBOBEEEIN AT EEEFEERER
ZERR - URRER B EREEHE -
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41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, account receivables, contract
assets, carbon-credit assets, restricted bank deposits,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, account
payables, other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the director
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments.
The finance department reports directly to the director
and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the directors of the Company. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the audit committee
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

41.

EMTAZAREBERAIAEBEER

EREEHGHRERRSEEY  BUENR -
BREE WMEREE XRHRTER B
NRIE - R REMEYRR - BARR - Ei
ERFEERER BEREUARFERITR
HpERZANEEREAREERE  TEE
MR%ETAREHAREIRE -

AEBRHEFFENYHHEAETSRMTA
ARBEFERENRERF VBIEEANES
REZZEERS -RNEREAHY  UBKHD
e TAEEEPIEFHERRANEIE
BABE - HEAARAESERMNRAE -
EREIERHEZZESEFIRMAAL
THRRFEEMBERSE

TRMEERABENAANBEFARBBESTHE
B CAHBFHERIN) PRI RM]ZT
HENEH -
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41.

42.

260

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the liability portion of convertible bonds
and promissory notes have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result
of the Group’s own non-performance risk for convertible
bonds and promissory notes as at 30 June 2025 and 2024
was assessed to be insignificant.

For the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCI, the
Group uses fair value measured based on valuation
techniques for directly checking the market price in active
market for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments. As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s
financial asset at FVTOCI was measured at fair value and
determined as level 1 (2024: level 1) financial instruments.

For the fair value of the carbon-credit assets, the Group
uses fair value measured based on valuation techniques
for directly checking comparable projects carbon credit on
the market for determining and disclosing the fair value
of financial instruments. As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s
carbon-credit assets were measured at fair value and
determined as level 3 (2024: level 3) financial instruments.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 30 June 2025 and 2024.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include
account receivables, carbon-credit assets, restricted bank
deposits, deposits and other receivables, account and
other payables, cash and cash equivalents, FVTOCI, lease
liabilities, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
promissory notes and convertible bonds. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

41.

42.

EMITAZAREBERAIAEBEER

(4E)
\ =)

AT RBEGRHRIAEENTERBR :

AR EFEESI RELERZAABEDR
BEBEUGR  EERREKFSERMNTAE
BRIA] AR XA RKIAESREMTE -
AEBR-_ZE-_RAFA_ZT_NFA=+H
M RBREFMARBRBEEEETEARKRE
BHAREBEESHTATERKX -

HRBRARBEAAEGCEZEARANESREE
MAREE AEBERBERGERTGED
ARBE UEEREEERTSNTISER -
RmMETRFEESRITAENAAEAE KT
“HEXRNA=ZTH ARERAAR(EEFAR
2B AN BMEETIRAEEELE
EREF-HR(CE-_MF - F-R)LWMIA-

HRMEREENAABE  AEERAER
BEEREMS LJELEIARREANGER
MAENAABERELEESR ITANAR
BE-R_T-RFXNA=+H AEEHRE
REENAABEFEIRERE =R (=F
“HFCF=R)EMTA -

RZE_RAFER-T-_MEA=1+0H K&
BT EAAABEFENTAEHEE -

MEEEEEBRERBE

AEENTESHTABRBEBRER RER
BE XRHRTEFR ZE REMBEK -
ENEREEMENR BREMREEEY -
BARBEFAEGEZEKA HEEE &
BIRTREMER  RABERAIRRES -
ZETMTANFBREE M HRERAEEMN
AR -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

The Group’s ordinary activities expose it to various financial
risks, including foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The risks associated with financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are described
below. Management monitors closely the Group's
exposures to financial risks to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk means the risk on the fluctuation
of fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments
which arose from changes in exchange rates.

The Group’s civil engineering and construction business is
located in Hong Kong and is transacted and settled in HK$
while the Group’s Automotive Engines CGU is located in
PRC and is transacted and settled in RMB. Accordingly, the
directors considered that the Group’s foreign currency risk
is insignificant.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, account receivables and contract assets.
The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure at the end
of the reporting period in the event of other parties
failing to perform their obligations is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

For the maximum exposure as at 30 June 2025,
management monitored the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis.
The Group’'s account receivables from contract work
represent interim payments or retentions certified by
the customers under terms as stipulated in the contracts
and the Group did not hold any collateral over these
receivables. As the Group’s customers in respect of contract
work primarily consist of government departments and
developers or owners with strong financial backgrounds,
management considers that the risk of irrecoverable
receivables from contract work was not significant.

42,

MEEREEEBERBEER®)

AEEHEREEBBETHEZEMEER -
BRENERR FERRERBDESRR -F
B B T R ey b K an ] R 5% R IR M BUR
BT XA - IR B ) B 5 AN 5 B P T B
MR SRR - ARELR BB B RO SREVE E 5 16 ©

S R B
SNERBEREXSESHMEEINESBMTARR
BEIARARESRENKDER -

AEENEIATRMZEEBUNTEILAE
TRGMEE  MAKRERNTEEPHHASE
FEMMRPELAARBELZSMEE - Ht -
EERARAEEEEBENINERRETERK

EERR
AEENEERRIZRERITER  BYREE
RRAKNEE - WEHMBRS T RERITH
% ARERGZEHRAENSESEERR
HEREZREEERAMBIMRRP I
fRmE-

PR -_T_RFANA=ZTHEHNRARR &2
BEeRBT R s BB ANGEEELENRE
A AEENGHTREVIEFTERESON
AIRGER MO RN RIEELPRENRE
IR - M AS BB BB B
Ao ARAEENANIREREFPIERRM
MPANARMOERNRERREE  EEER
A TR E A 4 T2 FE YR A B A K
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

At 30 June 2025, the Group had concentrations of credit
risk as 16% (2024: 36%) of the total account receivables
were due from the Group's largest external customer and
98% (2024: 91%) of the total account receivables were
due from the Group’s five largest external customers.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 30 June 2025 and 2024.

The amount presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and contract assets.

42,

BEEBREEEERBE®)

EERE(E)

RZE-_RFENA=1TH XAEEFEEEFER
BERNEN  BREREEPINI6% (ZF
ZPOEF 36%) KEAEERNSAINEES - M
JEUBR FRAEEER N 98% (T — P04 : 91%) Bl
REREBEHFAINBES ©

B K B B 0 F R BB ER
TRINSFERAEBEEFEERRNEEL =M
BRAEERR (EENBABEER BKE
BIEETEBZK AR TIENBR TAIEREE
HERUERZE-_AF R _FT_MF A
= t+AMNERNEERSLE -

2INCBERERMEERANEERTAE -

As at 30 June 2025 R=-B-HFEA~A=1+H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
FERE 2HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F1BER 2R E3RE i:K(473
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TER TET TERT
Contract assets* BHEE 70,228 70,228
Account receivables* JfE Ui B 30 38,889 38,889
Financial assets included in HFAEE KA EYR

deposits and other receivables B & Al B E

- Normal -IF% 58,771 58,771
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReZE

— Not yet past due — MRS 102,108 102,108

160,879

109,117 269,996
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. BB EMEBEEERERE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERK (8)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BABEBMERORE (&)
As at 30 June 2024 RZZT_MFARA=1+H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{EAEH
EEBR 2 HRBEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
E 1M FUREK F3BR BE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR T TEL TR

Contract assets* AREE - - - 72,117 72,117
Account receivables* JEUL R 3 - - - 22,071 22,071
Financial assets included in FALRS KA M ERK

deposits and other receivables  H1& BB E

— Normal ~-I% 9,962 - - - 9,962
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY
— Not yet past due —WAREH 138,125 - - - 138,125
148,087 - - 94,188 242,275
* For contract assets and account receivables to which the Group * LA EEAEORF EANEERBUIRF MR E
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based MmE BRDERGATBEREMF2I R2EEZ
on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 21 and 22 to the B -

consolidated financial statements.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s EAEBEERERFEENEERRMNE —
exposure to credit risk arising from account receivables S FEHIEN G A EREMED2HHE -
are disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. BiEMREEEEZERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk REE £ E

The Group’s policy is to monitor regularly the current and REBOBEASETRERRBRERRTDES
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains BE UBREAFEHReHEIKEEE
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines CRIMBNACRMEARAE MR EE
of funding from major financial institutions to meet its HARERHORBERT R N AEEER
liquidity requirements in the short and long term. In HIRITEE - LMEESZA -

addition, banking facilities have been put in place for
contingency purposes.

The following tables details the remaining contractual TRFANFEEN @ RMAEN RS AROTH
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the EREH - ADRBEHNARUBRESRE (B
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual BAB KR EGFTENF B - i B FEF
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments % R ERAROFEFENFENAT) &
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on REBEAEABENKTBHED

rates as at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date that the Group could be required to repay:

Weighted
average Within
effective 1 year Between Between Total
interest oron 1and2 2and5 Over undiscounted
rate demand years years Syears  cash flows Total
nE¥s  -Fag RER
ERFl: ZEZXEE -2-f CZZERIE  RBIE RERELE @t
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
TR TET TiER TEn TER TER

30 June 2025 CECRERASTH
Account payables ERER NATER 55,767 55,767 55,767
Financial liabllities included 5 AEfto B3 2

in other payables 2RER NAREA 147,448 147,895 147,895
Interest-bearing bank and ~ EFEHR1TREMER

other borrowings 76,417 - 111,434 108,093
Convertible bonds MaRES 93,000 - 93,000 93,000
Promissory note RHER : 5,441 16,099 24,760 16,099

378,073 16,099 432,856 420,854

Lease liabilities HEaE 6,286 9,289 9,063
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

42. BIHEREEEEREE®)

REBESERE(E)

Weighted
average Within
effective 1 year Between Between Total
interest oron Tand2 2and5 undiscounted
rate demand years years  Over 5years  cash flows Total
—ERN AER
Mgy BEEX BenE
ERAIE B —E-f CZE20F BERE &% o
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThER TR TR TR TR
30 June 2024 ZERCRERAZTH
Account payables FERER NATE R 54,683 - - - 54,683 54,683
Finandial liabilities included M AE AL B2
in other payables PRAE NIAR & 130,135 - 3,031 - 133,166 133,166
Interest-bearing bank and =t BT REMEH
other borrowings 9% 68,431 7,430 - - 75,911 69,616
Convertible bonds MHRRES 30% 93,000 - - - 93,000 77,695
Promissory note EEEE Note fif % 4,636 805 2,415 16,099 23,955 16,099
350,935 8,235 5,446 16,099 380,715 351,259
Lease liabilities HERE 7.02% 6,759 4,045 3314 - 14,118 12,383
Note: The promissory notes are perpetual therefore only 5 years MisE: RARAERBEKELE AtgnsEeRBRmE

undiscounted cash flows are presented for liquidity risk purpose.
The details of the terms of the promissory note are set out in note

29 to the consolidated financial statements.

As explained in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial
statement, the directors of the Company have adopted
or plan to adopt certain measures in order to improve the
Group’s financial and cash flow positions and to maintain

the Group’s as a going concern.

RAMIBWMAME29

BRI AFRUBRENE - ALZBIEKFBER

MR A M B MRME3 2 - ARRESR
EREREG BIREE THE  UREAREEDN
MBERERERN  UREBARERELE -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. BMEREMEEBERER (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management EEEE
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management REBEREERRNTEZBEABREEE
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue BERELE  RREBE(CERRERERE
as a going concern while maximising the return to Kz AR & B W a AL o
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RRAREFTHRTERERE - (ER L IERE
on a periodical basis. As part of this review, the directors TIER—H 5 §$%Jﬁ§%ﬁk$&iﬁi%*ﬁé
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with AR AR - RS R BT RTAR D DA R I
each class of capital and will balance the Group’s overall BERHERRFEBRTERNEENEEER
capital structure through new share issues as well as raising % o
new debts or repayment of existing debts.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which AEBEREAEABLEXERERN MEESR
is net cash and bank balances divided by the total capital. BELEERDRE S RIBITERFERAERE %E
Net debts are calculated as the total of interest-bearing HE-EBKER E'J?Tzﬁ' g fETT&EﬂMa ;o
bank and other borrowings, liability component of the BmREFAED &7¥<Rmﬁﬁﬁ’lﬁv@\%ﬁx)ﬁiﬁﬁ&
convertible bonds and promissory notes less cash and cash ReEEWS %-” °
equivalents.
Total capital refers to total equity (as shown in the financial BARBEEEELE (WU BRRAER B85
position, including non-controlling interests). The gearing FERER) RZEBE_RAFERZF_MER
ratio as at 30 June 2025 and 2024 was as follows: R=+RMEESBLENT
At At
30 June 30 June
2025 2024
R-ZZB-AF ks
~NA=1+H ~A=+H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Interest-bearing bank and ST RRITREMBERK
other borrowings 108,093 69,616
Liability component of the AMREFEETS
convertible bonds 93,000 77,695
Promissory note O B 16,099 16,099
Less: Cash and cash equivalents IR NIREEEY (102,108) (138,125)
Net debts BEFR 115,084 25,285
Equity/(deficit in equity) W, (Al 18,592 (1,398)
Gearing ratio (%) BERBBELEE (%) 619% N/A 738 F
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43. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme”) for all qualified employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at a rate of 5% specified in
the rules, but subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month.
The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their basic payroll to
the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes. No forfeited contribution is available
to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the total contribution
to the defined contribution schemes charged to profit or
loss amounted to HK$2,391,000 (period from 1 January
2023 to 30 June 2024: HK$4,142,000).

During the year ended 30 June 2025 and the period from
1 January 2023 to 30 June 2024, the Group did not have
any defined benefit plan.

43,

3R K18 R 5T &

AEERBEREERBESHEGHSBERA
EEREERUBHMABSHE ((BREEF
Bl REESIMNEERAEENEENF
HBYXAAEGNESRE - REBEDF
R BEEREEESABRRAREN
5%t R Akt EE L S AR ER
B1500BTT - AEEBRES A BNE -]
ERRBZEMERREROMNK - BLERT AR
D R R A R AR MR AR

ErBEERANER STBEBMEFNBERERE
BRABHGENKE - PEMEARAREE
ATEWET A DL RRKERGEHTAS
BAMRHEES - AEE R KR TGS 80 M —
BEERBREFSMIELRENHK - BEATAR
DR R A R R MR AR

RIZE-_RAFEANA=Z1THILEE st ABEH
ERBEIGTEMERA% 52,391,000 7T (B
—E - =F—-A—HEZER-_ZT-_WNFA=1
B 1-EAR - 4,142,000 7T) -

R-ZE-_RAFNAZ+THIEFERA-ZT =

F—A—HEE-_Z_MFA=+HILHE
AEEIW EAFEEBFGE -
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RD B BRI R

BRAARBRBEF PRZUBHRREK 2 E

At

30 June

2025
R=Z=RF
~B=1+H
HK$'000
FET

10

5,000

5,010

72,288

100
35

72,423

74,687
30,795

7,500
93,000

205,982

(133,559)

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 44,

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of

the Company at the end of the reporting year/period is as BT

follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE

Investment in subsidiaries WERRIEE

Financial assets at FVTOCI BAREBETAHEM

ZEUANESEEE

Total non-current assets IETEEELLE

CURRENT ASSETS REEE

Due from subsidiaries FE U B B A R FIAE

Prepayments, deposits and other BRI - Re Rk
receivables H b U R

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEY

Total current assets mEEELE

CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE

Due to a subsidiary AN L N EPNCIE S

Other payables and accruals HEMENZRRBERER

Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEEMER

Convertible bonds AR ES

Total current liabilities mEBEER

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFE

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELERRBAS

268

LIABILITIES

(128,549)

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited / Annual Report 2025

At

30 June

2024
RZFEZEF
~NA=+H
HK$'000
FHET

95,349
27,116

7,500
77,695

207,660

(127,462)

(124,802)
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44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

44. RRDBPMBRR R (8

At

30 June
2025
R-ZE—R%F
~NAZ=+H
HK$'000
FET

16,099
p

16,101

(144,650)

6,430
(151,080)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Promissory note HH R
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIE B (E
Total non-current liabilities IERE B ELEE
Net liabilities EEFE
EQUITY R

Share capital N

Reserves (note) B (BsE)
Deficit in equity EREM

(144,650)

Zhong Guoxing
25 A
Chairman

FRE

Di Ling
iifd
Executive Director

HITEE

At

30 June

2024
RZTZHEF
~NA=+H
HK$'000
FAT

16,099

16,101

(140,903)

5,358
(146,261)

(140,903)
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44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

270

THE COMPANY (continued)

44, 7N T B ISR R AR ()

Note: MEE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KRBz FEREMT
Fair value
Equity reserve of
component of Share financial
Share Capital ~ convertible option assetat  Accumulated
premium reserve bonds reserve FvTodi loss Total
BRAAEEFA
Ef2EHA
TREES 2 ZEHEEL
RiyEE ERfik Ea¥h  BRERGE OQAEERE it EE @it
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tt Tt Thr Tt TEn T
At 1 July 2024 RZFZBELA-A 512,325 2,161 327,908 39,908 (11,800) (1,185,724) (255,222)
Total comprehensive expense ERRERRES
for the year - - - - (5,550) (74,076) (79,626)
Issue of new shares AR 14,940 - - - - - 14,940
Issue of shares upon conversion of ERTARBERENRR
convertible bonds 376,224 - (236,330) - - - 139,894
Placing 43 3,753 - - - - - 33,753
Transfer of share option reserve RERELNEEY
upon the lapse of share options BRERR - - - (21,700 - 21,700 -
At30 June 2024 RZE-mERRZTR 997,42 2,161 91,578 18,208 (173500 (1,238,100) (146,261)

At30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Subscription of Shares

Transfer of share option reserve
upon the lapse of share options

Equity-settled share option arrangements

RZZFZMERA=TER
“E-MELE-R
ERRERTAE

RERH

REREATEES
BRERS

WREEENRRER Y

At 30 June 2025

R-B-RERAZTH
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997,242

22,504

1,019,746

91,578

18,208 (17,350)

2,350

(13,407)
1,028

5,829 (15,000

(1,238,100)

(30,701)

(1,255,394)

(146,261)

(28351)
2,504

1,028

(151,080)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZ=F=AFNA=1HIFFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company is Quick Tycoon Limited and the ultimate holding
company is China Eco Investment Limited, which were
incorporated in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands
respectively.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
registration and Form of business issued ordinary
Company Name business structure share capital
AL/ REGET:E
L2 BRRERNE EBERE RAdEE
China Carbon Green Development PRC (Mainland Ching) Limited fiabiity company RMB10,000,000
(Shenzhen) Co*
TREERE (R ERAR R (REAH) ARAT AR 10000,0007C
China Carbon Green (Nanjing) Technology ~ PRC (Mainland China) Liited liabilty company RIB10,000,000
Development Co,, Ltd.*
PREE MR HRERERAT R (RER) ARAT ARH10,0000007C
China Carbon Green Credit Technology PRC (Mainland Ching) Limited fiabiity company RIIBS,555,500
(Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd*
PREEHR(RI)ERAF hE (hEm) BRAT NRH5,555,5007
Henan Zailiang New Enerqy Renewable PRC (Mainland Ching) Limited liability company RMB10,000,000
(o, Ltd*
TEBRRERELARLR B (B BRAT ARH10,0000007C
Excel Engineering Company Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$23,288,000
[ETRARAA &k ARAT BUBU0ET
(Green Carbon Asset Management Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited fiabiity company HK$10,000
(formerly known as China Carbon
Neutral Group Limited)
BEREEERERLA & BRAT 1000037
(WEa AR AEEERLT)
Zhan Xiang Investment Limited Hong Kong Limited fiabifty company HK$10,000
RAREERAT £ BRAT 1000037
Global Carbon Asset Investment Cayman slands Limited liability company Usp1
Management, Ltd.
ARREEREERARAA FEEE BRAF £
* Registered as a limited liability company under the PRC law.
# The English name of this company represents the best effort made

by the management of the Company to directly translate its Chinese
name as no official English name has been registered.

45,

At

30 June
2005

R
ZECEE
ABZTA

RARNEEWBLARER

BERAE HEEEBRARASKSAERAR M
B RIS A &) A China Eco Investment Limited °

DRIRNERRRBEBRAESEMKL -

FENBLARER
ARBEIEZMBARFBENOT

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company Principal activities
ANREREEAM TEEH
Direct Indirect
E& B&
At At At
30June 30 June 30 June
204 2025 2024
-3 ot Juk it 3 k13

~A=TH AAZTA ~AZTH

100% 100%  Global Carbon Neutral Busingss

ERBANES

60%  Global Carbon Neutral Business

SRR

73%  Global Carbon Neutral Business

SRR

60%  Battery cascading
tilzation business
SHRRARER
100%  Civil engineering works and
bulding construction and
maintenance works
TATRHRETRER
BEIR

100% ~ Global Carbon Neutral Business
EBUGLES
100%  Investment holding

100%  Global Carbon Neutral Business

RRENER

* REPEDERZEMABRAF -

* R EMERXE B SRR ZEXRET
HARREEERRABNEZEEDXAEHE -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

T FEBBEBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities AS£BEREXAMMREE HHZEZEULREE BER
and total equity of the Group for the last five financial #E@#REME (FHixEAEEE EGFEEMB®REK) HIINAT -
years/periods as extracted from the Group’s published

consolidated financial statements, is set out below.

RESULTS E4
Year ended Period ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
30 June 30 June 31 December 31 December 31 December
2025 2024 2022 2021 2020
ppae BN HECTONF BE-T--F HECT--F HECZCORR
~A=1H ~AZ+E +tZA=+-B +zZA=+-B +zZA=t+-H
ILEE 12155 LFE ItFE IHFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TAx TET TET TET
Revenue BA 579,400 959,084 709,306 468,007 478,321
(Loss)/profit before tax BEA (B8) /& F (1,146) (136,173) (204,316) 273,639 302,144
Income tax (expenses)/credit FER (Ax) /&N (9,136) (1,165) 5,278 (6,075) (115)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period & /Ei (B18) /&7 (10,282) (137,338) (199,038) 267,564 302,029
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY EE BERkEREE
30 June 30 June 31 December 31 December 31 December
2025 2024 2022 2021 2020
—ECRE —E-ME —E-CF —E--F —Z-FF
~A=1H ~AZ+E +tZA=+-B +ZA=+-B +zZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FAR TAT TET TET
Total assets BER 459,644 364,256 314,538 484,817 255,821
Total liabilities et (441,052) (365,654) (364,307) (397,756) (934,750)

Total equity/(deficit in equity) ERa ey 18,592 (1,398) (49,769) 87,061 (678,929)
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